Notice of Meeting

Southern Area
Planning Committee
Date:

Tuesday 8 December 2020

Time:

5.30 pm

Venue:

Being held virtually by Microsoft Teams. The public can listen to a
live stream here:
http://www.audiominutes.com/p/player/player.html?userid=tvbc

For further information or enquiries please contact:
Caroline Lovelock - 01264 368014
clovelock@testvalley.gov.uk

Legal and Democratic Service
Test Valley Borough Council,
Beech Hurst, Weyhill Road,
Andover, Hampshire,
SP10 3AJ
www.testvalley.gov.uk

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION SCHEME
If members of the public wish to address the meeting they should notify the
Legal and Democratic Service at the Council's Beech Hurst office by noon
on the working day before the meeting.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Membership of Southern Area Planning Committee
MEMBER

WARD

Councillor M Cooper (Chairman)

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor M Hatley (Vice-Chairman)

Ampfield & Braishfield

Councillor G Bailey

Blackwater

Councillor P Bundy

Chilworth, Nursling & Rownhams

Councillor J Burnage

Romsey Cupernham

Councillor A Dowden

Valley Park

Councillor C Dowden

North Baddesley

Councillor N Gwynne

Romsey Cupernham

Councillor A Johnston

Mid Test

Councillor J Parker

Romsey Tadburn

Councillor C Thom

Valley Park

Councillor A Ward

Mid Test

Councillor A Warnes

North Baddesley

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Southern Area Planning Committee
Tuesday 8 December 2020
AGENDA
The order of these items may change as a result of members
of the public wishing to speak

1

Apologies

2

Public Participation

3

Declarations of Interest

4

Urgent Items

5

Minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2020

6

Information Notes

5 - 10

7

19/02630/FULLS - 04.11.2019

11 - 63

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: The Old Mansion Site, Stoneham Lane, South
Eastleigh, SO50 9HS CHILWORTH
CASE OFFICER: Miss Sarah Barter
8

20/00327/FULLS - 24.02.2020

64 - 88

(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Land at Oak Tree Farm, Foxes Lane, West Wellow,
SO51 6EA WELLOW
CASE OFFICER: Mr Mark Staincliffe
9

20/02195/VARS - 15.09.2020
(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: Blue Hayes, Salisbury Road, Shootash, SO51 6GA
WELLOW
CASE OFFICER: Mr Paul Goodman

89 - 112

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

10

20/02518/FULLS - 23.10.2020
(OFFICER RECOMMENDATION: PERMISSION)
SITE: 1 Warwick Close, Chandlers Ford, SO53 4PH
VALLEY PARK
CASE OFFICER: Ms Katie Andrews

113 - 125

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ITEM 6

TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL
SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE
INFORMATION NOTES

Availability of Background Papers
Background papers may be inspected up to five working days before the date of the
Committee meeting and for four years thereafter. Requests to inspect the
background papers, most of which will be on the application file, should be made to
the case officer named in the report or to the Development Manager. Although there
is no legal provision for inspection of the application file before the report is placed
on the agenda for the meeting, an earlier inspection may be agreed on application to
the Head of Planning and Building.
Reasons for Committee Consideration
The majority of applications are determined by the Head of Planning and Building in
accordance with the Council’s Scheme of Delegation which is set out in the Council’s
Constitution. However, some applications are determined at the Area Planning
Committees and this will happen if any of the following reasons apply:
(a) Applications which are contrary to the provisions of an approved or draft
development plan or other statement of approved planning policy where
adverse representations have been received and which is recommended
for approval.
(b) Applications (excluding notifications) where a Member requests in writing,
with reasons and within the Application Publicity Expiry Date, that they be
submitted to Committee. A Member can withdraw this request at any time
prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination under
delegated powers.
(c) Applications submitted by or on behalf of the Council, or any company in
which the Council holds an interest, for its own developments except for the
approval of minor developments.
(d) Applications where the Head of Planning and Building Services recommends
refusal of an application solely on the basis of failure to achieve nutrient
neutrality where a Ward Member requests in writing, with reasons, within 72
hours of notification of the recommendation for refusal that they be submitted
to Committee for determination. A Member can withdraw this request at any
time prior to the determination of the application to enable its determination
under delegated powers.
(e) To determine applications (excluding applications for advertisement consent,
certificates of lawfulness, listed building consent, and applications resulting
from the withdrawal by condition of domestic permitted development rights;

Page 5

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Schedule 2, Part 1, Classes B, C, D, E, F, G, and H of the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 or as
amended) on which a material planning objection(s) has been received within
the Application Publicity Expiry Date and which cannot be resolved by
negotiation or through the imposition of conditions and where the officer’s
recommendation is for approval, following consultation with the Ward
Members, the latter having the right to request that the application be
reported to Committee for decision.
Public Speaking at the Meeting
The Council has a public participation scheme, which invites members of the public,
Parish Council representatives and applicants to address the Committee on
applications. Full details of the scheme are available from Planning and Building
Services or from Democratic Services at the Council Offices, Beech Hurst, Weyhill
Road, Andover. Copies are usually sent to all those who have made
representations. Anyone wishing to speak must book with the Democratic Services
within the stipulated time period otherwise they will not be allowed to address the
Committee.
Speakers are limited to a total of three minutes per item for Councillors on the Area
Committee who have personal interests or where a Member has pre-determined
his/her position on the relevant application, three minutes for the Parish Council,
three minutes for all objectors, three minutes for all supporters and three minutes for
the applicant/agent and relevant Ward Members who are not Committee Members
will have a maximum of five minutes. Where there are multiple supporters or
multiple objectors wishing to speak the Chairman may limit individual speakers to
less than three minutes with a view to accommodating multiple speakers within the
three minute time limit. Speakers may be asked questions by the Members of the
Committee, but are not permitted to ask questions of others or to join in the debate.
Speakers are not permitted to circulate or display plans, photographs, illustrations or
textual material during the Committee meeting as any such material should be sent
to the Members and officers in advance of the meeting to allow them time to
consider the content.
Content of Officer’s Report
It should be noted that the Officer’s report will endeavour to include a summary of the
relevant site characteristics, site history, policy issues, consultations carried out with
both internal and external consultees and the public and then seek to make a
professional judgement as to whether permission should be granted. However, the
officer’s report will usually summarise many of the issues, particularly consultations
received from consultees and the public, and anyone wishing to see the full
response must ask to consult the application file.

Page 6

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Status of Officer’s Recommendations and Committee’s Decisions
The recommendations contained in this report are made by the officers at the time
the report was prepared. A different recommendation may be made at the meeting
should circumstances change and the officer’s recommendations may not be
accepted by the Committee.
In order to facilitate debate in relation to an application, the Chairman will move the
officer’s recommendations in the report, which will be seconded by the Vice
Chairman. Motions are debated by the Committee in accordance with the Council’s
Rules of Procedure. A binding decision is made only when the Committee has
formally considered and voted in favour of a motion in relation to the application and,
pursuant to that resolution, the decision notice has subsequently been issued by the
Council.
Conditions and Reasons for Refusal
Suggested reasons for refusal and any conditions are set out in full in the officer’s
recommendation.
Officers or the Committee may add further reasons for refusal or conditions during
the Committee meeting and Members may choose to refuse an application
recommended for permission by the Officers or to permit an application
recommended for refusal. In all cases, clear reasons will be given, by whoever is
promoting the new condition or reason for refusal, to explain why the change is being
made.
Decisions subject to Completion of a Planning Obligation
For some applications, a resolution is passed to grant planning permission subject to
the completion of an appropriate planning obligation (often referred to as a Section
106 agreement). The obligation can restrict development or the use of the land,
require operations or activities to be carried out, require the land to be used in a
specified way or require payments to be made to the authority.
New developments will usually be required to contribute towards the infrastructure
required to serve a site and to cater for additional demand created by any new
development and its future occupants. Typically, such requirements include
contributions to community facilities, village halls, parks and play areas, playing
fields and improvements to roads, footpaths, cycleways and public transport.
Upon completion of the obligation, the Head of Planning and Building is delegated to
grant permission subject to the listed conditions. However, it should be noted that
the obligation usually has to be completed sufficiently in advance of the planning
application determination date to allow the application to be issued. If this does not
happen, the application may be refused for not resolving the issues required within
the timescale set to deal with the application.

Page 7

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Deferred Applications
Applications may not be decided at the meeting for a number of reasons as follows:
*

The applicant may choose to withdraw the application. No further action
would be taken on that proposal and the file is closed.

*

Officers may recommend deferral because the information requested or
amended plans have not been approved or there is insufficient time for
consultation on amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to seek additional information or amendments.

*

The Committee may resolve to visit the site to assess the effect of the
proposal on matters that are not clear from the plans or from the report.
These site visits are not public meetings.

Visual Display of Plans and Photographs
Plans are included in the officers’ reports in order to identify the site and its
surroundings. The location plan will normally be the most up-to-date available from
Ordnance Survey and to scale. The other plans are not a complete copy of the
application plans and may not be to scale, particularly when they have been reduced
from large size paper plans. If further information is needed or these plans are
unclear please refer to the submitted application on the Council’s website. Plans
displayed at the meeting to assist the Members may include material additional to
the written reports.
Photographs are used to illustrate particular points on most of the items and the
officers usually take these. Photographs submitted in advance by applicants or
objectors may be used at the discretion of the officers.
Human Rights
The European Convention on Human Rights” (“ECHR”) was brought into English
Law, via the Human Rights Act 1998 (“HRA”), as from October 2000.
The HRA introduces an obligation on the Council to act consistently with the ECHR.
There are 2 Convention Rights likely to be most relevant to Planning Decisions:
*

Article 1 of the 1st Protocol - The Right to the Enjoyment of Property.

*

Article 8 - Right for Respect for Home, Privacy and Family Life.

It is important to note that these types of right are not unlimited - although in
accordance with the EU concept of “proportionality”, any interference with these
rights must be sanctioned by Law (e.g. by the Town & Country Planning Acts) and
must go no further than necessary.

Page 8

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Essentially, private interests must be weighed against the wider public interest and
against competing private interests. Such a balancing exercise is already implicit in
the decision making processes of the Committee. However, Members must
specifically bear Human Rights issues in mind when reaching decisions on all
planning applications and enforcement action.
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006 (NERC)
The Council has a duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act
2006 as follows: "every public authority must, in exercising its functions, have regard,
so far as is consistent with the proper exercise of those functions, to the purpose of
conserving biodiversity".
It is considered that this duty has been properly addressed within the process
leading up to the formulation of the policies in the Revised Local Plan. Further
regard is had in relation to specific planning applications through completion of the
biodiversity checklists for validation, scoping and/or submission of Environmental
Statements and any statutory consultations with relevant conservation bodies on
biodiversity aspects of the proposals. Provided any recommendations arising from
these processes are conditioned as part of any grant of planning permission (or
included in reasons for refusal of any planning application) then the duty to ensure
that biodiversity interest has been conserved, as far as practically possible, will be
considered to have been met.
Other Legislation
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
determination of applications be made in accordance with the Development Plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The Development Plan for the
Borough comprises the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016), and ‘made’
Neighbourhood Plans. Material considerations are defined by Case Law and
includes, amongst other things, draft Development Plan Documents (DPD),
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) and other relevant guidance including
Development Briefs, Government advice, amenity considerations, crime and
community safety, traffic generation and safety.
On the 19th February 2019 the Government published a revised National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). The revised NPPF replaced and superseded the previous
NPPF published in 2018. The revised NPPF is a material consideration in planning
decisions.
So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the
revised NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. Decisions
should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This does not
change the statutory status of the development plan as a starting point for decision
making. Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. Where a planning application conflicts with an up to date
development plan, permission should not usually be granted. Local planning
authorities may take decisions which depart from an up to date development plan,

Page 9

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

but only if material considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should
not be followed.
For decision-taking, applying the presumption in favour of sustainable development
means:



Approving development proposals that accord with an up to date development
plan without delay; or
Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which
are most important for determining the application are out of date, granting
permission unless:
o The application of policies in the revised NPPF that protect areas or assets
of particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the
development proposed; or
o Any adverse impact of doing so would significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the revised
NPPF when taken as a whole.

Existing Local Plan policies should not be considered out of date because they were
adopted prior to the publication of the revised NPPF. Due weight should be given to
them, according to their degree of consistency with the revised NPPF (the closer the
policies in the Local Plan to the policies in the revised NPPF, the greater the weight
that may be given).

Page 10

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ITEM 7
APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

19/02630/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
04.11.2019
Highwood Homes
The Old Mansion Site, Stoneham Lane, South
Eastleigh, SO50 9HS, CHILWORTH
Erection of 63 dwellings, including provision of 12no.
Affordable apartments and garages/car ports, bin
stores, and other ancillary buildings, with associated
landscaping and open space, following demolition of
existing dwelling and other structures.
Received 18th November 2020
Nitrogen Strategy
Revised Boundary Treatment Plan DD241L04 H
Tree pit details DD241D01 A
Management plan
POS plan
DD241L01 C
Landscape, Woodland & Ecological Management Plan
version c
Received 12th October 2020
Amended proposal wording
Flood Risk Issue F
Landscape, Woodland & Ecological Management Plan
version B
Arboricultural Method Statement October 2020
Accommodation Schedule
Site plan roof – 19.034.100 O
Block plan ground – 19.034.101 V
LAKESIDE VIEW - BLOCK PLAN & STREET
SCENES - 19.034.240 G
OUTBUILDINGS – 19.034.279 D
Landscape Strategy Plan DD241L01 C
Tree Mitigation Plan DD241L02 B
Management Company Plan DD241L03 D
Boundary Treatment Plan DD241L04 F
Tree Planting Volume Plan DD241L05 A
Refuse Vehicle Tracking 14-159-1201 H
Fire vehicle Tracking - 14-159-1202 H
Proposed Indicative Services Routes 14-159-1204 G
Proposed Levels 14-159-1208 E
Visibility Splays 14-159-1210 E
Surface Water Drainage Layout Plan 14-159-1214 G
Foul Water Drainage Layout Plan 14-159-1215 D
Construction Make Up 14-159-1216 C
Private Vehicle Tracking 14-159-1225 F
Viability Assessment – 12th October

Page 11

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

CASE OFFICER

Received 17th April 2020
14-159-1201 F – Refuse vehicle
14-159-1202 F – Fire Vehicle
14-159-1204 E – Service Routes
14-159-1207 B – Highway Construction
14-159-1208 C – Levels
14-159-1210 C – Vis splay
14-159-1214 – E – Surface Water
14-159-1215 B – Foul Water
14-159-1216 A – Construction make up
19.034.100 L – Site layout roof
19.034.101 S – Block plan ground
19.034.200 D – Woodland view block
19.034.210 D - Courtyard block
19.034.220 F – Mansion block
19.034.230 D – The Square block
19.034.240 D – Lakeside block
19.034.275 F – Flat block 1
19.034.276 H – Flat block 1 elevation
19.034.280 C - Garaging
19.034.300 F – Indicative views
19.034.301 F – Indicative views
19.034.302 F – Indicative views
19.034.303 F – Indicative views
19.034.304 D – Indicative views
DD241L01 B – Landscape Strategy Plan
DD241L02 A Tree Mitigation plan
DD241L03 C – Management company
DD241L04 D – Boundary treatment
Arb Method Statement April 2020
Design and Access Statement April 2020
Flood Risk Assessment version D
Landscape ecological woodland management rev A
08/04/2020
14-159-1225 C - Private vehicle tracking
14-159-1226 A – Surface Water Option 2
19.034.305 B – Flats rendered elevation
19.34.SK22 C Long section
DD241D01 – Tree Pit
DD241L05 – Tree Planting volume plan
Reponses to Tree officer comments
Bat roost tree assessment Feb 2018 version 2 April
2020
Ecological Appraisal Feb 2018
Nutrient balancing assessment March 2020
WSI for archaeology April 2020
Response to Ecology Officer from WYG
Sarah Barter

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

Page 12

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
This application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee because it
is contrary to the provisions of an approved development plan or other
statements of approved planning policy, adverse third party representations
have been received and the recommendation is for approval.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site measures approximately 8.41 hectares and is located on
land forming the westernmost part of Park Farm, Stoneham. Park Farm is
situated south of the new North Stoneham Park community which is currently
under construction and which covers an area of circa 64 hectares extending
northwards. The application site is known as the ‘Old Mansion’ site and forms
the western extent of Park Farm, in a location where the former 19th Century
North Stoneham House was once situated before its demolition in 1939, but
which now comprises land associated with the curtilage of an existing
residential dwelling, grassland spaces and areas of deciduous woodland.

2.2

A number of modern storage/workshop buildings are situated close to the
house and a number of other related structures such as sheds, lorry containers
and animal pens are present. At the eastern edge of the site is a timber yard
enclosed by modern fencing. The site is accessed from the east via two gravel
tracks. The principal access is gained from the north east and via an access
road within the North Stoneham Park development which provides onward
connection to Chestnut Avenue to the north and Avenue Park, the Local
Centre and Stoneham Lane, to the east.

2.3

Woodland is located against all the site’s boundaries with specific boundary
features comprising modern fencing or in places, older hedgerows and / or
ditches. The northern part of the site lies within Kennel Copse Site of
Importance for Nature Conservation which is designated for the presence of
ancient woodland. A woodland tree preservation order is also in place at the
site. To the north of Kennel Copse the site is bound by areas for residential
development and public open space approved under ‘Stage 3’ of the North
Stoneham Park masterplan. Adjacent to the site to the west beyond a band of
mature boundary trees is Stoneham Golf Course.

2.4

Two fishing lakes – Park Pond and Shrubbery Pond ‘(Stoneham Fishing
Lakes)’, are located immediately to the south and south-east which are owned
by Eastleigh and District Angling Club who have retained access rights to their
land along the eastern gravel track within the site area. At the southern extent
of the site, partially within woodland are remnants and remains of the former
old mansion and associated terrace which at one time overlooked the ponds.
To the east is a further area of woodland containing several works buildings
beyond which is a walled garden associated with the former estate. The
Kitchen Garden Walls are Grade II Listed. Stoneham Golf Course is located
adjacent the western boundary of the application site.

Page 13

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The proposal is for the erection of 63 dwellings, including provision of 12no.
Affordable apartments and garages/car ports, bin stores, and other ancillary
buildings, with associated landscaping and open space, following demolition of
existing dwelling and other structures.

3.2

The development comprises:
Lakeside View
12 apartments (Affordable Housing)
 3 one bed
 9 two bed
The Square
5 Houses(detached and semi-detached) and 4 apartments
 5 three bed houses
 2 two bed apartments
 2 one bed apartments
Mansion Apartments
18 Apartments
 6 one bed
 12 two bed
The Courtyard
12 Houses (detached and semi-detached)
 6 three bed
 5 four bed
 1 five bed
Woodland View
8 houses (semi-detached)
 8 three bed
Associated parking is provided through driveways and garaging together with
parking areas adjacent the proposed apartment buildings and houses at The
Square and Woodland View. A village Green is proposed centrally in the site
together with a pond. Across the entire site mature trees are retained where
possible. The Mansion apartments include a waterside terrace making use of a
historic area where views of the lake were provided.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
Test Valley BC
11/00861/FULLS - Proposed removal of 2 rigid storage containers and to
relinquish the right to use part of the land for commercial storage as per
10/01597/FULLS. Replace with proposed licensed boarding cattery consisting
of a single storey building containing 24 pens, reception/office, toilet and
kitchen/store area. Permission 5th July 2011.

Page 14

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

4.2

10/01597/FULLS - Retrospective application for the erection of dwelling and
garage (to retain existing structure as a dwelling and to retain the existing
garage). Permission 28th October 2010.

4.3

09/02697/CLES - Certificate of Lawful Existing Use for use of mobile home as
permanent residence and commercial storage facility. Certificate issued 06
July 2010.

4.4

Eastleigh BC
Application of relevance: O/15/76023 – North Stoneham Park (Outline) Outline application with all matters reserved (except for access) for the
demolition of existing buildings/structures and the development of: 1) on land
south of Chestnut Avenue (North Stoneham Park) - 1100 dwellings (use class
C3); -residential care home (use class C2); - creation of a new local centre including a new primary school (2FE), children's pre-school nursery,
community building, retail, office and other buildings and car parking (use
classes A 1, A2, A3, A4, A5, B1a, D1, D2);- public open space, children's play
equipment, associated hard and soft landscaping and works; - foul and surface
water drainage measures including pumping stations; access from Chestnut
Avenue and Stoneham Lane (with new accesses/works to Chestnut Avenue
(existing), Chestnut Avenue/Nightingale Avenue, Chestnut Avenue/Stoneham
Lane, Stoneham Lane/Stoneham Way Junctions and new accesses onto
Stoneham Lane); new footway/cycleway links; 2) extension to Lakeside
Country Park on land east of Stoneham Lane, including new pedestrian links,
landscaping and associated works; 3) construction of a new cycleway/footway
along Stoneham Lane (from north/east of St Nicolas Church, southwards to the
administrative boundary with Southampton City); 4) use of land south of
Junction 5 of the M27 motorway for playing pitches and construction of
associated facilities (including changing pavilion/hub building, spectator
stands, enclosures, all-weather playing surfaces; floodlighting); with new
accesses onto Stoneham Lane; parking; new footway/cycleway; landscaping
and associated works; and 5) associated engineering operations; on and offsite supporting infrastructure necessary to facilitate development of the site.
This application was subject to an Environmental Impact Assessment.
Permission - 8th January 2016.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Policy – Comment:
The application site forms part of the site allocated for approximately 50
dwellings through policy COM5 (also see Map D and Inset Map 6). The
proposal should be assessed against all the criteria within this policy and the
associated supporting text.

5.2

Housing – No Objection (Following receipt of amended information October
2020):
Support this application, to enable the delivery of 12 x Affordable Rented flats
on site.

Page 15

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

5.3

Trees – No Objection subject to conditions (Following receipt of amended
information October 2020):
Comment and conditions (Following receipt of amended information – April
2020):
I am satisfied that the adjustments made, now presented in the amended plan
set, address the points of concern expressed in my previous consultation
response.

5.4

Landscape – Comment (Following receipt of amended information – October
2020):
This area of the site is segregated from the main Mansion site development
and whilst it is recognised that it is not in keeping with that of the proposed
development, it is acknowledged that it does reflect that of the new
neighbouring Stoneham Park development.
No Objection subject to conditions (Following receipt of amended information
– April 2020):
Comments from previous submissions have been taken on board and the
overall plan is a significant improvement, in principle there is no landscape
objection to these proposals.

5.5

Conservation – No objection subject to condition (Following receipt of
amended information – October 2020).

5.6

Archaeology – Comment:
I note that subsequent to my previous comments the applicant has submitted
a written scheme of investigation (WSI) for the proposed archaeological work.
I have reviewed that and am happy to endorse it to you as meeting the
archaeological concerns that I raised and suggested merited an
archaeological condition. Given the available historical evidence the
archaeological research agenda (what we would use archaeology for to find
out about the mansion site/anti-aircraft emplacement) is limited. The research
agenda is properly articulated in the WSI and an appropriate method by which
to recover/ record it has been set out. You may wish to consider explicit
reference to the submitted WSI within the wording of any archaeological
condition.

5.7

Highways – No Objection (Following receipt of amended information – April
2020).
Further comments on recent amendments awaited. Update will be provided.

5.8

Ecology – Comments received in respect of bats, great crested newts, reptiles
- Update will be provided.

5.9

Natural England – Response awaited. Update will be provided.

Page 16

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

5.10

Lead Local Flood Authority – No Objection (Following receipt of amended
information – October 2020).
No Objection subject to conditions (Following receipt of amended information
– April 2020).

5.11

Environment Agency – No response.

5.12

Environmental Health – Comment:
Recommend conditions for contaminated land and construction hours.

5.13

Refuse – No Objection subject to conditions

5.14

Estates and Economic development – Comment:
The application should be required to provide an employment and skills plan
either by condition or legal agreement.

5.15

Eastleigh BC – No Objection.
No objection to the proposals, which have the potential to support the wider
North Stoneham Park development and its infrastructure.

5.16

HCC Children’s Services – No Contribution required.

5.17

Health Promotion – Comments awaited.

5.18

Southern Water – Comment:
Advice on further water works and suggested condition.

5.19

Sports England – No Comment.
The proposed development does not fall within either our statutory remit
(Statutory Instrument 2015/595), or non-statutory remit (National Planning
Policy Guidance (PPG) Par. 003 Ref. ID: 37-003-20140306), therefore Sport
England has not provided a detailed response in this case.
Further comment received in respect of ball strike which has subsequently
been resolved between the Golf Club and the applicant.

5.20

Romsey and District Society – Comment:
We would record our concern about the poor transport infrastructure provided
for this major housing development in close proximity to other developments.
Stoneham Lane is already a busy rat run at peak times and this situation will
clearly be exacerbated. We would expect a comprehensive Highways report to
be produced by Hampshire County Council to “To validate the existing road
provision or identify mandatory improvements before approval is granted for
this phase of the development.

5.21

Hampshire Gardens Trust – Response awaited.

5.22

Minerals and waste – No objection subject to condition.

Page 17

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 13.11.2020
Chilworth PC – Objection
 The land is allocated for approximately 50 homes under Test Valley
Borough Council’s local plan. The land is in countryside and has
swathes of land designated as forest park, which the application
appears to respect, with one important exception.
 The proposed development includes a multi-storey apartment block on
the edge of the largest lake (called Park Lake) which appears to
disregard the forest park designation at this point and hence, is contrary
to this important classification, under policy LWH3.
 Policy COM5, the Local Plan policy governing the site, defines how the
land should be developed for the 50+ homes. It is envisaged here that
the development will be considered in conjunction with the adjacent
development at Eastleigh Borough Council’s site (App
19/02811/FULLS) where a care home is proposed. Within that
application is provision for several multi-storey blocks of apartments,
rendering this application as additional too, rather than solely supporting
the care home. Hence it would appear to be redundant.
 Suitable provision needs to be made for affordable housing in
accordance with policy COM7; this does not appear to have been
addressed either here or in the alternative application.
 The site incorporates some properties in the local “Collins” style which is
to be welcomed. However, if these are proposed to be built with the
larger-than-usual land spaces fronting them, forcing the multi-storey
block so close to the lake, then this is unacceptable. Even if there was
a mansion on the site, at that time it was in use by one family and not
part of an area accessible to the wider community. Positioning a multistorey block so close to the lake needs to take account of current land
ownership and usage, which it does not do. The Parish Council
therefore objects under Policy COM12(b), since it would be visually
intrusive in the landscape.
 The lakes are an important source of recreation for many, including a
large, local and active fishing community who purchased the local land
around the lake many years ago to preserve it for their sport. The effect
of such proposed development, with lighting and noise so close to a
tranquil lake, will have an adverse effect for the many members who fish
the lakes daily and over 24-hour periods as well the national visitors.
 The Parish Council would not wish to see any unnecessary removal of
trees, especially as a purely cosmetic benefit to the residents of the
development and would require to have assurances that measures will
be undertaken to ensure illegal access is prevented to the deep lakes
especially by children.
 Thus, the parish council objects to the current application with regard to
its contravention of local plan policies and the effect on local lakes
including the unacceptable disturbance to lakeside sports.

Page 18

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

6.2

Stoneham Golf Club – Objection received previously but subsequently
withdrawn following agreed solutions between the golf club and the applicant
around ball strike and trespassing in the area around the woodland at the
boundary with the Golf Club.

6.3

Eastleigh and District Angling Club – Objection (letter received 5th November
2020)
 Increased number of properties. Original plans for the site showed 2
buildings in this area. The increase to 12 apartments will significantly
increase traffic along a single track road to the angling club’s land.
Surface drainage from this area currently flows towards and into the
angling clubs lakes. We seek assurance that the plans would ensure
surface water was directed away from the lakes to avoid any potential
pollution issues.
 Proximity of properties to the access road to the angling club’s land.
Club members access the lakes on a 24/7 basis through a locked gate.
The new plans show properties will be built very close to the access
road and gate. We are concerned that the noise from traffic and gate
opening/closing will create issues for these properties and seek to avoid
future conflict with residents.
Eastleigh and District Angling Club – Objection (letter received 28th May 2020)
 Eastleigh and District Angling Club have objected to both the initial and
revised plans for these developments. One of our key concerns is the
safety and security of the boundary between Stoneham Lakes and the
proposed development. The lakes have deep water and steep muddy
banks that would be a danger to vulnerable people who gained access
to our property. The boundary fencing suggested by the developer
would be inadequate to prevent this trespass.
I read with interest the representations from Stoneham Golf Club and in
particular their recommendation that a 2m stock proof fence would be
the appropriate type of boundary to prevent trespass onto the golf
course. The Angling Club would be in favour of this style of fencing and
request that the developer use this fence along the entire western and
southern boundary of the development to stop trespass onto the golf
course and Stoneham Lakes.
 I am very concerned about the public safety risks of deep water close to
the proposed developments and ask for your support in making a
suitable fence a condition of the planning application being approved.
Eastleigh and District Angling Club – Objection (letter received 27th May 2020)
 Eastleigh and District Angling Club objected to the initial development
proposals dated 4th November 2019 and do not believe that the revised
proposals have addressed any of our concerns.

Page 19

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020







Mansion Apartments
The proposed 3 storey Mansion Apartments and recreational terraced
area are on the southern boundary of the development site. The
building is in an elevated position overlooking Park Pond and will
dominate this area and greatly impact on the environment, peaceful
nature of the locality and enjoyment of angling club members. The
proposed removal of the trees which block the view of the lakes will
exaggerate the impact of the building.
The light pollution from this building and from the lighting of the terraced
area is a serious issue for the club and must be addressed. Allowing
artificial light to illuminate the lake will upset the natural “night and day”
balance in the lake and surrounding area. The impact of light pollution
on aquatic life, amphibians, birds and bats has been scientifically
documented and is a concern to the angling club.
From an angling perspective, many of our club member’s fish through
the night for the large carp that are present in Park Lake. Light pollution
would impact on their enjoyment of the lakes.
Crime and community safety





We have noted that the boundary proposals between Stoneham Lakes
and the proposed development are insufficient despite our previous
objections. Stoneham lakes have deep water close to the margins,
steep banks and areas of deep mud. There is an absolute requirement
to ensure that the public (and children in particular) cannot access the
lake and thereby avoid any accidents. In addition the lakes and
surrounding land are for the enjoyment of angling club members and
their guests. We want to avoid trespass from the proposed
development and the conflict that this would cause.
A fence along the southern border of the proposed development should
be of a metal design and a minimum of 1.8m high to prevent trespass.
The responsibility for installation and upkeep of the boundary should be
with the developer/developments. The club must not be left with any
risk for public safety.
Surface water drainage





We welcome the developer’s proposals to manage surface water
drainage from the site, but are concerned that the water in the South
East corner of the development will be directed into a ditch that runs
through the angling clubs land and into Shrubbery Pond. We would like
guarantees that the drainage of surface water both during construction
and afterwards will not have any adverse impacts on Shrubbery Pond.
The Angling Club are responsible for the ongoing maintenance of the
ditch where it flows through our property. We require more detail on the
water flows predicted to run through this ditch and on the maintenance
required to allow this. Any additional costs associated with these
changes should be covered by the developer.

Page 20

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020









We note the planning conditions in Hampshire County Councils
submission regarding the Surface Water Drainage (ref SWM/2019/0838,
dated 5th May 2020) and request that Angling Clubs concerns be
addressed as part of this.
The Angling Club own Avenue Pond in the North Eastern section of the
Stoneham development. Despite assurances from the developers this
lake was subject to a number of pollution incidents during the
construction of buildings in the upstream area. We contacted the
developer on no fewer than 7 occasions to report incidents impacting
Avenue pond and must ensure this is not repeated with the proposed
development.
Eastleigh and District Angling Club have invested a large amount of
time, resource and money into developing the Stoneham Lakes site.
This clearly benefits our members, but has also resulted in an
invaluable environment for local wildlife.
The club accepts that the land to the north of its Stoneham Lakes site
will be developed and have houses built on it. Our primary objection is
to the proximity of the 3-storey building to our boundary and the impact
on our property and club members’ enjoyment of it. We ask that this is
considered and that the proposal is amended to protect the angling
clubs land and facilities – maintaining an environment that is conducive
to our members and the wildlife that visits the lakes and surrounding
land.

Eastleigh Angling and District angling Club – Objection (letter received 11th
December 2020)




Eastleigh and District Angling Club is based in Eastleigh and has over
1250 members from the South Hampshire area. The angling club
purchased the Stoneham Lakes site immediately to the south of the
proposed development in 1982 after leasing it for the previous 13 years.
There are 3 lakes on the site; Park Lake is the closest to the proposed
development site, it flows into Shrubbery Pond, which in turn flows into
Church Pond before the water exits the site along a culvert into Monks
Brook. These lakes are the club’s most popular fisheries, with up to 80
anglers fishing the lakes on any one day and accessing the site 24
hours a day, 365 days a year.
The club has managed the lakes and surrounding land throughout its 50
year tenure to protect the environment, wildlife and the fishing. We
have recently concluded a deal with Highwood to exchange
approximately 1 acre of land to the north of Stoneham Lakes for the
land which runs along the southern shore of Park Lake. This results in
us owning all of the land adjacent to the lakes so that we can manage
the fisheries effectively and protect this invaluable asset.

Page 21

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020













Eastleigh and District Angling Club had no issues with the initial
proposals to build 12 houses on the land immediately to the north of the
lakes and were pleased to see that the proposal aimed to ensure that
the houses were in keeping with the local environment and respectful of
the requirements of neighbouring land owners. We do have serious
issues with the more recent proposal (Ref 19/02630/FULLS) to increase
the number of properties to 50+ and are objecting to this on the
following grounds:
Character of the area
The application is within an area of woodland that nature has reclaimed
following the demolishing of the old mansion house over 80 years ago.
Stoneham lakes are on the southern border of this development and
have been developed and maintained in keeping with the surrounding
area. The lakes and land surrounding them are registered as Sites of
Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC) because of the environment
and diversity of wildlife. The attached map shows the proximity of the
SINCs to the proposed development.
Whilst parts of the proposed development are sympathetic to the local
character of the area, the proposal to build a 3 story building and
recreational area close to the boundary with the angling clubs land will
definitely be out of character and will impact on the environment and
enjoyment of angling club members.
Overlooking
The proposed development includes buildings and recreational areas
which are on the southern boundary overlooking Stoneham Park Pond
and the SINC. The trees which are currently in this area, are to be
removed to provide the new property with a view of Stoneham lakes.
This will provide no protection from the noise and light impacts from the
building and will be completely out of keeping with the environment of
the lakes and their surroundings.
Over development
The area in which the proposed development is to be built is within a
rural area which is surrounded by Sites of Importance for Nature
Conservation. Low scale development of the area would not impact this
if undertaken sympathetically, but at the level proposed (50+ Houses) it
will have a significant impact.
Traffic generation.
The Test Valley Local Plan for transport aims to reduce the need to
travel and manage congestion. The proposed development for 55
houses includes 149 parking spaces and 40 garages. The traffic from
this development will access the already congested Stoneham Lane
along a single road. This is in addition to the traffic generated by the
1100 houses elsewhere on the North Stoneham development and those
resulting from the proposed care home (ref 19/02811/FULLS). Clearly
the access road to the development and the surrounding roads need to
be improved to take this significantly increased volume of traffic.

Page 22

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020















In addition Park Lake has been designated a ‘High Risk Reservoir’
under Section 10 of the 1975 Reservoirs Act. As such the dam needs
to be inspected twice a year and maintenance undertaken as directed
by the Environment Agency. This may require access for large
machinery for any significant maintenance. The route of entry would be
along the road proposed for the development and must, therefore, be
suitable for such large vehicles.
Light Pollution
This is a serious issue for the club and must be addressed. Allowing
artificial light to illuminate the lake will upset the natural “night and day”
balance in a lake and surrounding which has been designated a SINC.
The impact of light pollution on aquatic life, amphibians, birds and bats
has been scientifically documented and is a concern to the angling club.
A survey on the bats frequenting Stoneham Lakes identified 5 species
in and around the lakes, with a further two possible species present –
there is a lot of evidence that bats are impacted by light pollution.
From an angling perspective, many of our club member’s fish through
the night for the large carp present in Park Lake. Light pollution would
impact on their enjoyment of the lakes.
Noise
The noise generated by 50+ plots and 300 car movements so close to
our site will be significant and would impact the enjoyment of our
members who come to Stoneham Lakes to enjoy the environment,
wildlife and low noise levels.
The proposal to cut down trees along part of the boundary between
Stoneham Lakes and the development will remove a sound buffer which
would minimise any noise pollution.
Trees
The trees which are currently on the southern boundary of the proposed
development will provide an important buffer between the buildings and
Stoneham Lakes. They will minimise any light and noise pollution,
whilst also screening the buildings from club members using the lake.
We strongly object to the proposal to remove some trees to allow a 3story building to have a view of the lake.
Crime and community safety
We have noted that the boundary proposals between Stoneham Lakes
and the proposed development are insufficient. Stoneham lakes have
deep water close to the margins, steep banks and areas of deep mud.
There is an absolute requirement to ensure that the public (and children
in particular) cannot access the lake and thereby avoid any accidents.
In addition the lakes and surrounding land are for the enjoyment of
angling club members and their guests. We want to avoid trespass
from the proposed development and the conflict that this would cause.

Page 23

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020







A fence along the southern border of the proposed development should
be of a metal design and a minimum of 1.8m high to prevent trespass.
The responsibility for installation and upkeep of the boundary should be
with the developer/developments. The club must not be left with any
risk for public safety.
Summary
Eastleigh and District Angling Club have invested a large amount of
time, resource and money into developing the Stoneham Lakes site.
This clearly benefits our members, but has also resulted in an
invaluable environment for local wildlife.
The club accepts that the land to the north of its Stoneham Lakes site
will be developed and have houses built on it. Our objection is to the
number of houses, their proximity to our boundary and their impact on
our property and club members’ enjoyment of it. We ask that this is
considered and that the proposal is amended to protect the angling
clubs land and facilities – maintaining an environment that is conducive
to our members and the wildlife that visits the lakes and surrounding
land.

6.4

The Diocese of Winchester – Comments
 Given the important and continuing contribution of St Nicholas bells and
ringers to local amenity and to social and cultural heritage of Hampshire
and the wider community we would ask please that the presence of
these bells and their regular usage is communicated to and taken into
account by any developer bringing forward detailed proposals for
developments in the area. We would also ask that caveats are placed
upon planning conditions and approvals to ensure that any development
of the area does not adversely impact upon these long established
patterns of church bell ringing.

6.5

Various addresses x 7 - Objection (No further comments received since latest
set of amendments)
Planning need
Highwood Homes are already undertaking a significant development of
hundreds of homes at North Stoneham Park on former parkland and fields.
The land being developed and awaiting development is to the north of the
application site and covers a large area. There is no planning need for this
level of development at the proposed site.
Highway Safety
The application relates to 55 dwellings with parking for 149 vehicles. The
proposal will thus increase the amount of traffic exponentially. The existing
track would simply be unworkable as a means of access to the proposed
homes. I am deeply concerned about the resultant traffic noise and pollution.
At present given the surface of the track it can only be driven at walking pace;
opposite the track are residential homes with many small children. It is
inevitable that the track would have to be widened and cars would travel much
more quickly.

Page 24

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

The track, and therefore proposed exit, is onto Highwood Avenue.
The proposal would bring a significant increase in traffic onto a junction that is
simply not suitable for such a level. I note that adjacent to the junction there is
a proposal to build a Care Home for the elderly, and within 400 yards of the
junction the same developers are building a school. Highway safety is
therefore a significant issue. The junction is very close to Stoneham Lane
which already has to be closed on home match days at Eastleigh Football Club
in order to ensure pedestrian safety.
Light and noise pollution
My home will be affected by the proposal – both with noise and pollution. I am
concerned about the light pollution that will come, particularly from traffic and
headlights shining into my home.
Whilst I know that outlook/view from a property is rarely taken into
consideration I do invite the Council to understand that the view south from my
property at night is surprisingly and refreshingly dark. There is little light
pollution.
Wildlife
The area is a quiet haven for wildlife: there are a large number of species of
bird, ducks have even moved into the swales built in front of the properties on
Stevens Road, rabbits and deer can be seen on the edge of the track. At night
often the only sound one can hear is of owls. Conservation of that, together
with the mature trees that line the track, is to be valued and cherished.
Tree removal
There are also established trees here, with bluebells growing underneath,
which will need to be cut down in order to build the proposed road and
pavement (we can see this because wooden posts have been erected to mark
the route of the road).
Information provided at time of house purchase
At the time I purchased my home I was informed by the sales team from
Highwood Homes that the outlook from my property would remain as is, the
track would not be changed. I was told that a handful of homes, of significant
financial value, would/could be built in the woods. That is a far cry from 55
homes including those in flats.
7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
SD1 – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
COM1 – Housing Provision
COM2 – Settlement Hierarchy
COM5 – Residential Development at Park Farm, Stoneham
COM7 - Affordable Housing

Page 25

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

COM15 – Infrastructure
E1 – High Quality Development in the Borough
E2 - Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough
E5 – Biodiversity
E7 - Water Management
E8 – Pollution
E9 – Heritage
LHW1 – Public Open Space
LHW4 – Amenity
LE10 – Retention of Employment Land
LHW4 – Amenity
T1 – Managing Movement
T2 – Parking Standards
CS1 – Community Safety
ST1 – Skills and Training
7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
 Affordable housing SPD (March 2008 and draft 2019)
 Infrastructure and developer contributions SPD (February 2009)
 Access plan SPD (September 2015)
 Chilworth village design statement (2005)
 Community infrastructure levy (CIL) charging schedule (January 2016)

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
 Principle of development
 Design, layout, and landscape character and strategy
 Heritage Assets
 Trees
 Amenity
 Highway safety and parking provision
 Water management
 Ecology
 Nitrate Neutrality
 Contaminated land
 Minerals
 Other matters

8.2

Principle of development
Test Valley Revised Borough Local Plan 2016
COM1
Policy COM1 sets out the housing requirement for the Borough over the plan
period, indicating the delivery of housing will be secured through completions,
commitments, unplanned development and the allocation of strategic sites.
Policy COM5 is relevant in this regard. The application site forms part of the
site allocated for “approximately 50 dwellings” through policy COM5 (also see
Map D and Inset Map 6).

Page 26

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.3

COM5 (Map D)
Policy COM5 allocates the site as part of Park Farm for approx. 50 dwellings
as a strategic allocation in the adopted Revised Local Plan. This policy plans
for residential development to be brought forward alongside residential
development at ‘Land south of Chestnut Avenue’ (now known as North
Stoneham Park) subject to a number of criteria. Policy COM5 establishes that
the application site is a sustainable location for development, subject to being
brought forward in line with North Stoneham Park to the north of the allocation.

8.4

The policy COM05 is not explicit in setting a maximum or minimum number of
dwellings that should be delivered under the allocation in the Local Plan. The
current application is for 63no. units, however, as the report will show the
current application includes other land available for development in this area of
Park Farm Stoneham than the Map D annotation indicates. It is recognised
within the Planning Statement provided with the application the rationale for
the proposed higher number of dwellings, taking account of more detailed site
analysis as well as seeking to make efficient use of the land physically and
visually close to the allocated land.

8.5

COM2
Policy COM2 is therefore relevant to the proposal as the proposed area for
residential development included in the application site does not align with the
area indicated for ‘housing and open space’ on Map D within the adopted
Local Plan. The area indicated in Map D had regard to constraints within the
site, including the group TPO and SINC designation. The proposed residential
development that is located outside of the ’housing and open space’ land (Map
D) does not fall within the categories of development referred to in the policies
listed in policy COM2. The proposal is considered to contrary to Policy COM2
in that there is not an overriding essential need for the development to be
located in the countryside.

8.6

Paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that,
“Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be
determined in accordance with the development plan unless material
considerations indicate otherwise”. It is therefore necessary to determine
whether there are any material considerations which would justify an exception
being made to Policy COM2 in this instance.

8.7

The applicant has indicated that there are large areas of open space available
for development which do fall within the annotated ‘existing woodland’ areas
on map D. The dwellings proposed in these areas are at Woodland View and
part of The Square and part of The Courtyard. The Planning Statement has
considered this point, indicating that more detailed site analysis (as indicated in
technical reports submitted with the application), including consideration of
constraints and opportunities, has informed the layout of the site including a
wider area for development.

Page 27

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.8

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is a material consideration in
the assessment of planning applications. Paragraph 7 states that the purpose
of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development. For the assessment of planning applications, this means
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay. As noted above, whilst the introduction of this housing in this
countryside location is considered to be contrary to the guidance set out in
Policy COM2, the principle of residential development has already been
established and found to be acceptable on this site in areas immediately
adjacent. To provide a comprehensive development in this location, make
effective use of the land available without harming the countryside interest of
the area (expanded on below) and recognise that the land forms part of a very
large site that is already delivering housing and community facilities it is
considered appropriate to give significant weight to these factors as material
considerations that would outweigh, and therefore, justify a departure from the
RLP in this instance.

8.9

COM5
Policy COM5 is specific in seeking the provision of:
a) affordable housing provision in accordance with policy COM7;
b) public open space provision in accordance with policy LHW1;
c)
retention and enhancement of the existing wooded boundary to the south
and west of the site;
d) access to the development via:
i)
vehicular access via Stoneham Lane;
ii)
pedestrian and cycle access to Stoneham Lane and the proposed
development in Eastleigh;
e) off-site improvements to the transport network to manage the impact of
additional movements;
Any future proposal would need to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the listed structure or its setting or any historic feature of interest.
Each part of the criteria is set out as follows.

8.10

COM5 a) Affordable housing provision in accordance with policy COM7
As originally submitted the application lacked any on site affordable housing
provision. Based upon 63 dwellings, under the current Local Plan, policy
COM7, 15 or more dwellings would be required to be secured (on sites of
0.5ha or more) for up to 40% of dwellings to be affordable. However, the
applicant has submitted a viability report which has been reviewed by a
viability specialist (Vail Williams) to test its accuracy and establish what level of
affordable housing could viably be provided through this development.

8.11

The conclusion from Vail Williams is that the revised scheme with 12 x
Affordable Rent units included on site and with payment of all other planning
contributions is that the site produces a residual site value broadly equal to the
benchmark site value and is therefore viable and deliverable, whilst providing a
commercially acceptable profit margin for the developer and return for the
landowner.

Page 28

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.12

The 12 x affordable units that are being proposed by the applicant are as
follows:2 bed flat (4P) x 6
2 bed flat (3P) x 3
1 bed flat (2P) x 3
The following confirms the Housing Needs figures from Hampshire Home
Choice, showing the number of households registered:Housing Need in Test Valley as of 2 November 2020:

1 Bed
2 Bed
3 Bed
4 Bed
Total

Total by Assessed
bed need
1145
627
342
102
2216

Housing Need in Chilworth as of 2 November 2020:

1 Bed
2 Bed
3 Bed
Total

Total by Assessed
bed need
5
2
1
8

The figures from the housing register represent the immediate need as at the
date of writing, and does not take into account future needs.
8.13

To ensure consistency with the NPPF Policy COM7 does allows a reduction in
the level of affordable housing provided on site, but only where the developer
can justify that to provide the full requirement would make the scheme
unviable.
Based upon the submitted Viability assessment and subsequent review by an
appropriately qualified specialist and taking into account the on-site affordable
housing which has been secured together with the above needs data, the
Housing officer is content to support the proposed mix of 1 & 2 bedroom flats.
It is considered that the development complies with criterion a) policy COM5.

8.14

COM5 b) public open space provision in accordance with policy LHW1
The Council policy COM5 references the need for open space consistent with
Policy LHW1: Public Open Space in the Revised Local Plan. LHW1 (and
Infrastructure and Developer Contributions SPD) – this policy seeks the
provision of public open space in conjunction with new residential development

Page 29

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

of the order set out within the policy. Based on the Public Open Space Audit
(2018), deficits in provision within the Parish have been identified for outdoor
sports facilities, parks and gardens, provision for children and teenagers, and
allotments (a definition for each type of open space is provided in Annex F of
the adopted Local Plan.
8.15

Policy LHW1 seeks the provision of public open space in conjunction with new
residential development. As set out in paragraph 8.4 of the Local Plan, the
starting point is on site provision. Based on the Public Open Space Audit
(2018), deficits in provision within the Parish have been identified for outdoor
sports facilities, parks and gardens, provision for children and teenagers, and
allotments (a definition for each type of open space is provided in Annex F of
the adopted Local Plan.
Based on the mix of dwellings and the requirements of policy LHW1, the
following open space requirements are generated.
Area per
No
Area
1,000
Persons
Required
population
/1,000
Outdoor Sports
1
x 0.126
= 0.13
ha
Facilities
Parks and Gardens 0.4
x 0.126
= 0.05
ha
Provision for
Children and
0.6
x 0.113
= 0.07
ha
Teenagers
Allotments
0.2
x 0.126
= 0.03
ha
It would be accepted that some types of public open space would not be
appropriate on site in terms of delivering usable spaces, such as in relation to
outdoor sport facilities.

8.16

The applicant has provided open space proposals to complement the
extensive network of POS delivered alongside at North Stoneham Park (NSP)
(a requirement of COM5), which although not within the Parish of Chilworth,
immediately adjoins the Park Farm/Old Mansion Site. Additional to any onsite
open space at the Old Mansion Site, NSP provides equipped play north of and
close to the entrance of the site and an extensive network of interlinked green
spaces and paths (walking/dog walking). The comprehensive Avenue Park is
also provided at the NSP, which among other features includes equipped play
areas for children and teenagers integrated with the community centre and
other facilities at the new Local Centre. NSP also provided an extension to
Lakeside Country Park and facilitated new high quality and modern sports
facilities at Hardmoor Sports Ground within the Parish of Chilworth and on land
south of M27 - the new Stoneham Football Complex. All facilities that could be
used by future residents of the OMS.

Page 30

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.17

The on-site POS shows a Park and Gardens Provision of 0.24 Ha, provision
for Children and Teenagers Natural Equipped Play of 0.12 Ha and Informal
Recreation of 1.76 Ha all to be maintained by a management company. The
submitted proposals also provide scope for public access of woodland in
Kennels Copse adjacent the ‘access to Home Wood’ provisions in the North
Stoneham Park s106 with Eastleigh BC. The scope for this is under discussion
with leisure services. An update will be provided on this point.

8.18

The on-site POS which is provided meets the requirements of the policy with
the exception of allotments and outdoor sports facilities. It is recognised that
although not provided on site alternate POS are provided in the vicinity of the
site such as at Hardmoor Sports ground (outdoor sports facilities). Furthermore
no projects have been identified for allotments or outdoor sports facilities which
would result in an off-site financial contribution being sought.

8.19

Whilst the scope for land to be adopted adjacent Home Wood is under
discussion it is considered that the main considerations of appropriate on site
POS have been provided and can be secured through the legal agreement. It
is considered that the development complies with criterion b) of COM5.

8.20

COM5 c) retention and enhancement of the existing wooded boundary to the
south and west of the site
The site is characterised by open spaces interspersed with groups of trees of
various maturity, size and quality and areas of woodland, which includes areas
of the site covered by a Woodland Tree Preservation Order (TPO). A SINC
(Site of Importance for Nature Conservation) is also present in the north of the
site. A total of 137 Individual Trees, 27 Groups of Trees and 2 Woodlands
were identified. The proposed scheme design seeks to maximise development
within areas of open space and where lower quality trees/woodland could
potentially be removed to facilitate making best and most efficient use of land
available. The proposed landscaping scheme looks to enhance the existing
woodlands and improve areas of the site to turn them into woodland as well as
incorporating new tree planting into the developed areas of the site. A total of
45 individual trees (7 moderate quality ‘B’ Grade Trees and 38 low quality ‘C’
Grade Trees), 11 Groups of Trees (1 moderate quality ‘B’ grade and 10 low
quality ‘C’ Grade), parts of 8 Groups (2 High quality ‘A’ Grade Groups, 2
Moderate quality ‘B’ grade and 4 low quality ‘C’ grade Groups) are proposed to
be removed to facilitate the proposed design layout for the site. There are 40
‘U’ grade trees on the site that will either be removed or heavily reduced as
detailed within the AMS (Arboricultural Method Statement).

8.21

The submission includes:
 Approximately 93 new trees which will be planted on the site to mitigate
the loss of existing trees and to enhance the woodland environment.
 Implementation of a Landscape, Woodland and Ecological Management
Plan to provide a robust environment which is capable of withstanding
human activity, phased development and associated construction
implications which in time will enhance the setting of the development.

Page 31

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020



A positive amendment to the Woodland TPO is proposed to only include
those areas of woodland that warrant protection and to extend it to
cover areas of woodland that are not currently covered, but which are
worthy of protection, and to include areas of proposed new planting.

8.22

The specifics of the tree considerations are detailed below in paragraph 8.48
but for the purposes of policy COM5 it is considered that criterion c) has been
met.

8.23

COM5 d) access to the development via:
i) vehicular access via Stoneham Lane and ii) pedestrian and cycle access to
Stoneham Lane and the proposed development in Eastleigh;
The proposals accord with criterion d) of COM5 as access is proposed to the
development via Stoneham Lane for vehicles, pedestrians and cycles via
approved access arrangements as part of the North Stoneham Park
development.

8.24

COM5 e) off-site improvements to the transport network to manage the impact
of additional movements
Delivery of North Stoneham Park is dependent upon upgrades to the local
transport network, many elements of which have been completed and are in
operation – e.g. upgrades to junctions in Stoneham Lane, new footpaths,
cycleways and internal road connections. The development at the Old Mansion
site will connect to and benefit from these improvements and therefore accord
with COM5 (e) as well as Policy T1.

8.25

Any future proposal would need to have special regard to the desirability of
preserving the listed structure or its setting or any historic feature of interest
Policy COM5 requires that any future proposal would need to have special
regard to the desirability of preserving the listed structure (i.e. Walled Garden)
or its setting or any historic feature of interest. There are no designated
heritage assets present on the site itself, i.e. no listed buildings and the site is
not located within a conservation area. However, the site does contain a
number of non-designated heritage assets, some of which can be assigned a
degree of group value on account of the historic associations, with remains
related to the 19th century North Stoneham Park being the most prominent.

8.26

Proposed conservation and enhancement of the site’s heritage assets include:
 Retention and resurfacing of the former carriage drive to form an
attractive shared surface approach to the residential areas.
 Redevelopment of the former mansion site to form the main
architectural feature to the site set on the same axis of the former
mansion site with formal landscaped terraces reintroducing views
across Park Pond.
 Retention of key legacy trees to act as focal point and entrance
markers.
 Remnant historic pathways retained to support future pedestrian links to
Home Wood and North Stoneham Park.

Page 32

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020



Opportunities to provide interpretation boards at key locations to help
residents understand and appreciate the site’s intrinsic historic and
ecological value.
Although the character of the site would become dominated by the modern
care home complex the development is considered to have a positive effect on
the value of the group of remains related to North Stoneham Park that are
within the site and the setting of the Listed Walls and nearby St. Nicolas
Church. This matter is discussed further below in paragraph… It is considered
that the proposals have special regard to the desirability of preserving the
listed structures and its setting together with any historic feature of interest at
the Old Mansion Site in accordance with criteria e).
8.27

Policy COM5 – Conclusion
It is concluded that the development complies with the site specific criteria of
policy COM5 which highlights the constraints of the site in terms of
trees/landscape, heritage assets, access and POS from the wider North
Stoneham development.

8.28

Furthermore it is considered that the areas of development which fall outside
the specific housing areas annotated on map D of COM5 can be successfully
provided at this site complying with the relevant material considerations which
would outweigh the breach with Policy COM2 of the RLP and justify a
departure from the RLP in this instance.

8.29

Design, layout, and landscape character and strategy
Existing site context
Further to the explanation provided at paragraph 2.1 to 2.4 above the site has
a mature, green perimeter, defined by dense tree canopies which gives a
sense of enclosure and isolation. This is, however interspersed with areas of
open green and occasional built form, including a 3 bed dwelling, out buildings
and areas of open storage. The terrain is generally flat, however there are
isolated areas of local sharp rises and falls and the land to the west gently
rises towards the western boundary. A small pond exists to the north and an
existing drainage channel runs parallel with the access track, which itself runs
along the walled garden along the southern face of North Stoneham Park,
joining the through road to the wider masterplan. Views of the Stoneham lakes
can been seen through the tree planting and to the south of the woodyard. An
existing play area is to the north east of the site as part of North Stoneham
Park.

8.30

The site was once home to a former manor house which sat on a north east
axis with views across the fishing lakes. This is seen in historic plans. The
house was accessed via a carriage driveway to the north east which will be
reinstated as part of the NSP masterplan application. The house was
demolished in 1939 and subsequently backfilled and damaged. Remnants of
the old house still remain on site with some of the foundations visible within the
gardens of the current house.

Page 33

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.31

Design and layout
The design and layouts of the development are largely inspired by Herbert
Collins architecture throughout Southampton, which itself was part of the
Garden City movement. These designs are landscape rich, set around wide
areas of greenery and a central amenity focus. They are of identifiable
character, usually in rows of terraces or semi-detached, displaying a robust
material pallet and repeated window modules. The red brick can be
complimented with a clay roof tile and white UPVC windows with glazing bars
to add to the character. Ornate entrances, canopies with pilasters and bay
windows, define the frontage and give relief to the elevation. Applying this
across the site particularly in the housing designs, creates a high quality
development of character which is locally distinctive on the Southampton,
Eastleigh boundaries.

8.32

The Courtyard
A courtyard arrangement is proposed for the open land to the west of the site.
Dwellings are orientated and present themselves to the front of the green,
creating focused central spaces which retains the existing trees. The central
green is located adjacent private gardens defined by hedge rows to the front.
Cars are removed from the street scene with parking courts tucked to the rear
and private driveways to the side where appropriate. The symmetry of the
development is prominent, tying the dwellings through to other houses
throughout the site. Bay windows, rounded entrance canopies, chimneys,
material choice are all consistent throughout the scheme, bringing a holistic
and coherent approach to the design. The wooded backdrop gently sits behind
the ridges of the houses, creating a contained feel to The Courtyard. The
hipped roofs throughout the scheme allow for greater air space between
dwellings which, in turn, will reduce the scale and allow greater view through to
the woodland beyond.

8.33

The Square
A further smaller, framed, courtyard (The Square) sits to the east of the green,
utilising a further clearing within the woodland. Dwellings and a further block of
apartments form the space, with a turning head designed within the network.
Set back frontages allow for a soft edge which will define the approach and car
parking is removed from the street with courtyard parking designed to the side.
The dual aspect flats allow for natural surveillance to the surrounding spaces,
ensuring a secure environment. A pedestrian route, to the east, continues the
network through to Lakeside View.

8.34

Woodland View
To the east of the site and south of the entrance is Woodland View, further
housing which is orientated and positioned to retain the existing Oak tree and
other tree examples as existing on site. Woodland view addresses the new
road into the site. Dwellings are orientated to front onto the street to the north
and west, giving a strong frontage and first impression at the entrance to the
development. The built form is set back from the road with a generous front
garden, maintaining a green edge and opportunity for planting. The 4 x pairs of
semi detached dwellings are situated either side of the mature trees in the

Page 34

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

north west with secondary side windows overlooking the perimeters. Ornate
bay windows at ground floor provide a hierarchy to the elevation, defining the
living space and giving symmetry to the elevation with a defined entrance to
the centre. Cars are removed from the street scene with a parking court to the
rear. A series of garages and parking spaces serve the houses and are
screened with hedge planting and trees with access paths to the front.
8.35

The Mansion
To the south and centre of the site are The Mansion apartments. This building
takes reference from the historic Stoneham House which once occupied this
position on site and overlooked the fishing lakes to the south. Remnants of the
old building define the axis and orientation of this 3 storey apartment building.
The building position is set between the trees with clearing of low quality
specimens to the south enabling the re-introduction of a low level, south facing
garden terraces with views across to the fishing lakes. From the lakes, views to
the apartment building would be provided highlighting the importance of this
location within the wider scheme and its heritage to the site.

8.36

The apartment building has multiple aspects, allowing for views across to the
central amenity area and tennis courts to the west as well as its own courtyard
garden to the east and passive surveillance to the parking courtyard to the
north. The building will be seen from the approach road as it sweeps round to
the south.

8.37

The mansion apartments are different in appearance offering a departure from
the Collins inspired designs. As the largest building proposed and taking into
account the history of the site the elevational treatment proposed sits the
building on a ashlar plinth with window modules, glazing bars and a red brick
base material present to retain consistency across the site. The quoining
theme is also present on the mansion apartment building but seen in a
contrasting material rather than brick. Balconies are proposed supported with
classical doric columns at first floor level and ornate metalwork frames at the
first floor balcony, transitioning to the second floor. Dentil detailing on the
central frieze, high level articulation at the eaves and contrasting surrounds to
the windows accentuate the more prominent setting of this building.

8.38

Lakeside view
To the east of the site located on a separate access point from the main
access track in is the proposed three storey apartments again in a clearing
amongst trees, occupying an area adjacent to the car park for the angling lake.
As the title suggests, the area would benefit from views of the fishing lakes and
its access road will ensure access to the lakes is retained and improved. This
area of the site has a mature oak at its centre which defines the developable
areas. The apartments are orientated on a L shape to ensure protection of the
tree whilst providing communal amenity space together with parking to the
rear. Given this part of the sites slight separation from the rest of the
development the design and appearance is similar to that seen in the closest
examples as existing at North Stoneham park.

Page 35

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.39

Landscape Strategy
Whilst the site has a sense of isolation due to its wooded setting the site forms
an integral part of the wider North Stoneham Park history and associated
landscape. The applicant has undertaken detailed site investigations which
have identified a series of woodland clearings that have helped shape the
development and informed the Herbert Collins precedent for simple landscape
courtyards and garden village living. The proposals put forward for housing
and associated works would considerably change the character of the site,
however this would change in the context with the wider Stoneham
development whilst having regard for the previous historic uses at the site. The
submitted strategy sets out the vision for how the development would look and
how the design for the dwellings integrates within the parkland setting and the
existing woodland.

8.40

A detailed Landscape and Woodland Management Plan has been submitted
within the application setting out how the landscaping of the site would be
managed and monitored and the ongoing maintenance for the site. With regard
to the protection of trees and the arboricultural method statement this is further
considered later in the report.

8.41

The submitted information highlights that the overarching design principles will
seek to deliver several enhancements to reinforce the site’s parkland character
and local Green Infrastructure including:
Conservation and enhancement of the site’s heritage assets
- Retention and resurfacing of the former carriage drive to form an
attractive shared surface approach to the residential areas.
- Redevelopment of the former mansion site to form the main
architectural feature to the site set on the same axis of the former
mansion site with formal landscaped terraces reintroducing views
across Park Pond.
- Retention of key legacy trees to act as focal point and entrance
markers.
- Remnant historic pathways retained to support future pedestrian links to
Home Wood and North Stoneham Park.
- Opportunities to provide interpretation board at key locations to help
residents understand and appreciate the site’s intrinsic historic and
ecological value.
Woodland Glades
- A series of clearings providing informal public open space and door step
play opportunities for residents with scope to combine the following
landscape and public amenity elements:
- Sensitive mowing regime to support a mix of woodland edge grassland
areas with mown paths and clearings for informal recreation / play.
- Opportunity for specimen tree planting celebrating the site’s heritage
value with opportunities to plant specimen ornamental trees collected at
the period the Old Mansion Site was occupied.
- Scope to use some of the fallen trees to create natural play elements.

Page 36

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

-

-

Integrated SuDS features which will be designed to support wetland
habits and allow residents to interact with the associated wetland
habitats.
Planting species will strike a balance between reinforcing the woodland
setting whilst celebrating parkland areas and formal areas around the
buildings.

Sensitively designed pedestrian connectivity
- Pedestrian networks to the adjoining Home Wood and North Stoneham
Park POS network utilising existing permissive paths and remnant
heritage trails to avoid unnecessary impact to tree roots and associated
habitats are proposed.
Protection and conservation of associated woodland / woodland edge wildlife
habitats
- This includes Kennel Copse SINC with opportunities to improve
ecological corridors and biodiversity enhancements
- Phased replacement of non-native invasive species with native
understorey and ground flora species.
- Allowing selected felled trees to decay on site and form standing dead
habitats.
- Creation of wetland habitats to SuDs areas.
8.42

It is considered that a development of the scale and density proposed can be
accommodated on the site without there being any resultant adverse harm on
the character and appearance of the surrounding area. The development
would not be highly visible from the newly constructed roads at North
Stoneham Park due to the sites position at the end of a access track. Within
the site the Mansion building delivers the deliberate objective of providing a
prominent building in the landscape, reflecting the site’s history, and as such
would have a clear, but positive impact. The other housing proposed makes
use of existing openings in the woodland to create well detailed dwellings with
adequate amenity space. There is considered to be satisfactory space within
the site to provide for sufficient landscaping to enable the development to
further integrate within the surrounding area and the site itself which has
significant tree constraints. As a result, it is considered that the proposals
would comply with policy E1 of the RLP to provide high quality development in
the Borough.

8.43

Heritage
There are conservation considerations in respect of development on this site
given the history of the site. The site was seminal in the third principal phase in
the development of North Stoneham Park. In 1818, John Willis Fleming,
decided to have the original mansion house, adjacent to the parish church,
demolished in 1818. In its place was commissioned a new classical mansion
constructed to designs by Thomas Hopper from 1818. This in turn instigated
the early 19th century reorientation of the site to focus on the East – West axis,
and within the more open central areas of the site remain evidence and relics
from the legacy of the English parkland landscape setting of Brown, Knox and
Gardner. There are no designated heritage assets present on the site itself

Page 37

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

today, i.e. no listed buildings and the site is not located within a conservation
area. However, the site does contain a number of non-designated heritage
assets, some of which can be assigned a degree of group value on account of
the historic associations, with remains related to the 19th century North
Stoneham Park being the most prominent.
8.44

The conservation consideration is whether the proposals would result in harm
to the significance of any heritage assets affected, principally in this case the
listed walled garden. The proposed development, consisting of buildings,
varying from two-storey houses to the large ‘mansion’ block, will change the
character of the broader setting to the west of the walled garden. The
completed development to its north, has already changed its setting on this
side – at a considerably closer proximity and of greater extent than that
proposed at this site. The development agreed on the east side of the walled
garden will be of similar scale to the closest block at Lakeside view and in
closer proximity, albeit on a site that was historically developed as an estate
stable and service yard. The walled garden was always part of a group of
buildings, including mansion, stables and the orangery to the south between it
and the lakes, apart from on the north side, which stretched out as parkland.
In the light to of the above analysis, given the distance of the development is
from the walled garden and subject to adequate landscaping it is not
considered that the proposal will result in harm to the significance of the listed
structure. Subject to appropriate conditions securing material samples and test
panels of brickwork etc, window, door, dormer window and porch structure
details and balcony details it is considered that the development can be
provided without significant harm to the historic elements of the site which
policy E9 seeks to protect.

8.45

Archaeology
Given the historic uses at the site a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) has
been prepared and submitted to the County Archaeologist for comment. In
summary, the WSI sets out a series of archaeological recording exercises that
are required to (a) be set out in a WSI agreed and submitted to TVBC prior to
determination and (b) to be addressed in response to a planning condition
attached to planning permission post-determination and prior to development.
These pieces of work comprise:
 The archaeological investigation of the site of the former 19th century
North Stoneham Park mansion including the site of its adjacent
demolished outbuildings; and
 The survey and recording of a Second World War gun emplacement
and barrage balloon tether that are located in the site.

8.46

The County Archaeologist has reviewed the WSI and is content to endorse it
as meeting the archaeological concerns that raised previously and suggested
merit of an archaeological condition. Given the available historical evidence the
archaeological research agenda is limited. The research agenda is properly
articulated in the WSI and an appropriate method by which to recover/ record it
has been set out. As such the County Archaeologist has suggested an
archaeological condition making reference to securing the archaeological
provisions set out in that document.

Page 38

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.47

The development would retain and improve the setting of key non-designated
heritage assets and of the group of assets in general, chiefly by removing
current buildings, disused spaces, invasive vegetation and dumped materials
from their setting. It would reinstate an aspect of the mansion through the new
apartment building whilst respecting in part the layout and appearance of the
former access into the mansion site. Although the character of the site will
become dominated by the modern dwellings, given the respect shown to the
underlying historic environment the development is considered to have a
positive effect on the value of the group of remains related to North Stoneham
Park that are within the site and the setting of the Listed Walls. The
development is considered to comply with policy E9 which ensures the
development sustains and enhances the significance of the heritage assets.

8.48

Trees
The site is subject to an overarching Woodland category TPO that affects large
majority of the trees on and surrounding the site. The “woodland” category of
the TPO means that it protects not only trees present at the time the order was
made but also all subsequent trees – whether natural regeneration or planted.
The proposed development, requires the loss of a large number of trees; by
the very nature of what is proposed it also fundamentally changes parts of the
site from that currently recognisably “woodland” to residential development.

8.49

There is no existing woodland management plan for the site and the site has
not been managed historically with any true direction or plan. The historic
management appears to have been reactive and sporadic. The site has a mix
of good quality woodland, good quality trees and poor-quality woodland. The
current condition of the woodland allows for a Management Plan to improve
and enhance certain areas of the site. The applicant has submitted a woodland
management plan is to improve and enhance certain areas of the existing
woodland, whilst maintaining the areas of better quality woodland. It is not
thought that significant woodland management will be required on this site.
The submission states that the better-quality areas of woodland rich in
ecological value will only require a soft touch approach. The following list of
works will be required in certain areas of the woodland, which will improve the
woodland setting, diversity and habitat value:
 New Planting of Trees and understorey to enhance/improve certain
areas of the site.
 Planting new trees under the existing Ash Trees to allow for future
decline/removal. This will provide established trees to take over from
where the Ash has been lost.
 Creation of standing deadwood habitat through selective reductions of
‘U’ Grade Trees.
 Removal of non-native understorey species.
The Tree Officer is satisfied with the information submitted and the
adjustments made. The information sought on tree pit details has been
provided and agreed with the Tree officer. A further query has been raised in
respect of pipe routing conflict with trees. An update will follow on this point.

Page 39

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.50

James Fuller’s Arboricultural Method Statement JFA102590MS V2 April
20202 (the report) sets out a proposal to amend the woodland TPO boundary.
This to reflect the woodland retained post development and to embrace some
of the proposed new tree planting. The Tree Officer notes the request to
amend the TPO boundary line to include new trees and agrees that this is an
area that will need to be explored further. Conversations are in the early stages
with interested parties at HCC and Eastleigh BC.

8.51

The Tree Officer is satisfied that the method statement set out in the report
presents appropriate information for the protection of trees to be retained. It is
acknowledged that the felling and restocking of the area will change the
character and appearance of the site, however, the Tree Officer has no
objection to the proposal subject to appropriate conditions given that the
replacement planting will, in the medium to long term, provide for a better
future woodland. It is considered that the development can be provided in
accordance with policy E2 which seeks to Protect, Conserve and Enhance the
Landscape Character of the Borough.

8.52

Amenity
Existing neighbours
The closest residential properties are located approx. 40m away from the
proposed development site as such it is not considered that there would be
any significant impacts arising from the proposed development on the
amenities of existing neighbouring properties in accordance with policy LHW1
of the Revised Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.53

Future occupiers
The proposed developments in TVBC are arranged as such that some mutual
overlooking and overshadowing through the day between blocks may occur
but it is considered that separation distances between the buildings together
with the variation in depths of the elevations and the heights of the buildings
results in an acceptable level of amenity in terms of overlooking,
overshadowing and loss of daylight in the creation of this village community. In
accordance with policy LHW1 of the Revised Borough Local Plan 2016.

8.54

Noise and light pollution
Concerns have been raised in respect of noise and lights from the traffic using
the access into the application site. The track is already used 24 hours a day 7
days a week by the angling club. It is acknowledged that with the proposed
dwellings this use will increase but given the developments location adjacent a
largescale housing estate on the edge of significantly built up areas of
Eastleigh and Southampton it is not considered that there would be any
significant additional impacts which would create an unacceptable level of
noise or light impacts.

8.55

Highways
Impact on the highway network
The EBC outline planning permission provided for comprehensive highway
works and sustainable transport measures for the whole of the North
Stoneham Park development and these are in the process of being delivered.

Page 40

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Vehicular access to the site is proposed via Stoneham Lane from the access
route approved as part of the wider reserved matters application with EBC
(RM/17/79892). This also provides vehicular access to the nearby fishing
lakes. The proposed access route measures some 3.7m in width which is not
wide enough to allow two cars to pass but is served by frequent dedicated
passing places of 10m length. The access proposal is considered to be
acceptable in this regard by the Highways Officer.
8.56

In order to assess the likely traffic generation profile of the proposal, trip rates
utilised within outline application for the wider North Stoneham Park
development have been applied. This approach is considered acceptable and
sufficiently robust by the Highways Officer. In line with this, the proposal is
considered not to represent any material increase in traffic generation to that
already applied within the operational network assessment undertaken as part
of the wider North Stoneham Park application. The proposal would therefore
be considered acceptable In this regard.

8.57

Internal tracking
The roads and footways relating to this application are not being offered for
adoption by the developer. HCC Highways have previously objected to
submitted tracking information but this has since been updated and the
comments from HCC highways are that there is now no objection to the
proposals.

8.58

Refuse
The amended Refuse Tracking document adequately demonstrates that the
TVBC collection vehicle can safely and easily access all the bins stores on the
site. The Waste and Recycling officer has no objections in this regard.

8.59

Parking provision
The Parking provision for the site is in accordance with the parking standards
set out in the Revised Borough Local plan 2016. In The Courtyard, Woodland
View, the Square and The Mansion more parking spaces than required are
provided on site. At Lakeside View the exact amount of spaces required by
policy T2 Annex G are provided. Visitor parking is provided in addition to the
supplementary parking spaces provided. Provision for secure cycle parking will
be available in store buildings at apartment blocks and in garaging provided at
houses.

8.60

Ecology
Bats
A suite of bat surveys have been carried out in 2018 including walked transect
activity surveys, static surveys (where detectors are left on site in specific
locations) as well as dusk/dawn emergence re-entry surveys on both trees and
buildings identified as having bat roost potential which are at risk of impacts as
a result of the development. Confirmation that the correct building was
surveyed within the Bat Roost Assessment has been provided and confirmed
as having low bat roost potential, no bats were observed emerging from this
building.

Page 41

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.61

Trees identified as having bat roost potential are now to be retained, with
buffer zones to reduce indirect impacts. The ecologist has asked for
confirmation over the likely impact of the proposed lighting scheme on these
trees and that lighting is unlikely to affect roosts as well as foraging and
commuting corridors linking these to the surrounding landscape. Furthermore
the proposed lighting strategy is required to be updated to reflect the current
proposals. The strategy also needs to ensure that the location of lighting along
bat foraging corridors and within the woodland and SINC is fully assessed. An
update will be provided.

8.62

Reptile
The ecologist has requested further information on the area of suitable reptile
habitat to be planted within the proposed development, and therefore the
predicted overall impact on reptiles as a result of the proposed development. A
phase 1 habitat map should be submitted and suitable receptor and mitigation
habitats highlighted on the proposals to clarify the likely impact on reptiles.
This information has been requested from the applicant and an update will be
provided.

8.63

Great crested newts
The ecological report states the results of any GCN work are valid until May
2019. As this date has now passed an update to GCN information to confirm
there has been no change in the suitability of these water bodies to support
GCN is required. As there have been no records of GCN on this site
throughout the survey work completed here across several years, an update to
the Habitat Suitability Assessments to ensure there has been no change in the
condition of the ponds and their ability to support great crested newts should
be sufficient as the risk of GCN colonising this site is low. An update will be
provided.

8.64

Kennel Copse SINC and Broad leafed woodland
Kennel Copse SINC and woodland is located immediately adjacent to the
development with the existing track through it being developed as part of an
access track. The ecologist has highlighted concern around a buffer zone and
fencing along the SINC boundaries. In respect of the fencing this should
adequately deter fly tipping and in information should also be provided setting
out likely ecological impact particularly during the construction of the proposed
fencing works. An update will be provided.

8.65

New Forest SPA and Solent SPA
The development will result in a net increase in residential dwellings within
13.6km of the New Forest SPA and within 5.6km of the Solent and
Southampton Water SPA. These distances define the zones identified by
recent research where new residents would be considered likely to visit these
sites. These SPAs support a range of bird species that are vulnerable to
impacts arising from increases in recreational use of the sites that result from
new housing development.

Page 42

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.66

While clearly one new house on its own would not result in any significant
effects, it has been demonstrated through research, and agreed by Natural
England (the government’s statutory nature conservation advisors) that any net
increase (even single dwellings) would have a likely significant effect on the
SPAs when considered in combination with other plans and projects. To
address this issue, Test Valley Borough Council has adopted a strategy
whereby a scale of developer contributions has been agreed that would fund
the delivery of measures to address these issues. With respect to the New
Forest, a new strategic area of alternative recreational open space is being
delivered that would offer the same sort of recreational opportunities as those
offered by the New Forest. With respect to the Solent sites, funding is to be
provided to the Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership (SRMP).

8.67

The scale of these contributions is set at £1300 per new dwelling for the New
Forest mitigation and various levels dependent on amount of bedrooms in a
dwelling for the Solent Mitigation project. Subject to the completion of the
required legal agreement the proposal is considered to comply with Policy E5
of the Revised Local Plan and the Council’s ‘New Forest SPA Mitigation –
Interim Framework’ and ‘Solent Disturbance and Mitigation Project – Interim
Framework’.

8.68

Nitrate Neutrality
The River Test and its major tributaries flow into the Solent. The Solent region
is one of the most important for wildlife in the United Kingdom. There are
currently high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus input into this water
environment and there is evidence to suggest that this is having a detrimental
impact on the biodiversity of this area. Housing and other certain types of
development are currently contributing negatively towards this issue and there
is evidence that further development, without mitigation, would exacerbate this
impact.
The Solent region consists of the following Special Areas of Conservation
(SAC) and Special Protection Areas (SPA):







8.69

Chichester and Langstone Harbours SPA
Portsmouth Harbour SPA
Solent and Southampton Water SPA
Isle of Wight Lagoons SPA
Solent Maritime SAC
Solent and Dorset Coast SPA (Proposed)

These sites are protected by National and European Law which requires the
Council to undertake a formal assessment of the implications of any new plans
or projects that may be capable of affecting the designated interest features of
European Sites before deciding whether to grant planning permission for new
residential development. This formal assessment is known as an Appropriate
Assessment and considers the potential adverse effects of a plan or project (in
combination with other plans or projects) on Special Areas of Conservation
and Special Protection Areas. The European Court of Justice recently
determined a case related to considering water quality in Appropriate

Page 43

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Assessments. The impact of the case law is that any development which could
result in a decrease in water quality would cause a likely significant effect on
the Solent’s European sites.
8.70

In the context of planning, the impact comes from population increase and the
resultant increase in effluent. Proposed developments for new housing, hotels
and care homes (as well as other forms of overnight accommodation) are
being affected by the issue as a result. Given the nature of this application the
applicant was invited to provide an assessment. WYG were appointed by
Highwood in October 2020 to prepare a Nitrogen Strategy for the proposed Old
Mansion Site, Stoneham development, to summarise the proposed options for
nitrogen mitigation. This is intended to sit alongside the Section 106
agreement. The strategy sets out that the proposed developments would
create a nitrate impact of 210.020 kg/TN/yr as such mitigation is required to
offer a neutral balance to this figure. The strategy sets out the proposed
Section 106 obligations, and an overview of each nitrogen mitigation option
along with principles for management, monitoring and security. Further details
of each option are given in Appendices A – D of the strategy along with
location plans for each option. Detailed information on the options can be
found in the Habitat Regulation assessment but in brief terms the options
offered include
a) Offsetting at Chickenhall Lane by removing land from agricultural use
(this is separate land to land assessed at the recent Park Farm Planning
Application for retirement accommodation).
b) Stoneham SuDS scheme, which involves amendments to the approved
surface water drainage strategy for the approved development at North
Stoneham Park to introduce a nitrogen removal component.
c) Atlee Acre wetland scheme, which involves the creation of a new
wetland immediately west of Monk’s Brook. This will intercept surface
water and remove nitrogen before discharging to the brook.
d) Chickenhall wetland scheme, which involves the creation of a new
wetland east of the River Itchen. This will provide an additional stage of
treatment to the wastewater outfall from Chickenhall Wastewater
Treatment Works, removing nitrogen before out falling to the River
Itchen (as it does currently).

8.71

As a result of the 4 options and in particular the implementation of option A in
the first instance which ensures the proposal meets the Natural England
guidance and therefore meets the necessary test of reasonable scientific
certainty under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017
(as amended), the development will not result in adverse effects on the Solent
designated site through water quality impacts arising from nitrate generation. It
should be noted that Natural England have previously agreed to the different
options offered on the adjacent Park Farm site where mitigation has been
secured for the care home development (ref: 19/02811/FULLS). Natural
England have been consulted on the document for this application and an
update will be provided. The recommendation include the need to complete
this exercise and for the LPA/applicant to respond appropriately to any
resultant consultation response from Natural England.

Page 44

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.72

Water Management
Surface Water Drainage Strategy
Hampshire County Council as Lead Local Flood Authority has provided
comments in relation to the application in their role as statutory consultee on
surface water drainage for major developments. The County Council has
reviewed the documents following the initial formal response which now
includes a suitable alternative to infiltration (option 2).

8.73

The Angling club have raised concern about water runoff from the new
development. Attenuation tanks are located sporadically around the
development connected to private surface water sewers. The management of
the surface water on site through these means is considered appropriate and
the County Council as the Lead Local Flood Authority has no objection to the
proposals is raised subject to appropriate condition.

8.74

Flood risk
The EA’s Flood Map for Planning shows that the site sits entirely in Flood Zone
1. The historic flood records map within the Test Valley Borough Council
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) shows that there have been no
drainage and flooding incidents and sewer incidents recorded within the vicinity
of the site. To mitigate against the risk from localised overland flooding from
the proposed development, surface water runoff will be managed through the
implementation of SuDS features in the form of attenuation basins / wetlands
and swales. The EA have not responded to consultation responses sent. The
Case Officer has reviewed the EA guidance on consultation requirements for
this type of development. Given the site is located in flood zone 1 and is not
within 20m of a main river or an area with critical drainage problems and an
adequate flood risk assessment has been provided no consultation with the EA
is required. As such the development is considered to be fully compliant with
the requirements of the NPPF and policy E7 which concerns water
management.

8.75

Contaminated land
Due to the current and previous uses at the site, there is potential for some
contamination to be present. The Environmental Health Officer has reviewed
the Environmental Statement and would suggest the standard Contaminated
land condition. Information has been provided with regards to the ground
conditions but to ensure the LPA has the information provided to us in an
appropriate format to the appropriate standard the condition is suggested.
Subject to this condition it is considered that the development can be provided
in accordance with policy E8 which considers pollution.

8.76

Minerals
The proposed development lies within the mineral and waste consultation
area (MWCA) – Minerals section. This area is informed by the mineral
safeguarding area (MSA) as defined through Policy 15: Safeguarding –
mineral resources of the adopted Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (2013)
(HMWP) and indicates where viable, safeguarded mineral resources are likely
to be present. The purpose of this policy is to protect potentially economically
viable mineral resource deposits from needless and unnecessary sterilisation.

Page 45

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

The policy seeks to encourage the recovery, where possible, of potential viable
mineral resources prior to development. Incidental extraction is endorsed in the
Mineral Safeguarding Assessment. Prior-extraction offers potential
opportunities to reuse recovered minerals within the development itself or
upcycle them to nearby aggregate recycling facilities. This in turn has strong
potential to reduce the amount of waste generated through excavation on site
as well as reducing the need for imported construction material.
8.77

Due to the involvement of incidental extraction the HCC Minerals Officer has
No Objection to this application subject to an appropriate condition through
construction management plans outlining:
i. a method for ensuring that minerals that can be viably recovered during
the development operations are recovered and put to beneficial use;
and
ii. a method to record the quantity of recovered mineral (re-use on site or
off site) and to report this data to the MPA.
This information has been included in the condition securing the submission of
a construction management plan.

8.78

Safety and security of the boundary between Stoneham Lakes and the
proposed development
Comments have been received from the neighbouring angling club in relation
to the security and safety of the boundaries with the lakes. A 2m stock proof
fence has been requested as the appropriate type of boundary to prevent
individuals accessing the lakes and also potentially falling into the lakes. The
Angling Club would be in favour of this style of fencing and request that the
developer use this fence along the entire western and southern boundary of
the development to stop trespass onto the golf course and Stoneham Lakes.
The applicant has submitted a plan showing all boundary treatments proposed
(drawing no: DD241L04 F). 1.5m high stock proof fencing is proposed along
the southern boundary from the angling club car park to The mansion terrace.
A retaining wall is proposed to the terrace overlooking the lake together with
Estate Railings to match NSP (North Stoneham Park) and an informal
hedgerow. West of the Mansion terrace it is proposed to replace existing post
and wire fence with 1.5m high new post and wire fence. It should be noted that
individual rear gardens which face towards the boundary with the angling club
are also proposed to include 1.5m high stock proof fencing to the rear with
close board fencing on any side boundaries. It is considered reasonable to
ensure that a condition is applied to the recommendation ensuring the
boundary treatments are provided prior to first occupation of the dwellings.

8.79

Security and ball strike at boundary between Stoneham Golf Club and the
proposed development
The current western boundary treatment consists of unmaintained post and
wire fencing or no fencing at all. There is a small section of the boundary which
comprises a ditch/bank. Similar to the Angling club above the Golf Club have
suggested a site boundary treatment which should comprise 2m stockproof
fencing, installed between two points on the western boundary.

Page 46

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.80

The applicant has responded by proposing north to south on the boundary with
the golf club replacement of any existing post and wire fence with 2m high
stock proof fencing with 1m high chicken mesh - to prevent golf balls into the
woodland. Furthermore all rear gardens facing this boundary (12-20) would
also have additional 2.0m high new stock proof and chicken mesh fencing to
the rear of properties. The LWEMP together with the draft S106 agreement
now specifies the location, specification and maintenance of the fencing
surrounding the western woodland along with the provision of no entry signage
at the agreed locations. It is considered appropriate to add a condition
ensuring the information in the boundary plan and LWEMP are provided prior
to first occupation of a dwelling. Subsequent to these successful discussions
between the golf Club and the applicant in respect of the above the golf club
have withdrawn their objection.

8.81

Impacts at angling lakes
The lakes a source of recreation including an active fishing community who
purchased the local land around the lake for angling. Comments have been
received in respect of the effect of such proposed development, with lighting
and noise so close to one of the fishing lakes. The proposed 3 storey Mansion
Apartments and recreational terraced area are on the southern boundary of the
development site. The building is in an elevated position overlooking Park
Pond. Concerns highlighted are the light pollution from this building and from
the lighting of the terraced area Allowing artificial light to illuminate the lake will
upset the natural “night and day” balance in the lake and surrounding area.
The impact of light pollution on aquatic life, amphibians, birds and bats has
been scientifically documented and is a concern to the angling club. The
boundaries around the terrace area will be formed of a retaining wall together
with Estate Railings and an informal hedgerow. Whilst it is acknowledged that
the existing arrangement on this part of the boundary with the angling lakes will
be altered the proposed mansion building would be located approx. 17m from
the boundary the lakes. As such whilst the windows and balconies at the
mansion building would offer views towards the lakes and beyond these views
would be at a distance and the bulk and massing of the mansion building
would be set back away from the lakes ensuring no significant overbearing
impacts on the lakes are created in this respect. A terrace is also proposed
which extends out from the mansion building towards the boundary with the
lakes opening up what would have historically been the view towards the
landscaped grounds of north Stoneham Park. It is recommended to secure
further detail in respect of how the terrace area and retaining wall would be
constructed given the change in ground levels at this location and the
presence of some historic materials. Furthermore information on how this area
is to be lit is also sought through condition. It is understood that the terrace
area is for residents of the mansion building only and so any noise would likely
be akin to domestic dwelling amenity area levels and it is not considered that
this type of use would create an unacceptable level of noise in this location.

Page 47

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.82

Skills and training
The Economic Development Officer has no objection to the proposal provided
an Employment and Skills Plan is required by condition, relating to the
Construction Industry Training Board (CITB) National Skills Academy Client
Based Approach, which sets out the construction skills activity to be
undertaken by the developer/contractor. This is to ensure that the development
contributes to construction skills training having regard to policy ST1 of the
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.

8.83

St Nicholas Church
The Diocese of Winchester has provided comment in relation to the church
Bells at St Nicholas which is located on Stoneham Lane requesting that the
presence of these bells and their regular usage is communicated to and taken
into account by any developer bringing forward detailed proposals for
developments in the area. It is considered appropriate to add a note advising
of the church bells and noise implications.

8.84

Information provided at time of house purchase
Comments have been received in relation to the outlook of new homes
recently purchased on the North Stoneham Park development and the amount
of dwellings proposed with the track being unchanged. A private view is not
material planning consideration. Neither is the position that new residents on
adjoining parcels of a wider development close by, may or may not have been
informed of the current proposal or its merits.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
It is recommended that subject to the receipt and consideration of updated
consultation responses on the outstanding issues and the completion of a legal
agreement, that planning permission be granted. An update will be provided on
the areas identified within the report.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
Delegate to Head of Planning and building to:
i. Completion of Legal agreement to secure:
 The delivery and future management of on-site Affordable
Housing
 Secure off-site Nitrogen Neutrality mitigation
 Financial contributions towards both the New Forest SPA and the
Solent SPA to mitigate the impact of development
 Provision of, and subsequent management arrangements for, onsite Public Open Space
 Maintenance and management arrangements for the Woodland
Buffer to Stoneham Golf Club
ii The receipt of a satisfactory consultation reply from Natural England
in respect of additional evidence for Nitrate Neutrality
iii The receipt of a satisfactory consultation reply from Ecology in
respect of additional information for biodiversity.
Then PERMISSION subject to:

Page 48

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

1.

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except
in complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers
19.034278 C
19.034.101 V
DD241L04F
14-159-1216 C
14-159-1202 H
19.034.240 G
DD241L01 C
DD241L03D
19.034.279 D
14-159-1225 F
14-159-1215 D
14-159-1204 G
14-159-1208 E
14-159-1214 G
14-159-1201 H
19.034.100 O
DD241L02 B
DD241L05A
14-159-1210 E
19/34/SK22 C
19/034/305 B
14-0159-1226 A
19/034/210
14-159-200
19/034/220
19/034/280
14-159-1207 B
19/034/300
19/034/301
19/034/302
19/034/303
19/034/304
19/034/276
19/034/275
19/034/280
14-159-1223
14-159-1222
19.034.002 A
19.034.277 G
14-159-1221
14-159-1219
14-159-1220

Page 49

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

3.

4.

5.

19.034.270 E
19.034.271 D
19.034.272 D
19.034.273 C
19.034.300C
19.034.001
19.034.211 C
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until samples and details of the
materials to be used in the construction of all external surfaces
hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include a sample wall
panel which shall be constructed on site for all brick work
proposed, be not less than 1 metre square and be constructed on
site, inspected and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The panel shall then be left in position for comparison
whilst the development is carried out. Works shall be carried out
in accordance with the approved sample panel. Development shall
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
Before the development hereby permitted is commenced details,
including plans and cross sections, shall be submitted to and
approved by the Local Planning Authority of the existing and
proposed ground levels of the development and the boundaries of
the site and the height of the ground floor slab and damp proof
course in relation thereto. Development shall be undertaken in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure satisfactory relationship between the new
development and the adjacent buildings, amenity areas and trees
in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
policy E1 and E9.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until full details of hard and soft
landscape works have been submitted and approved. Details shall
include-where appropriate: proposed finished levels or contours;
means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle and
pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard surfacing materials;
minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play equipment,
refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, etc.); proposed and
existing functional services above and below ground (e.g.
drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines etc. indicating
lines, manholes, supports.); retained historic landscape features
and proposals for restoration, where relevant.

Page 50

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

6.

7.

8.

9.

Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans; written
specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment such as tree pits);
schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities.
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
implementation programme and in accordance with the
management plan.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development hereby permitted until a schedule of landscape
management and maintenance for a minimum period of 5 years
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan, including
long term design objectives, management responsibilities and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas and an
implementation programme, shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
management plan shall be carried out in accordance with the
implementation programme.
Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by proper
maintenance of existing and new landscape features as an
improvement of the appearance of the site and to enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the James Fuller
Arboriculture Report and Method Statement reference October
2020 JFA10259LSA V3specific attention is drawn to Part 2 at page
7 onwards of that document.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough
Revised Local Plan policy E2. TBC with Tree officer.
Tree protective measures installed (in accordance with the tree
protection condition) shall be maintained and retained for the full
duration of works or until such time as agreed in writing with the
Local Planning Authority. No activities, nor material storage, nor
placement of site huts or other equipment what-so-ever shall take
place within the barrier.
Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
All service routes, drain runs, soakaways or excavations in
connection with the development hereby permitted shall remain
wholly outside the tree protective barrier.

Page 51

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

Reason: To ensure the avoidance of damage to existing trees and
natural features during the construction phase in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan policy E2.
No development shall take place (including site clearance and any
other preparatory works) until a site meeting has taken place to
involve the Site Manager; the Project Arboriculturist and the Local
Planning Authority Arboricultural Officer. Following this meeting
tree protection barriers and other measures shall be erected and
installed in accordance with the James Fuller Tree Protection Plan
JFA102590MS.04ATTP Oct 2020 V3 prior to any other site
operations and at least three working days notice shall be given to
the Local Planning Authority that it has been erected.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with policy E2 Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan.
No construction above DPC of any dwelling hereby approved shall
commence until an Employment and Skills Plan has first been
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The
Plan shall be based on the CITB Client Based Approach (or such
other standard as may supersede it) and shall include the
requirements of the CITB schedule for residential development
that applies to the value of the development at the time the Plan is
submitted. Development shall be undertaken in accordance with
the approved details.
Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to
construction skills training having regard to policy ST1 of the Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
archaeological provisions set out in that document (edp 1574r008a dated April 2020).
Reason: To ensure the protection of heritage assets in
accordance with policy E9 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan 2016.
The roads and footways as shown on the approved plans shall be
laid out and made up in accordance with the approved details
prior to the first occupation of the development hereby permitted.
Reason: To provide appropriate pedestrian and vehicular access
in accordance with policy T1 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan 2016.
The development shall not be occupied until the areas shown on
the approved plan for the parking and turning of vehicles shall
have been made available, surfaced and marked out, with
markings to be agreed beforehand by the Local Planning
Authority. The parking and turning areas shall then be
permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all time.
Reason: To make provision for off-street parking for the purpose
of highway safety in accordance with policy T2 of the Revised
Borough Local Plan 2016.

Page 52

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

15.

Before development commences, a Construction and
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), shall be submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
CEMP shall include the following details:
i.
ii.
iii.

16.

the timing and phasing of the works and lorry routing
the incidental recovery of minerals for construction works;
the location of temporary site buildings and plant and
material storage areas,
iv.
the arrangement for construction deliveries and access
v.
dust impacts and controls
vi.
temporary construction car parking both on and off-site,
vii.
temporary lighting ,
viii. mud on the road mitigation,
ix.
a scheme for controlling noise and vibration from
demolition and construction activities (to include piling);
x.
the protection of pedestrian routes during construction,
xi.
storage of and collection of waste
xii.
controls for the volume and the quality of surface water
runoff,
xiii. watercourse crossings and any proposed diversions
(temporary or permanent),
xiv. a map or plan showing habitat areas to be specifically
protected (identified in the ecological reports) during the
works and any necessary mitigation for protected species
to include:
a. The timing of the works
b. Watercourse crossings and any proposed diversions
(temporary or permanent)
c. The measures to be used during construction in order to
minimise environmental impact of the works on habitats
(considering both disturbance and pollution prevention)
xv.
information on the persons/bodies responsible for
particular activities associated with the construction phase
xvi. method for ensuring that minerals that can be viably
recovered during the development operations are recovered
and put to beneficial use and a method to record the
quantity of recovered mineral (re-use on site or off site) and
to report this data to the MPA.
All works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
CEMP.
Reason: In the interests of amenity, highway safety and
protection of ecological features in accordance with policy LHW4,
T1 and E5 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan
20162016.
No development shall begin until a detailed surface water drainage
scheme for the site, based on the principles within the Flood Risk
Assessment & Drainage Strategy ref: 14-159, has been submitted
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
submitted details shall include:

Page 53

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

a. A technical summary, which include detailed drawings and
calculations, highlighting any changes to the design from that
within the approved Flood Risk Assessment (Option 1 or 2).

17.

18

19.

b. Groundwater monitoring between autumn and spring which
demonstrate that there will be at least 1m unsaturated zone
between the base of any infiltration features and the highest
groundwater level recorded. This should include confirmation
on how impacts of high groundwater will be managed in the
design of the proposed drainage system to ensure that storage
capacity is not lost, and structural integrity is maintained.
c. Exceedance plans demonstrating the flow paths and areas of
ponding in the event of blockages or storms exceeding design
criteria.
Development shall proceed only in accordance with the approved
details.
Reason: To ensure the development provides the satisfactory
provision of foul and surface water drainage in accordance with
policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
Details for the long-term maintenance arrangements for the
surface water drainage system shall be submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the first
occupation of any of the dwellings. The submitted details shall
include;
a. Maintenance schedules for each drainage feature type and
ownership
b. Details of protection measures.
The surface water drainage system shall be maintained and
operated in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development provides the satisfactory
provision of foul and surface water drainage in accordance with
policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016
The Mansion building shall not be occupied until information and
plans have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning
Authority detailing the provision of external lighting on the terrace
and southern elevation of the mansion building. Information shall
include hours of operation, light specification including spread
and locations. Any external lighting shall be provided only in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: in the interests of visual amenity, safety and to protect
biodiversity in accordance with policies E1, E5 and LHW4 of the
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
No development shall take place (other than any approved
demolition and site clearance works) until an assessment of the
nature and extent of any contamination and a scheme for
remediating the contamination has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
assessment shall only be undertaken by a competent person, and
shall assess the presence of any contamination on the site,
whether or not it originates on the site. The assessment shall

Page 54

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

20.

21.

22.

23.

comprise at least a desk study and qualitative risk assessment
and, where appropriate, the assessment shall be extended
following further site investigation work. In the event that
contamination is found, or is considered likely, the scheme shall
contain remediation proposals designed to bring the site to a
condition suitable for the intended use.
Such remediation proposals shall include clear remediation
objectives and criteria, an appraisal of the remediation options,
and the arrangements for the supervision of remediation works by
a competent person. The site shall not be brought in to use until a
verification report, for the purpose of certifying adherence to the
approved remediation scheme, has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To minimise the risks of pollution and to ensure the site
is satisfactorily de-contaminated in accordance with policy E8 of
the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
Construction and demolition work shall only take place between
0730 hours to 1800 hours Mondays to Fridays and 0800 hours to
1300 hours on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank
Holidays. Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of
nearby dwellings in accordance with policy LHW4 of the Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
The development shall not be occupied until the boundary
treatments detailed in drawing no DD241L04 I (comprising all
boundary treatments across the site including golf ball stop
fencing)s been provided. The boundary treatment shall be retained
and maintained at all times.
Reason: To ensure security and safety for residents of the
proposed development and users of the adjacent angling lakes
and golf club in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan 2016 Policy LHW4.
Full details of all new windows including dormers, doors and
porches shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of work. This
shall include drawings at a scale of 1:10 with appropriate
annotation. The windows and doors shall be installed in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the proposed
buildings in this location of historic interest in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E9.
The development shall not be occupied until the 'Woodland Buffer
to Stoneham Golf Club' is completed (ie. fences, gates and
signage erected) as detailed in drawing no DD241L04 I and the
Landscape, Woodland & Ecological Management Plan Rev D has
been provided. The 'woodland Buffer to Stoneham Golf club' detail
shall be retained and maintained at all times.
Reason: To ensure security and safety for residents of the
proposed development and users of the golf club in accordance
with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan 2016, policy LHW4.

Page 55

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

24.

No development shall take place unless or until the access road
permitted under Eastleigh BC application ref: R17/ 79892 has
been provided to at least base course.
Reason: To ensure the development is does not have an impact
on the function, safety, or character of and accessibility to the
local or strategic highway network or rights of way network in
accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
policy T1.
Notes to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals
focused on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents
in a positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application
advice service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may
arise in dealing with the application and where possible
suggesting solutions.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and
completed strictly in accordance with the submitted plans,
specifications and written particulars for which permission is
hereby granted or which are subsequently submitted to, and
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority and in
compliance with any conditions imposed by the Local Planning
Authority.
3.
The various trees standing within and adjacent to this site are
protected by virtue of Tree Preservation Order TPO.55.TVS.12.
Damage to the trees is an offence under the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990. Failure to comply with the tree protection
conditions above is likely to result in damage to the trees. Tree
damage may lead to the prosecution of those undertaking the
work and those causing or permitting the work.
4.
Attention is drawn to the regular bell-ringing activities at St
Nicolas Church, Stoneham Lane and the potential noise
implications.
5.
Attention drawn to legal agreement dated [date to be inserted
upon completion]
6.
The applicant's attention is drawn to the requirement within the
British Standard 'Code of practice for safe use of cranes' for crane
operators to consult the aerodrome before erecting a crane in
close proximity to an aerodrome. This is explained further in
Advice Note 4, 'Cranes and Other Construction Issues', available
at http://www.aoa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/09/Advice-Note4-Cranes-2016.pdf

Page 56

TB
m

)

1.
22

um

P at h

(
h
Test PValley
Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020
at

Pond

)
(um

Driving Range

)

Pa
th

m
(u

TheMemorial)
Shrine
(War

Pavilion

Sinks

( um
Path

Pa
th

(u

m

Jubilee Playing Field
(Football Pitch)

Track

)

1.22m TB

Home Wood

)

FB

FB
Def

mR
H

1.22 m RH

Un
d

Def
TB
n
m
Co
RH
22
1.22m
Co
1.
Footbridge
Path
(u
m
)
Kennel Copse

dy
tB
ons
ro C D B dy
o
B
&E
CP
st,

Issues

Pond

RH

1.22

(um
Path
)

0.91m RH

FW

Spreads
Und

Tank
P at h

(um

)

North
Stoneham

Tra
ck

Lake View

Und
P at
h(

Path

Issues
a
Tr

ck

um

)

Path

Ford
Shrubbery Pond

Park Pond

FB

Dr
a

in

(u
Path

m)

Drain

Path

a
Tr

FB
FB

ck

FB

FB
Trojans Sports Ground
y
Bd
st

dy
B
ED
&
P
C
t,
on
s
DeCo
f C

Banister Park
Bowling Club

Mast

CR

El Sub Sta
Tennis Courts

Pavilion

CH

Stoneham Park House

Hardmoor Playing Fields
(Recn Gd)
Walnut Cottage

[

Def

M 27

Siteplan

THIS PLOT IS PRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MATERIAL WITH THE PERMISSION OF
THE CONTROLLER OF HER MAJESTY'S STATIONARY OFFICE © CROWN COPYRIGHT
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2019

Page 57

19/02630/FULLS
Not Set

ro
Bo

on
C

Size: A1

.10

.45

+3 6

FFL
36.05

N

35.50

FFL

FFL
35.65

+3 5

FF
35.25L

FF
35.60L

.35

+3 6

.43

+3 6

FFL
36.35

.26

+3 6

THE
COURTYARD

36.15

35.50

FFL

35.21

FFL

FFL
35.65

FFL
36.35

35.00

FFL

FF
32.85L

34.82

FFL

35.00

FFL

+32.7

5

+33.0

© HGP Architects Ltd. 08/10/2020 - 14:07 - /Volumes/Developments/Year 2019/19.034 Old Mansion Site, Stoneham/2_Production/Drawings/BIM/Old mansion site TIM .pln

+3 6

FF
36.05L

.80

+3 5

FFL
36.30

FF
35.25L

.10

+3 5

.40

.95

.80

+3 4

.47

+3 5

FFL
35.95

.55

+3 4

Page 58

+3 4

FFL

0

34.40

FFL

34.25

FFL

FFL

POND

34.40

33.30

FFL

33.32

FFL

33.70

FFL

+32.40

33.30

FFL

33.30

FFL

FFL

FFL

32.70

FFL

FFL

APT

4 LOCKER

APT

5 LOCKER

FFL
32.30

FFL
32.55

APT

6 LOCKER

APT

2 LOCKER

2B4
P
100S ES
Q.M

APT

1 LOCKER

FFL
32.55

FFL
32.55

APT

3 LOCKER

FFL
32.55

1B2
55SQ P
.M

1B2
60SQ P
.M

2B4
P
95.5 ES
SQ.M

2B4
P
95.5 ES
SQ.M

+32.50

1'-3 3/4"

+32.00

2B4
P
103S ES
Q.M

WOODLAND
VIEW

32.85

32.55

MANSION
APARTMENTS

+32.50

33.30

31.91

+30.24

FFL

32.00

FFL

FFL

+32.10

FFL
31.60

+31.60

31.91

30.70

FFL

30.70

FFL

+31.85

FFL
31.60

31.15

FFL
31.60

FFL

+32.10

FFL

30.70

31.60

31.15

FFL

30.70

FFL

FFL
31.60

30.70

FFL

31.05

FFL

+29.55

84,051.5 m
m22
84,051.5

30.70

FFL

30.45

FFL

FFL
29.05

2B4P
75SQ.M

1B2P
55SQ.M

FFL
29.05

THE
SQUARE

+29.70

29.20

FFL

29.20

FFL

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

FFL

29.55

FFL

29.55

FFL

29.55

FFL

2B4P
75SQ.M

FFL

1B2P
55SQ.M

29.70

FFL
29.35

FFL

+28.85

FFL
29.35

29.70

+29.20

FFL

+28.80

+29.10

29.50

29.15

FFL

29.00

29.40

FFL

FFL

29.40

29.40

FFL

29.40

FFL

FFL

28.80

FFL

28.87

FFL

28.80

FFL

28.73

FFL

28.55

FFL

28.63

FFL

To be read in conjunction with landscape strategy
by Deacon Design & tree report by JFA

FFL
29.05

+29.40

+29.80

FFL
29.80

FFL

29.20

Park Pond

30.70

FFL

29.70

FFL

1

29.61

/

30.06

DINING

FFL

KITCHEN

FFL

/

31.60

UTILITY

FFL

STORE

33.50

1

33.50

/

LIVING

FFL

DINING

57.12

FFL

KITCHEN

area =

32.15

/

GARAGE

32.15

UTILITY

LIVING

FFL

STORE

57.12

FFL

GARAGE

area =

36.55

+28.00

+28.10

FFL

FFL

FFL

+27.90

+28.20

27.95

27.95

27.95

28.50

FFL

28.00

FFL

FFL

2B4P
70SQ.M

1B2P
51SQ.M

28.17

2B4P
71SQ.M

+28.00

2B3P
62SQ.M

+27.65

LAKESIDE
VIEW

+28.00

+27.80

FFL

FFL

FFL

FFL

VISITO
R
VISITO
R
VISITO
R

Lakeside store amended
18.09.20
Layout updated
15.09.20
Layout updated inline with
20.03.20
comments
J PLANNING ISSUE
18.10.19
I Layout updated inline with
13.09.19
client comments
Layout updated inline with
H
14.08.19
client comments
Layout updated inline with
G
09.08.19
woodland view amendments
Layout updated inline with
F
08.08.19
client comments & site visit
Layout updated inline with
23.07.19
E
client comments & site visit
D Layout updated following DTM 01.07.19
C Layout updated following DTM 11.06.19
B Updated layout following DTM 31.05.19
A & site visit

M
L
K

27.30

27.30

27.30

27.30

/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK
/ CK

TIM
TIM
TIM
TIM
TIM
TIM
TIM
TIM
CK
TIM
TIM
TIM

Lakeside landscape amended

Rev. Description

N Lakeside refuse & parking
01 court
Preliminary
amended

O

Date

25.09.20
15.05.19

08.10.20

DB

/ CB

TIM / CK
TIM / CK

TIM / CK

Shrubbery Pond

Approved Access from
Stoneham Masterplan Stage 1
R17/ 79892

Status

Dwg #

Title

Project

Revision

Scale

Drawn By/Checked By

Date

``

Preliminary
FOR INFORMATION

19.034.100

SITE LAYOUT (ROOF)

Old Mansion Site

01
O

bsi.

FS 10342

ISO
9001
Quality
Management

023 8074 8900
info@highwoodgroup.co.uk

The Hay Barn, Upper Ashfield Farm,
Hoe Lane, Romsey, Hampshire
SO51 9NJ

HGP Architects Ltd.
Copyright Reserved

01329 283 225
email@hgp-architects.co.uk
www.hgp-architects.co.uk

ARCHITECTS

1:1000@A1

TIM/CK

Furzehall Farm, Wickham Road
Fareham, Hampshire
PO16 7JH

MAY 2019

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

17

Boundary Treatment Plan

1:500 @A1

L04

provided for maintenance.
Exact location of fenceline to
be agreed on site to avoid
existing trees.

Proposed 2.0m high stock proof
fencing with access only to be

16

15

01

Proposed 2.0m high stock
proof and chicken mesh
fencing to prevent golf balls
into properties 12-20

14

13

18

12

19

11

10

9

9

10

19

11

19

n

ai

Dr

Proposed 2m high
stock proof fencing with
1m high chicken mesh to prevent golf balls into
the woodland

provided for maintenance.
Exact location of fenceline to
be agreed on site to avoid
existing trees.

Proposed 2.0m high stock proof
fencing with access only to be

V

18

18

V

11

V

10

20

V

9

Provision for 'No Entry' signage
along fenceline

V
V

21-38

V
V

8

Proposed
formal
hedgerow

7

6

5

4

8

7

6

5

3

4

3

2

1

2

7
8

6

5

4

1

3

2

1

39

39

39

Park Pond

39

V

40

Home Wood
SINC

43

43

42
42

NTS

Park Pond

L04

NORTH
STONEHAM
PARK

40

40

Location Plan

41

41

42

43

02

GOLF
CLUB

41

44-51

in

Provision for 'No Entry' signage
along fenceline

Dra

Page 59
Drain

Kennel Copse
SINC

Kennel Copse
(Pocket Park)

Local Equipped
Area of Play
400sqm

S/S

Application Site boundary

Existing estate railing to be retained

Proposed woodland access for maintenance only
(Exact location to be agreed on site)

Proposed gate access

Remnant garden wall to be retained and protected
following heritage consultant recommendations

Proposed retaining wall to terrace overlooking pond

Proposed Estate Railings to match NSP (North
Stoneham Park)

Proposed 2.0m high stock proof with 1 metre high
chicken mesh fencing to prevent golf balls into
woodland area.

Proposed 2.0m high stock proof with maintenance
access to woodland

Proposed 2.0m high stock proof and chicken mesh
fencing to prevent golf balls into properties 12-20

Proposed 1.5m high stock proof fencing to rear of
properties 9-11 and 39-41

Replace existing post and wire fence with 1.5m
high new stock proof fence
Replace existing post and wire fence with 1.5m
high new post and wire fence

Proposed 1m high chestnut post & rail fencing

Proposed 1.2m high timber closeboard fence

Boundary Treatments
Proposed 1.8m high timber closeboard fence

KEY

DESCRIPTION OF REVISION

F

G

H

I

REVISION LETTER

19.09.2019
APPROVED BY :

PD
DRAWN BY :

MM

DD241
DRAWING SCALE :

1:500
PAPER SIZE :

A1

I
Z:\Dropbox (Deacon Design Ltd)\03 PROJECTS 200+\DD241 North Stoneham Park Old Mansion
Site\04-Drawings\Autocad\L-Landscape Dwgs\DD241L04_Boundary Treatment Plan.dwg

DRAWING FILE LOCATION :

REVISION LETTER :

DRAWING NUMBER :

DD241L04

-

Boundary Treament Plan

DRAWING TITLE :

PLOT DATE :

PROJECT NUMBER :

North Stoneham Park
Old Mansion Site

PROJECT TITLE :

PD

PD

PD

PD

CHECKED BY

12a The Square, Wickham, Hampshire PO17 5JQ
Tel: 01329 557 820 Email: info@deacondesign.co.uk
Copyright Deacon Design

Landscape Architecture | Masterplanning | Urban Design

DEACON DESIGN

FOR PLANNING

DRAWING STATUS

DRAWN

MM

06.10.20
DATE

Golf course boundary treatment amended

PD
06.10.20

Lakeside View - revised layout

Golf course boundary treatment amended

PD

17.11.20

No Entry signage shown to GC boundary

PD

20.11.20

FINAL

3. All given dimensions in mm.

2. Do not scale from this drawing, always work to noted
dimensions.

1. This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all
relevant contract drawings and specifications with any
conflicting information to be brought to the attention of
Deacon Design before works commence on site.

NOTES:

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

SOUTH WEST ELEVATION

Plot 16

NORTH WEST ELEVATION

PLOT 9

SOUTH EAST ELEVATION- RENDERED

PLOT 19

SO
UTH

WE
ST

ELE

EAS
TE
LE

N

RTH

VAT
IO

NO

VAT
IO

N

KEY (NTS)

N

0

5

HOUSE TYPE 4 - 258 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 3 - 148 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 2 - 113 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 1 - 93 SQM

© HGP Architects Ltd. 18/10/2019 - 14:46 - /Volumes/Developments/Year 2019/19.034 Old Mansion Site, Stoneham/2_Production/Drawings/BIM/16.10.19 Old mansion site .pln

N

N

VAT
IO

ELE

WE
ST

OR
TH

Size: A1

EAS
T

SO
UTH

D

DE
RE

REN

N-

Page 60

ELE
VAT
IO

10

Plot 11

15

20m

FLAT BLOCK 2

FLAT BLOCK 1

ACCESS

ACCESS

Plot 10 & 9

PLOT 12

PLOT 13 & 14

To be read in conjunction with landscape strategy
by Deacon Design & tree report by JFA

Tree to be removed.
Refer to tree report by JFA

PLOT 16 & 15

ACCESS

NORTH EAST ELEVATION

GARAGE

PLOT 14 & 13

Plot 19 & 18

PLOT 15 & 16

Rev. Description

FIRST ISSUE

Coordinated with
landscape information

B
A

PLANNING ISSUE

ACCESS

C

PLOT 12

Date

13.09.19

24.09.19

18.10.19

Plot 17

ACCESS

DB

/ CB

TIM / CK

TIM/ CK

TIM/ CK

Plot 12

Status

Dwg #

Title

Project

Old Mansion Site

C

1:200 @A1

TIM/CK

SEPTEMBER 2019

PLANNING ISSUE

19.034.211

THE COURTYARD - STREET SCENES

Revision

Scale

Drawn By/Checked By

Date

GARAGE (19)

PLOT 9

bsi.

FS 10342

ISO
9001
Quality
Management

ARCHITECTS

023 8074 8900
info@highwoodgroup.co.uk

The Hay Barn, Upper Ashfield Farm,
Hoe Lane, Romsey, Hampshire
SO51 9NJ

HGP Architects Ltd.
Copyright Reserved

01329 283 225
email@hgp-architects.co.uk
www.hgp-architects.co.uk

Furzehall Farm, Wickham Road
Fareham, Hampshire
PO16 7JH

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 61

Size: A1

ST

WC

LANDING

BEDROOM 3

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

BEDROOM 1

BATH

BEDROOM 2

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

LOUNGE

HALL

ST

KEY (NTS)

N

0

© HGP Architects Ltd. 18/10/2019 - 16:31 - /Volumes/Developments/Year 2019/19.034 Old Mansion Site, Stoneham/2_Production/Drawings/BIM/16.10.19 Old mansion site .pln

To Plots 1,
4,5&8

KITCHEN / DINER

2

4

HOUSE TYPE 4 - 258 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 3 - 145 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 2 - 108 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 1 - 93 SQM / 94 SQM

6

8

10m

FLAT BLOCK 2

FLAT BLOCK 1

SIDE ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION

Description

Date

DB

/ CB

TIM / CK

01.07.19
A Preliminary
Rev.

TIM / CK

TIM / CK
06.08.19

08.08.19
B Preliminary

C Preliminary

E Updated inline with 18.10.19 TIM / CK
clients comments
TIM / CK
D PLANNING
13.09.19

SIDE ELEVATION

To Plots 1,
4,5&8

REAR ELEVATION

Status

Dwg #

Title

Project

Revision

Scale

Old Mansion Site

E

PLANNING ISSUE

19.034.270

023 8074 8900
info@highwoodgroup.co.uk

The Hay Barn, Upper Ashfield
Farm, #Client Address2
Hoe Lane, Romsey, Hampshire
SO51 9NJ

HGP Architects Ltd.
Copyright Reserved

01329 283 225
email@hgp-architects.co.uk
www.hgp-architects.co.uk

1:100@A2

ARCHITECTS

Furzehall Farm, Wickham Road
Fareham, Hampshire
PO16 7JH

TIM/CK

JUNE 2019

HOUSE TYPE 1 - FLOOR PLANS &
ELEVATIONS

Drawn By/Checked By

Date

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 62

Size: A1

UP

ST

BEDROOM 2

UP

BEDROOM 1

HALL

ST

ST

BEDROOM 3

BATH

ES

DRESSING

STUDY

W.C

UTILITY

KEY (NTS)

N

0

© HGP Architects Ltd. 18/10/2019 - 16:31 - /Volumes/Developments/Year 2019/19.034 Old Mansion Site, Stoneham/2_Production/Drawings/BIM/16.10.19 Old mansion site .pln

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

W

W

BEDROOM 4

A.C

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

LIVING

SNUG

KITCHEN /
DINING

2

4

HOUSE TYPE 4 - 258 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 3 - 145 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 2 - 108 SQM

HOUSE TYPE 1 - 93 SQM / 94 SQM

6

8

10m

FLAT BLOCK 2

FLAT BLOCK 1

SIDE ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION

/ CB

Description

Rev.

DB

TIM / CK

01.07.19
Preliminary
A

Date

TIM / CK
06.08.19

TIM / CK

TIM/ CK

Preliminary
B

D Updated inline with 18.10.19
clients comments
PLANNING
C
13.09.19

Status

Dwg #

Title

Project

Revision

Scale

D
Old Mansion Site

PLANNING ISSUE

19.034.272

023 8074 8900
info@highwoodgroup.co.uk

The Hay Barn, Upper Ashfield
Farm, #Client Address2
Hoe Lane, Romsey, Hampshire
SO51 9NJ

HGP Architects Ltd.
Copyright Reserved

01329 283 225
email@hgp-architects.co.uk
www.hgp-architects.co.uk

1:100@A2

ARCHITECTS

Furzehall Farm, Wickham Road
Fareham, Hampshire
PO16 7JH

TIM/CK

JUNE 2019

HOUSE TYPE 3 - FLOOR PLANS &
ELEVATIONS

Drawn By/Checked By

Date

SIDE ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

186

Annexes and maps

Key:

Page 63

This map is reproduced from Ordnance Survey Material with the Permission
of Ordnance Survey on behalf of the controller of her majesty’s stationery
office © Crown Copyright. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown Copyright
and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Test Valley Borough Council Licence No. 100024295 2016.

P/C

Stoneham Lane

Pedestrian / Cycle Access (P/C)

V/P/C

January 2016

¯

Not to Scale

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Vehicular Access (V)

Forest Park - Policy LHW3

Existing Woodland

Woodland Boundary

Housing and Open Space

Borough Boundary

Site Area

Policy COM5

Map D : Park Farm, Stoneham

Adopted Local Plan 2011-2029 
Test Valley Borough Council

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ITEM 8

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS

CASE OFFICER

20/00327/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
24.02.2020
Mr M Hallion, Blackwater Equestrian
Land At Oak Tree Farm, Foxes Lane, West Wellow,
SO51 6EA, WELLOW
Erection of a 28mx56m indoor equestrian arena with
associated infrastructure including new landscaping
and parking
Revised Plans- 24/06/2020
Flood Risk Assessment- 06/08/2020
Additional Flood Risk Assessment- 08/09/2020
HRA- 20/10/2020
Ecology Survey- 21/10/2020
Mr Mark Staincliffe

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of the Local Ward Councillor due to the development’s impact on
localised flooding and harm to the character and appearance of the area.

1.2

The application was previously presented to members on 17 November 2020
but was deferred for the following reason:
The Officer photographs are not considered representative of what is
present on the land. A Viewing Panel would enable an understanding of
the exact situation on the ground and the effect of the building on the
local area.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The site is located beyond the defined settlement boundary of Wellow on the
south side of Foxes Lane opposite the main Blackwater Equestrian centre. The
land is currently used for the grazing and exercising of horses and slopes
eastwards towards Foxes Lane, from which there is an existing field
gate/access.

2.2

To the South is the urban settlement of West Wellow and to the west is a fruit
farm consisting of numerous agricultural buildings and poly tunnels.

Page 64

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
Blackwater Equestrian currently provides a range of equestrian services with
onsite livery as well as professionally trained staff for the training of riders and
horses. The wider site extends to about 12 ha with majority of the land used as
fenced grass paddocks. Some of the land within the site is occupied by
permanent stables, outdoor riding arena, office solarium, tack room, wash
down area, ancillary office space, kitchen facilities, shower room and
accessible WC.

3.2

The application seeks planning permission for the erection of a 28mx56m
indoor equestrian arena utilising horizontal timber boarding and metal cladding
for the external elevations and fibre cement corrugated sheeting for the roof.
The proposal also seeks planning permission for extensive new landscaping,
car parking to ensure compliance with the Council’s parking standards and
circulation space. This facility will complement the existing equine facilities
onsite and also provide a place to ride and train during inclement weather and
when days are short during the winter months.

3.3

Though the riding arena itself measures 28m x 56m, the totality of the building
is significantly larger, measuring 34m x 62m with a ridge height of 8.455m. The
size of the building is greater than the arena as it provides a viewing area,
toilets and circulation space.

3.4

The proposal has been amended during life of the application which has seen
the following changes in the dimensions of the building:
Floor Area Measurement
Measurement Floor Area
of Riding
of
to Eaves
to Ridge
Arena
Building
As proposed 34m x 62m 5.05m
8.455m
28m x 56m
As originally 38m x
5.4m
8.65m
30m x 60m
submitted
66.5m

4.0
4.1

RELEVANT HISTORY
14/00466/FULLS - The change of use of land from agricultural to equestrian
use as a fully managed livery. The erection of a barn with three external lights
on the building, comprising 11 loose boxes, a bedding store, a solarium, a
feed room, a tack room, wash down area and ancillary office space, kitchen
facilities, a shower room and accessible WC. The erection of an outdoor
ménage 40 metres by 60 metres, widening of the existing vehicular access,
hard standing and associated works - PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED
13/05/2014.

4.2

14/01631/FULLS - Relocation of ménage and car parking area - PLANNING
PERMISSION GRANTED 28/08/2014.

4.3

15/00976/FULLS - Temporary equestrian workers dwelling and septic tank PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED 15/10/2015.

Page 65

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

4.4

15/00356/FULLS - Provision of fully managed livery including erection of barn
with external lighting, comprising 15 horse boxes, solarium, tack room, wash
down area, ancillary office space, kitchen facilities, shower room and
accessible WC, erection of standalone stable building comprising 2 horse
boxes, 1 isolation unit, and free standing timber food store, erection of outdoor
ménage 40 metres by 60 metres, widening of the existing vehicular access,
erection of entrance gateway and related lighting, hard standing and
associated works (RETROSPECTIVE).- PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED
07/01/2016.

4.5

17/ 01437/FULLS Change of use to equine, including the provision of a water
splash/jump - PLANNING PERMISSION GRANTED 22/08/2017.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Highways – No objection, subject to conditions.

5.2

HCC Ecology – No objection. The landscaping plans will act as an
enhancement for biodiversity, however, it is request that native species of local
provenance are used wherever possible. Further ecological enhancements
would also be very welcomed such as the provision of bird or bat boxes on
newly planted trees.

5.3

HCC Lead Flood Authority – No objection subject to conditions.

5.4

Landscape- No objection subject to conditions.

5.5

Ecology- No objection.

5.6

Environment Agency- No comments received.

5.7

Natural England- No objection. Based on the information provided Natural
England considers that the proposed development will not have significant
adverse impacts on designated sites.

6.0

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 16.05.2017

6.1

Wellow Parish Council – No comments received.

6.2

Public Consultation - The application generated 121 letters of objection and
26 Letters of support. A summary of the points raised are set out below:
Objection
 Harm to character and appearance of the area.
 Building too high.
 Size and scale excessive resulting in loss of local distinctiveness of the
rural lane.
 Drainage and flooding issues.
 Problems with Horse slurry.

Page 66

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020






































Visual impact of lighting both inside and outside the building (Light
pollution).
Traffic issues through more frequent vehicle movements to the site.
This is a dangerous road.
Building should be moved over the road to the existing facility.
This will lead to further development on the site in the future such as
more stables.
Opening hours should be limited.
Clearly visible from the listed building opposite.
Even if it is screened it will change the character of the landscape.
Will result in private land being used as a passing place.
Is at high risk from surface water flooding.
The building extends beyond the neighbourhood plan boundary.
No local need for it as there is already an equestrian centre further along
Foxes Lane beyond the river ford which also provides an indoor arena.
Loss of privacy as well as loss of sunlight.
Will become a brownfield site and will result in housing being built.
What will happen if this is used for events (traffic generation).
Conflict with Neighbourhood Plan.
Insufficient parking for the public events.
Conflict with the TVBRLP (outside settlement boundary).
It will result in harm to local school children walking to and leaving
school.
Harm to local wildlife.
Negative impact on Sea Trout Spawning area.
Harm to a Local SINC & Protected species.
This development proposal shows very little evidence of any net gain in
biodiversity.
Could lead to the spread of Covid-19.
The arena shown on the revised plans is too small.
Work has already started, breaking the law as a result.
FRA Inadequate.
No HRA undertaken.
No ecology survey submitted.
Results in the loss of agricultural farm land which could be used for the
production of food.
The use of the building should be controlled by legal agreement not a
planning condition.
Neighbour Notification Period expired prior to the publishing of the
Officer Report.
The proposal will result in pollution of the River Blackwater.
It is a done deal as the recommendation is for approval and works have
started on site.
The clarification statement provides larger dimensions for the riding area
than the submission.
The clarification statement indicates that more than just the horses
stabled at the site will use the proposed facility

Page 67

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020










How will planning conditions be enforced.
HRA was completed days before it was published on the Council’s
website.
Why was the ecology survey not published earlier?
No bat survey submitted.
Why have rooflights not been removed from the building and details of
external lighting not be provided.
Why are the proposed stables not shown on the submitted plans?
No details of foul sewage submitted.
The SDS report contains factual errors yet the content of the report has
been accepted and no objection raised.

6.3

Support
 Better than more houses/Solar Farms, Pigs or Poly Tunnels.
 Benefit to horse rider.
 Imperative that high calibre horses follow a consistent, stringent training
plan in order to maintain their performance and as such, this indoor
facility ensures that these plans can be fully executed.
 Indoor facility will enhance the training requirements for horse during
short days and bad weather.
 Good and sympathetic design.
 Provides a safe place to ride and train as the local roads are too
dangerous.
 Wet weather makes it difficult to ride outside and damages the land.
 Will help to support the local disabled riding association.
 Job creation need to encourage people to build.
 Noise will not be a problem.
 Upkeep of existing yard is good. No reason this building would be any
different.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(RLP)
COM2 (Settlement Hierarchy)
SD1 (Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development)
E1 (High Quality Development in the Borough)
E2 (Protect, Conserve and Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough)
E5 (Biodiversity)
E7 (Water Management)
E8 (Pollution)
E9 (Heritage)
LHW4 (Amenity)
T1 (Managing Movement)
T2 (Parking Standard).

Page 68

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

7.3

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD)
Wellow Village Design Statement 2010

8.0

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
Principle of Development
Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that
the determination of planning applications must be made in accordance with the
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

8.1

Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP states that development outside the boundaries of
settlements will only be permitted if:
a) It is appropriate in the countryside as set out in the RLP Policy COM8 –
COM14, LE10, LE16 – LE18; or
b) It is essential for the proposal to be located in the countryside.

8.2

The proposal is not of a development type that falls under any of the policy
exceptions listed in criterion (a) of Policy COM2 and therefore, the application
falls to be considered against criterion (b).

8.3

It is evident from inspecting the site that the current use of land is for the
keeping of horses and such a use is not considered an unusual prospect in the
countryside and provides a more appropriate setting than those generally
available, if at all available, within the designated settlement boundaries.
Furthermore, the land to be used for the riding arena forms part of the wider
equestrian operation taking place at the Black Water Equestrian Centre. The
new facility proposed is to complement the existing facility and allow riding in all
weather conditions and during the evening.

8.4

As a result, given that the application site would serve an existing equestrian
facility and specifically dependent on the conditions of a countryside location as
an appropriate setting, it is considered that there is an essential need for the
development to be located in the countryside. Therefore, the application is in
accordance with criterion (b) of Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP.

8.5

Design & Layout
The building’s design is fairly simple, being a rectangular shape measuring 34m
x 62m and a dual-pitched roof 8.455m to the ridge and 5.05m to the eaves.
Rooflights are proposed along both sides of the roof and various openings and
windows proposed principally on the front entrance, though emergency exits
and doors have been provided on other elevations.

8.6

The proposed scale is, admittedly, substantial and would be larger than any
other building at the site or in the immediate area, and as such it would present
as a dominant addition to the local area and landscape. However, because of its
appearance as a fairly typical agricultural building in function, scale and
appearance e.g. the use of proposed materials, and that it would form part of the
group of buildings in the immediate area and the context of existing farming
enterprises within the locality, it is considered that it would not result in
significant harm to the quality of the existing environment and would comply with
Policy E1 of TVBLP.

Page 69

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.7

Character and Appearance of the Area
The site itself has no statutory or non-statutory landscape designations. The
immediate landscape is dominated by agricultural operation and associated
paraphernalia, particularly large scale poly-tunnels used in soft fruit production
as well as the buildings associated with existing equine operation.

8.8

A public right of way runs from north to the southwest approximately 140m away
from the site. To the south, the site is surrounded by residential property
including Bridge Cottages and Meadow Close which back directly on to the
wider field. To the south west there are a number of detached properties on the
southern side of the road (Romsey Road), whilst these are set further back on
the adjacent side; they sit on higher ground with views across to the site.

8.9

The site is accessed from Foxes Lane which wraps around the east of the site
and is bounded by a mature tree lined hedgerow, with the exception of the site
entrance there are only limited views through. With the existing mature
vegetation and the proposed enhancements (with the exception of the site
entrance) any views from the east would be glimpsed and largely of the upper
parts of the building.

8.10

To the north of the site is Kings Farm, a Grade II listed building, the majority of
the land surrounding the farm house and to the north of the public right of way
are poly tunnels. From the public right of way, there are some views southwards
which are highlighted within the Landscape and Visual Appraisal (Viewpoints 3,4
and 5). Viewpoint 4 is currently the most open, however further planting has
been proposed along the right of way and additional planting on the earthworks
surrounding the building which will in time screen the majority of the
development. Any views will appear as a large agricultural building which would
not appear out of context in this landscape.

8.11

Cross sections have been submitted within the Landscape and Visual Analysis
and as part of the application which show how the new building would integrate
into the site and the wider landscape. Whilst it is a substantial building, the
proposed contouring along with the proposed soft landscaping encloses the
building and would, over time, screen views from the south and west. The
additional landscaping to the north would also help to screen views. Views of the
roof would be visible, but in time the soft landscaping should mitigate. It is also
important to note that the Landscape and Visual Analysis was based on the
original plans, the building has now been reduced in height so the proposed
landscape will nevertheless provide screening similar to that previously
modelled and assist in screening the proposed building.

8.12

With the exception of the frontage, the building has the appearance of a large
agricultural barn and this design would help the building integrate within the
wider landscape. Whilst external materials have been indicated on the plans, a
condition is recommended requiring the submission and agreement of the
materials to ensure a satisfactory external appearance is achieved. Where the
originally submitted scheme showed an extensive number of windows serving a
proposed first floor level, the first floor has now been removed and the building
is now simpler in its elevations reinforcing the view above that the resultant

Page 70

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

building is visually akin to an agricultural building. It was considered that the
plans as originally submitted provided a frontage similar to that of an
industrial/office accommodation, the removal of the first floor has simplified this
and significantly improves the overall impact on the character and appearance
of the area compared to that originally submitted.
8.13

An appropriate, indicative, landscape plan has been submitted which gives a
good understanding of what is proposed, and has informed the LVIA
assessment. However a more detailed hard and soft landscaping plan as well
as an implementation and maintenance plan is required by condition to ensure
that this is provided and is maintained to the satisfaction of the LPA. This will
include species, sizes, numbers and locations of all new soft landscaping.
Subject to these conditions, the development is considered to accord with
Policies E1 & E2 of the TVBRLP in that the proposal would not adversely affect
the character and appearance of the local area.

8.14

Amenity
By virtue of the size, bulk and mass, design of the proposal separation distance
between in and the closet residential property, the proposal would not give rise
to an adverse impact on the living conditions of neighbouring properties by
virtue of loss of daylight, sun light, overbearing impact or privacy.

8.15

Furthermore, taking into consideration the proposed use of the building and the
existing use of the land adjoining the nearest residential property, it is
considered that the proposal will not result in detrimental harm to the residential
amenities of these neighbouring properties with regards to noise disturbance –
this includes concerns related to the use of power tools that are suggested to be
used in the cleaning of the facility. The proposal is therefore in accordance with
Policy LHW4 of the TVBRLP.

8.16

Ecology
The application was accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which
allowed the applicant’s own Ecologists to consider the nature of the proposal
and the sites location and to identify the extent to which individual species would
be surveyed. This document has been reviewed by the Council’s Ecologist and
no request has been made for any survey work beyond that detailed has been
made. The County Council Ecologist has also considered the application and
does not have any adverse comment that this development would adversely
affect any statutory or locally designated sites of wildlife importance or any
legally protected or notable habitats or species.

8.17

The development site is located to the north east of West Wellow and forms part
of what is currently a grazed pasture field which offers little ecological value. The
surrounding landscape to the north of the development site is rural with
predominantly equestrian/grazed fields. There is a pond located adjacent to the
site which appears to be located within the highway boundary between the
development site and Foxes Lane. The application site does not include the land
where the pond is located. There are no existing historical records for great
crested newt (GCN) within 500m of this pond which is typically the distance
GCN would disperse within a meta-population. As the pond is next to the

Page 71

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

highway, it is likely to accept runoff from the road which tends to affect the water
quality and may make it less suitable to GCN. Furthermore, the grazed pasture
and footprint of the proposed development is unlikely to support GCN as they
are more likely to utilise the existing vegetation and edge habitat surrounding
the development site.
8.18

The existing vegetation on the border of the application site is not due to be
impacted and an existing entrance track will be utilised. Therefore, it is
considered that the risk of great crested newts utilising the site as low and
therefore the risk of breaching the legislation afforded to them is also low. As
such it would not be proportionate to request full ecological surveys for great
crested newts in this case.

8.19

Representations have been received raising concerns that the proposal will
result in harm to a local Site of Importance for Nature Conservation (SINC). This
SINC is adjacent to the Poly tunnels at Kings Farm, some 500m from the
application site. The harm alleged within the representations would come from
the flooding caused by the development and effluent runoff from the building.
As set out within the ‘Flooding’ section below- The FRA covers this issue and
subject to a planning condition the development will not result in localised or
other forms of flooding. With regards to effluent run off- This matter is discussed
within the ‘Effluent’ section below.

8.20

Concern has also been expressed that a Habitat Regulations Assessment has
not been undertaken by the Council. The Habitats Regulation Assessment
(HRA) was drafted and completed on 14 October 2020. It was not published on
that day as the officer sought the view of a colleague prior to consulting Natural
England and publishing it to the Council’s website. Natural England were
consulted on the content of the document on 20 October, allowing 21 days to
comment. 20 October is also the date that the document was published on the
Council’s website. Though the site is located in close proximity to two SINC and
is within the Mottisfont Bat Special Area of Conservation Buffer Zone it is
concluded that the scheme would have no likely significant effect on any
Internationally Designated site. Furthermore, Natural England have reviewed the
Council’s HRA as well as the ecological survey and raises no objection to the
conclusion reached, that the proposal would not adversely affect the ecological
interest at the site.

8.21

Finally, The landscaping plans will act as an enhancement for biodiversity,
however, it is necessary that any scheme utilises native species of local
provenance. Further ecological enhancements would also be welcomed such as
the provision of bird or bat boxes on newly planted trees. It is considered that
the proposal would offer bio-diversity net gain and would therefore accord with
the goals and aims of para 170 of the NPPF and Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

8.22

Effluent & Pollution
Local residents have raised concerns regarding the use of the building and the
run off of effluent from the site and, in particular, the adverse impact this could
have to the local aquatic environment, including the breeding/spawning of river
and Sea Trout and the local fishing lake.

Page 72

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.23

The points and observations raised by local residents are noted, but this is an
indoor riding facility and is not open to the elements and any waste will be
manually or mechanically removed from the building. However, that is not to say
that the local resident’s comments are not without merit, given it is important to
ensure a suitable management regime is present on site with respect to the
storage and disposal of manure and other effluent. To ensure that horse waste
is not collected and stored in inappropriate locations within the wider site, which
could cause harm, it is proposed that a condition requiring the submission of
details for the storage of manure/soiled bedding and its disposal are submitted
to the Council for approval. Subject to the imposition of this condition the
development is considered to accord with Policy E7 & E8 of the TVBRLP.

8.24

Objections have also been received with regards to the possible pollution of the
River Blackwater. As set out above, conditions are proposed to ensure that
suitable control measures for the management of manure, and surface water, to
minimise the risk of pollution to the river. Subject to compliance with those
conditions the proposal is not considered to give rise to an adverse impact of
pollution in accordance with TVBRLP Policies set out above.

8.25

Light Spill
Local residents as well as the Council’s Environmental Health team and
Landscape Officer have raised concerns regarding possible light spill from the
site and the harm that this could have on adjoining local properties as well as
the character and appearance of the area. The application doesn’t include the
provision of any external lighting and to ensure that inappropriate external
lighting is not installed a planning condition is suggested to restrict the
installation of any without the prior approval of the Council.

8.26

The purpose of the building is to allow riding and training of horses to take place
during night time as well as inclement weather, times when the building could be
used would be controlled by planning condition. Therefore some form of internal
artificial lighting will be required. However, to ensure that as much natural light
as possible enters the building during daylight hours the application proposes
roof lights. Light spilling from these during night time could have a significant,
and detrimental impact on the character and appearance of the area. As such a
condition is proposed to ensure that light spill does not occur and requiring a
management plan to be submitted. The management plan would need to clearly
explain and set out what procedures and mechanisms will be put in place to
ensure that during night time use artificial light is not visible from outside of the
building. This would include details, specifications and locations of all blinds or
other devices used to prohibit light spill. Subject to these conditions the
development is considered to accord with Policy LHW4 and E2 of the TVBRLP.

8.27

Highways
Both local residents and the Highway Authority expressed concerns with
regards to likely traffic movements to and from the proposed facility. The
Highway Officer specifically requested a Transport Statement to address his
concerns. Rather than undertaking a transport assessment the applicant’s agent
provided a rebuttal to the Highway Officer’s comments and clarified that “the
new facility was to complement the existing facility and does not intend to

Page 73

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

increase the capacity of the facility in terms of the number of head count of
horses”. He further clarified that the only increase in vehicle movements would
be through the employment of one additional full time employee which would
equate to 2 additional journeys a day. Sufficient car parking is also provided to
serve the proposed development on that basis.
8.28

As such the Highway Authority have withdrawn their objection to the proposal
subject to the imposition of a condition restricting the use of the riding arena to
the horses stabled on site or owned by the owner and immediate family
members. Subject to such a condition it is considered that the proposed
development would not result in a highway safety or capacity issue in
accordance with Policies T1 and T2 of the TVBRLP.

8.29

Flooding & Drainage
The original planning application was not accompanied by a flood risk
assessment or drainage strategy. Following an initial objection from the Local
Lead Flood Authority (LLFA) the applicant prepared and submitted a flood risk
assessment. However, further concerns were raised and the applicant issued a
further Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy. The document under
consideration is Report Ref.5261 RP01 Issue 2.

8.30

Following an initial consultation response from the LLFA additional information,
which included infiltration testing in accordance with the BRE365 together with a
detailed drainage strategy, were submitted for consideration. This additional
information addressed the LLFA’s concerns regarding Surface Water
Management and Local Flood Risk.

8.31

Members of the public have identified and are correct that there are some errors
in the report such as incorrect road names and confusion relating to the position
of the pond relative to the application site. However, the team at the County
Council have reviewed the information and are satisfied that the technical
information and evidence supporting it is correct.

8.32

As such, no objection has been raised subject to the imposition of a planning
condition relating to the provision of the drainage system in accordance with the
submitted details. The observations made by local residents are noted,
however, the FRA and the proposed recommendations and strategy provided
are sufficient and would not adversely affect flooding in accordance with
TVBRLP Policy E7.

8.33

Heritage
S16(2) and S66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas)
Act 1990 require special regard to be had to the desirability of preserving a
listed building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic
interest which it possesses. S72(1) of the Act requires special attention to be
had to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character and appearance
of that area.

Page 74

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.34

The NPPF advises that heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource and
should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Paragraph
193 of the NPPF states that when considering the impact of a proposed
development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight
should be given to the asset’s conservation. The more important the asset, the
greater the weight should be. Significance can be harmed by development
within its setting. This is consistent with the wording of Policy E9 of the TVBRLP.

8.35

The proposed development is located adjacent to a pair of Grade II listed
buildings (Stable End & Dairy End), and the separation distance from the
proposed riding arena and the nearest listed building is 50m. The properties are
separated from the application site by a garden and road.

8.36

Whilst on site and having reviewed the history of these properties it was noted
that the buildings would originally have formed a farm complex, to the north
would have been agricultural fields and the listed building being separated from
the wider field network to the north by a range of outbuildings, Two such
buildings still exist- one which is likely to be curtilage listed and one larger
building which is of modern construction. The listed buildings are no longer in
agricultural use, with the original farm enterprise ceasing in 1986.

8.37

The original farm house is now two dwellings and the historic outbuilding has
been converted into habitable accommodation. The remaining large modern
building and the small field to the east of it now appear to be partly in business
use, the land being used for the storage of caravans. The principal Blackwater
Equestrian Centre buildings and operation are also located to the immediate
North of the listed buildings, this land would have formed the immediate setting
for the listed building.

8.38

The origins of the two dwellings are apparent in the domestic character of the
house and the arrangement and detailing of the associated structures, but the
extent of the original holding is no longer clearly apparent. Due to the position of
the group within this now semi-rural area, and the extent to which the original
space around them has been eroded, the group is no longer predominantly
agricultural in character and the space around it does not contribute markedly to
their significance as heritage assets.

8.39

As set out above, what would have been the original farmstead is made up of
the main dwellings and loosely grouped collection of farm buildings of varying
ages. The modern barn, which is to the north of the properties, and the
concreted hardstanding adjoining it, indicate the extent of what would have been
the agricultural unit and are clearly visible to the north of the listed group. In this
regard the proximity of the modern farm building, caravan storage yard and the
equestrian centre, slightly further to the North, and the functional appearance of
some of its buildings already forms part of the existing setting to the listed group.

Page 75

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.40

This application seeks permission for a new building to the South East of the
listed group of buildings and would occupy part of a green field currently used
for the grazing and riding of horses. The proposed building would bring another
modern building within 50m of the range of listed outbuildings. However, subject
to the use of appropriate materials, particularly for the roof, the appearance of
the building would, when viewed from the curtilage of the listed building not be
dissimilar in appearance to other structures and modern agricultural buildings in
the locality and what one would expect to see in a rural location such as this.
The proposal would sit comfortably within the proposed site, would not appear
obtrusive. In views into the site and across what would have been the farm yard
towards the listed buildings would remain clearly distinguishable and so its
character would not be impacted by the resulting reduction in open fields
between the listed buildings and the equestrian fields.

8.41

It is therefore concluded that there is no conflict with the National Planning
Policy Framework (the Framework), nor is there conflict with Policy E9 of the
TVBRLP which seek to preserve heritage assets in a manner appropriate to
their significance.

8.42

Neighbourhood Plan
Some representations from Wellow residents have been received raising
concerns that the proposed development would not accord with the Wellow
Neighbourhood Plan (NP). As a matter of fact there is no made NP for Wellow,
having reviewed the Wellow NP website it would appear that local residents
have completed a draft vision statement, but they are some way from taking a
post consultation plan to examination. In addition a referendum would need to
be undertaken to complete the process of adopting a new NP for the
community.

8.43

Paragraph 48 of the NPPF is clear that Local planning authorities may give
weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according to:
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan
b) b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies
c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to
the NPPF

8.44

Furthermore Paragraph 49 of the NPPF states- arguments that an application is
premature are unlikely to justify a refusal of planning permission other than in
the limited circumstances where both:
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect
would be so significant, that to grant permission would undermine the
plan-making process by predetermining decisions about the scale,
location or phasing of new development that are central to an emerging
plan; and
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of
the development plan for the area.

Page 76

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.45

In this circumstance the neighbourhood plan is in its infancy and the two
scenarios listed in Para 49 are not applicable. As such no weight can be
afforded to the emerging neighbourhood plan in the determination of the
application.

8.46

Unlawful Development
Objections and concerns have been submitted to the Council regarding alleged
unauthorised works on site and development commencing prior to the planning
application being determined.

8.47

It is important to note that Section 73A of the Town and Country Planning Act
specifically accommodates the submission of retrospective applications. The Act
is clear that any such application should be considered on its merits.
Undertaking works without first obtaining planning permission is not an offence,
but any works undertaken are done so at the owners own risk and were
planning permission not to be obtained the land owner may be required to return
the land back to its previous condition.

8.48

This matter has been referred to the Council’s planning enforcement team and
the land owner has assured the Council that no further development will be
undertaken on site unless planning permission is granted.

8.49

Concern has also been expressed about the proposed use of the building. The
use of the building is as set out in the committee report and its use is to be
controlled by the planning conditions. If activity at the site were to be undertaken
in breach of any planning conditions, and the LPA were made aware of such a
breach, an enforcement investigation would be undertaken and that process
might also involve other specialist Officers and organisations depending on the
nature of the alleged breach. For example, consultation with the Hampshire
County Council Highway Engineers if the breach was perceived to impact on
highway safety. Proportionate action may then be taken if a breach was
identified. Any such complaint received by the Council will be investigated by the
Council’s planning enforcement team who are responsible for the investigation
of alleged breaches of planning control. On receipt of any complaint the
enforcement team would investigate the matter and take appropriate action.

8.50

Other Matters
As can been seen in Paragraphs 6.2 & 6.3 there have been a significant number
of neighbour representations for and against the proposal. Majority of these
matters have been address above. However, matters such as the need for the
development due to competition from other facilities and the impact on the
spread of COVID-19 are not material or should be afforded little weight in the
planning balance. Matters such as the possibility of the site being redeveloped
for housing in the future and the possible future development on the site (such
as additional stables) are not matters being sought permission for and are
therefore also not material to the determination of this application. Were an
application to be submitted for such development it would be considered on its
own merits.

Page 77

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.51

It has been suggested that the use of a planning condition is not sufficient to
control the use of the building and it has been suggested that this should be
controlled by a legal agreement between the owner and Council. The NPPF
clearly states planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible
to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. In this
circumstance the comments of local residents are noted with regards to the use
of the building. However the condition restricting the use of the building meets
the six tests and it would therefore not be acceptable or in accordance with the
NPPF to secure this matter through a legal agreement.

8.52

Concern has also been raised that the proposal will see the loss of agricultural
land from agricultural production. Chapter 15 of the NPPF requires decision
makers to consider the economic and other benefits of the best and most
versatile (BMV) agricultural land, and try to use areas of poorer quality land
instead of higher quality land. Within the glossary of the NPPF it states that BMV
is Grade 1, 2, & 3a. Having referred to the Natural England Agricultural Land
Classification map it is clear that the land is question is classified as grade 4.
The proposal does not therefore result in the loss of any BMV and as such there
is no conflict with the aims and goals of the NPPF on this particular matter.

8.53

The applicant has provided a clarification statement which has resulted in further
concerns being expressed by local residents. This document does provide the
measurements of the internal riding area as originally proposed. These
measurements are not the measurements of the development being considered
under this application, given the proposal changed during the course of it being
determined. Were planning permission to be granted it would have to be
constructed in accordance with the approved plans and the measurements
stipulated within the conditions below. The clarification statement is not a
backdoor route to obtaining planning permission for a larger internal riding area.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section
70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 states that “determination
must be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise”.

9.2

It is agreed that the settlement boundaries are not out of date and nor are the
associated policies. As relevant policies in the plan are not absent, silent or out
of date an ordinary, straight planning balance can be undertaken.

9.3

In undertaking the balance it is necessary to first identify the development plan
position. In particular the conclusion that there would not be a conflict with
COM2 as the proposal is considered to be essential.

9.4

The scheme would, due to its size scale, location and landscaping, have a
neutral impact on the landscape character of the area and thus conforms with
Policy E2 of the local plan it would also conform with the Council’s parking
standards and there is no objection raised with regards to highway safety.

Page 78

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

9.5

In social terms, it would complement the existing equine facility and allow
exercise and training to take place during longer hours and during inclement
weather. This is a matter that should be afforded moderate weight in the
planning balance.

9.6

In environmental terms, it is suggested that the scheme offers opportunities for
enhancement through landscaping. However, additional landscaping is required
to mitigate the proposed development within the site. This should be afforded no
weight.

9.7

The proposal would however offer some ecological benefits through the
provision of extensive landscaping and land management towards the edge of
the site. This is a benefit of the scheme.

9.8

In economic terms, the scheme would provide construction jobs and some local
investment during its build out. Albeit that these jobs and investment would be
transitory and limited due to the level of development proposed. Furthermore, it
would secure employment within the site for an extra staff member to operate
the facility. This a matter to which moderate weight in the planning balance.

9.9

With regards to Policy E3- The proposal would result in development on land
that is currently an open field and therefore diminish openness within the
immediate area but this would be limited to the immediate site rather than the
wider area. The purpose and integrity of the local plan policy would be
maintained in this instance and there would be no conflict with policy. The
benefits outlined above are considered to be sufficient to outweigh the very
limited harm that has been identified above. The public interest is best met by
resolving to approve the application and in accordance with Paragraph 11 of the
NPPF permission should be granted without delay.

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years
from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in
2.
accordance with the following approved plans:
P19-036-02-05-001A
P19-036-02-03-001A
P19-036-02-02-002C
P19-036-02-02-001D
P19-036-02-04-001C
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of
proper planning.
3.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until full details of hard and soft landscape works have
been submitted and approved. Details shall include:
proposed finished levels or contours;
i)
means of enclosure;

Page 79

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ii)
iii)
iv)

4.

5.

6.

hard surfacing materials;
planting plans;
written specifications (including cultivation and other operations
associated with plant and grass establishment);
v)
schedules of plants, noting species, plant sizes and proposed
numbers/densities;
vi)
programme of implementation
vii)
Existing and proposed ground levels. To include cross sections
of the proposed bunds clearly identifying existing ground levels.
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details and the implementation programme, which shall be
undertaken no later than the first planting season (November – March)
following first use of the facility.
Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies E1 and E2.
The development shall not be used or occupied until a schedule of
landscape management and maintenance for a minimum period of
10; years has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The landscape management plan shall include
long term design objectives, management responsibilities and
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas. The landscaping
shall be maintained in accordance with the approved schedule. Any
trees or planting that are removed, die or become, in the opinion of
the Local Planning Authority, seriously damaged or defective within
this period, shall be replaced before the end of the current or first
available planting season following the failure, removal or damage of
the planting.
Reason: To enable the development to respect, complement and
positively integrate into the character of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies E1 and E2.
No development shall take place above DPC level of the development
hereby permitted until samples and details of the materials to be used
in the construction of all external surfaces hereby permitted have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development would integrate, respect and
complement the character of the area in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
Prior to the first use of the approved building a roof light, door and
window management plan shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The management plan shall
clearly explain and set out what procedures and mechanisms will be
put in place to ensure that during night time use artificial light is not
visible from outside of the building. This must include details,
specifications and locations of all blinds or other devices used to
prohibit light spill. Once approved the plan shall be implemented and
thereafter retained in perpetuity and the artificial lighting shall not be
used during darkness unless the procedures are implemented in full.

Page 80

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E8.
No external lighting shall be installed unless in accordance with
details that have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The details shall include plans and details
sufficient to show the location, type, specification, luminance and
angle of illumination of all lights/luminaires and a light spread
diagram.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of the area in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E8.
The drainage system shall be constructed in accordance with the
Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy Ref: 5261-RP01 ISSUE 2.
Any intended changes undertaken to the approved drainage scheme
shall be first submitted to and approved in writing by Local Planning
Authority. The revised details submitted shall include a technical
summary highlighting any changes, updated detailed drainage
drawings and detailed drainage calculations. Development shall then
be undertaken in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory on-site management of surface
water is installed to minimise the risk of flooding both on- and offsite, in accordance with Policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016).
The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied or brought
into use until, the car parking spaces, have been provided in
accordance with the approved plans. The areas of land so provided
shall be retained at all times for this purpose.
Reason: To ensure sufficient off-street parking has been provided in
accordance with the Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)
Policy T2 and in the interest of highway safety in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
The development hereby permitted shall be for the exclusive use of
horses stabled at the wider site, known as ‘Blackwater Equestrian’
and for no other commercial purpose whatsoever, including but not
limited to use for competitions and training of horses not stabled on
site.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to protect the living
conditions of nearby residents in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policies T1 and E8.
The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until
details of the storage of manure and soiled bedding (including the
location of such storage) and its disposal from site (including
frequency) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority, and; the works for such storage and
disposal have been completed in accordance with the approved
details. The approved storage area shall subsequently be maintained
in accordance with the approved details. No storage of manure and
soiled bedding shall take place outside of the storage area approved
under this condition.
Reason: In the interests of public health and safety, in order to
protect the natural environment and prevent pollution in accordance
with Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E7 and E8.

Page 81

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

12

The use building and riding facility hereby permitted shall only open
for use between the hours of 07:00 and 21:30 Monday to Sunday.
Reason: In the interest of the amenities of the local area and
residents in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan (2016) Policy E8.
Note to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has had
regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting solutions.

Page 82

Pa
t

h

(u

m

)

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

21.3m
Pond

Hatches Farm

Hog House
Pond
( um

)

Dairy
End

FO
X

ES

LA

NE

Pat
h

Stable End

1

21.3m

(Recn Gd)
Bridge Cottages

LOS E

10

Ambleside

12

11

War Meml
25.0m
ROMSEY ROAD

24.1m

10 8
9 7

Mea

dow

Tennis
Courts

22.6m

The Maples
Tulluce

6

OW C
M EA D

7

1

5

Tennis
Courts

GP

View

Old Well House
Ipsley-Croft
Swithuns Green

28

Crossmead

19.8m
Linderhof
Bridge Farm

Bridge End

Lilac
Cottage

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

Not Set20/00327/FULLS
Page 83

Scale: 1:2,500

West Wellow, Romsey

Page 84

Site plan 1:200

1:200

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

1:500
0

5

10

15

20

25

Block plan 1:500

Blackwater Equestrian

Existing site plan

Proposed Indoor Arena at:
Blackwater Equestrian,
West Wellow, Romsey, SO51 6EA

Planning Application

NORTH

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor
will be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting
out and checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

June 2019

PA

1:200;1:500@A1
1:1000@A3

CM

02-91-001A

P19-036

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 85

Proposed side elevation (West) 1:100

Proposed side elevation (East) 1:100

Proposed front elevation (North) 1:100

Blackwater Equestrian

Proposed rear elevation (South) 1:100

Blackwater Equestrian

Proposed elevations

Proposed Indoor Arena at:
Blackwater Equestrian,
West Wellow, Romsey, SO51 6EA

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor
will be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting
out and checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

June 2019

PA

1:100@A1
1:200@A3
CM

02-05-001A

P19-036

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 86

0

1

2

3

4

5

Proposed riding arena
28m x 56m

Viewing area

Roller shutter

Roller shutter
Viewing area

wall
omitted in
open
viewing
area

Viewing
Area

vending
wall
omitted in
open
viewing
area

Covered
walkway/
Entrance

Dis. wc

wc

Public
area

Blackwater Equestrian

Proposed floor plans

Proposed Indoor Arena at:
Blackwater Equestrian,
West Wellow, Romsey, SO51 6EA

June 2019

PA

1:100@A1
1:200@A3
CM

02-02-001A

P19-036

A 04/06/20 FIRST FLOOR REMOVED. BUILDING REDUCED BY 4M IN LENGTH AND 2M IN
WIDTH.

NORTH

1:100

Ground floor plan 1:100

Viewing area

Roller shutter

Blackwater Equestrian

Planning Application

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor
will be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting
out and checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

1:200

0

1

2

3

5

A

4

6

7

8

9

10

Site plan 1:250

Site plan section 1:200

1:250

Page 87

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Post and rail fence

Landscape bund

Blackwater Equestrian

NORTH

A'

Blackwater Equestrian

Proposed site section A-A'

Proposed Indoor Arena at:
Blackwater Equestrian,
West Wellow, Romsey, SO51 6EA

Planning Application

This drawing is copyright and is not to be reproduced. The contractor
will be held responsible for the accuracy of works involving the setting
out and checking of all dimensions on the drawing and on site.
Dimensions must not be scaled from this drawing.

CM

PA

June 2019
1:200
1:250 @A1

02-04-001C

P19-036

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Proposed indoor arena

Parking and
turning area

26

.0

Page 88

25

.0
24

25

.0

23.0

B

Power cables on timber
pylons

EP

22.0

+24.70

22.0

.0

Gentle mounding on west /
southwest side formed to
look as natural as possible

24

27

A

EP

+21.40
+21.60

EP

AN

+26.70

Hedgerow / woodland style planting
provides enclosure and screening
from footpath to northwest

SL
XE

Potential reroute for gallops
if required in future

PADDOCKS
FO

EP

This drawing is subject to copyright.

NOTES:

EP

EP

5m clear zone with
no tree planting

Surface treatment to be
discussed

A'

Refer to Figure 5 for
sections

Wildflower planting on banks
promotes biodiversity

Pond

B'

Supplementary planting
provides additional
screening from Foxes Lane

20m

description

rev

E

.0
23

.0

scale

chk

CB
CB

WWW.INDIGOLANDSCAPE.CO.UK

1:1000@A3

by

MH
MH

NORTH

INDIGO LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTS LIMITED

ENQUIRIES@INDIGOLANDSCAPE.CO.UK

A
TEL. 01722 340140

status

PLANNING

revision

drawing number

date

60m
Scale 1:1000

2020-01-09
2019-12-09

40m

869-MP-01

LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN

drawing title

BLACKWATER EQUESTRIAN

client

BLACKWATER EQUESTRIAN

project

Minor amendment
FIRST ISSUE

© Getmapping plc 2019.

Metres

0

Permeable holding yard surface to be agreed

Proposed permeable block paving to paths to match
existing facility

Proposed gravel surface to parking / turning area to
match existing facility

Grass

Wildflower areas on lower banks

Proposed woodland mix / tree planting. Trees to be a
mix of smaller feathered and larger standard specimens

Existing vegetation on and surrounding the Site

Proposed landscape bund

A
-

KEY:

INDIGO

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

.0

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ITEM 9

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL

AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

20/02195/VARS
VARIATION OF CONDITIONS - SOUTH
15.09.2020
Trusty Tufty Limited
Blue Hayes , Salisbury Road, Shootash, SO51 6GA,
WELLOW
Vary conditions 02, 04, 05, 06 and 10 of
19/02002/FULLS (Conversion to dwelling, erection of
dwelling, and construction of access) to allow erection
of garage and lean-to associated with Plot 1, and
alterations to the west elevation and internal layout of
Plot 1 and tailoring conditions to each plot
Amended plans received 15.10.20
Mr Paul Goodman

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a Member for the reason that it raises issues of more than local
public interest.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
The application site is situated to the north eastern side of Salisbury Road and
within the countryside area of Shootash, within Wellow parish. The site was
last in use as a restaurant, now closed, and includes ancillary manager’s
accommodation. The site is subject to an extant permission for conversion of
the restaurant to a dwelling and the erection of a new dwelling.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
The application proposes the variation of conditions 02, 04, 05, 06 and 10 of
19/02002/FULLS (Conversion to dwelling, erection of dwelling, and
construction of access) to allow erection of garage and lean-to associated with
Plot 1, and alterations to the west elevation and internal layout of Plot 1 and
tailoring conditions to each plot.

3.2

The site was formerly occupied by a restaurant and managers
accommodation. Permission 19/00741/FULLS allowed for change of us of the
restaurant area to form two dwellings. The current permission
19/02002/FULLS permitted conversion of the restaurant to a single dwelling
and the erection of a further dwelling on land to the southeast. It is this
permission that the application seeks to amend.

Page 89

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

3.3

The most significant change is the proposed addition of a garage to serve the
dwelling formed from the restaurant. In addition there are some small changes
to fenestration on this building. The previously permitted plans for the new
building dwelling are unchanged.

3.4

As the current permission proposed both elements of the development the
conditions applied to both dwellings. The current application seeks to tailor the
conditions to each specific plot to allow the conversion works to the former
restaurant building to be undertaken first with the condition discharges for the
new building dwelling to be considered separately.

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
19/02002/FULLS - Conversion to dwelling, erection of dwelling, and
construction of access. Permission 29.01.2020.

4.2

19/00741/FULLS - Conversion of restaurant (Class A3) to 2 dwellings.
Permission 21.05.2019.

4.3

07/00236/FULLS - Change of use of land to provide log cabins for bed and
breakfast accommodation ancillary to restaurant. Refused 08.05.2007.

4.4

TVS.00302/3 - Outline: Extension to and conversion of part of property to C1
use in addition to the existing restaurant use. Refused 11.08.1999.

4.5

TVS.00302/2 - TVS.302/2 Outline: Staff dwelling - land adjacent to the Blue
Hayes Restaurant, Salisbury Road, Wellow. Refused – 21.04.1981. Appeal
dismissed – 27.11.1981.

4.6

TVS.00302/1 Front cloakroom extension - Blue Hayes Restaurant, Salisbury
Road, Shootash. Permission subject to conditions – 04.08.1980.

4.7

TVS.00302 Dwelling house - adjoining Blue Hayes, Salisbury Road, Shootash,
Wellow. Refused - 09.10.1974.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Planning & Building (Landscape) – Objection (to original submission);
 The proposals for the double garage are not considered acceptable in
their currently proposed location, as they partially obscure the front of
the residential property (a traditional thatched cottage, that is locally
distinctive) in Plot 1. When viewed from the perspective of drivers
travelling West from Shootash along Salisbury Road the garage will
partially obscure views of the frontage of the proposed new dwelling in
Plot 2.
 In relation to the wider landscape, there are no-objections to the
proposed revisions.
 Tree protection will continue to be implemented in accordance with
approved Tree Protection Plan from application 19/02002/FULLS.
 There are no objections to the plant species, planting methods and
establishment, as shown on Plan A20-265-P-001: Landscape
Proposals.

Page 90

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020





The long-term management of the hedge proposes an ultimate hedge
height of 4m, cut annually. This does not match up with the cross
sections which show low hedges at heights of 1-1.2m. If a formally
maintained hedge is preferred, then maintenance and establishment to
an ultimate height between 1.5-1.8m would better suit the site.
Materials and hard surfacing for Plot 1 are also shown on the
Landscape Proposals and are acceptable, being predominantly a
retention of existing hard surfacing that occurs on site.

5.2

HCC Highways – No objection.

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 15.11.2020
Wellow Parish Council – Objection;
 Object to this application on the basis of it being out of character.

6.2

Kingsclere, Salisbury Road – Objection;
 The dwelling is Very Large and High (4.8 mtrs) and close to the road
and overhead electricity cables.
 Do not want this to block light in the winter months to my property.
 There should be restrictions to prevent future permission to convert this
garage to another dwelling in the front of the property.
 There should be restrictions to prevent the position of the garage being
changed to be built closer to my property.
 There should be restrictions to prevent any further development which
could impede on my property, by being built any closer to my boundary
 There should be restrictions to prevent any windows on the front, being
the northwest elevation facing my property.
 The roof of the garage is not thatched which shields the beauty of the
two thatched properties, being my own Kingsclere as well as the Blue
Hayes itself.

6.3

Troy House, Salisbury Road – Objection;
 Object to the proposed garage on Plot 1, on the grounds that it poorly
sited within the building plot and of too large a scale in relation to the
main dwelling frontage. Further that it's placement to the front of the
main house is out of keeping with the character of the street scene.
 Object to the proposal on what is known as Plot 2. The proposed
building, whilst attractive in the right place, is totally out of character in
this prominent position in the street. It is also out of character in the
proximity of at one nearby listed building, Longdown.

6.4

Unknown Address – Objection;
 Object to the placement of such large building (garages) close to the
road which we believe will be the overwhelming vista from the road.
 This has historically been a family restaurant run by local people and
the thatched property, set back from the road with the trees directly
behind it is a local landmark.

Page 91

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020




I believe the garages are unnecessary (why were they not submitted
with the original application?).
I also consider that the development will be prone to future development
with requests for permission to convert to living in all or part.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
National Planning Policy Framework 2019 National Planning Policy
Framework.

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) (TVBRLP) COM2
(Settlement Hierarchy), COM12 (Replacement Dwellings in the Countryside),
E1 (High Quality Development in the Borough), E2 (Protect, Conserve and
Enhance the Landscape Character of the Borough), E5 (Biodiversity), E7
(Water Management), E8 (Pollution), E9 (Heritage), LHW4 (Amenity), T1
(Managing Movement), T2 (Parking Standard).

8.0

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The conditions the primary subject of this application is condition 10 (Approved
Plans) of the permission which required works to be undertaken in accordance
with the approved drawings. Specifically the proposals would result in the
addition of a garage to serve Plot 1 in addition to some minor alterations to
fenestration. In addition variations are proposed to conditions 2 (Materials), 4
(Parking), 5 (Access) and 6 (Landscape) in order to separate the approvals of
Plots 1 & 2 to allow them to be brought forward separately. As a result the
main planning considerations are the principle of the variation and compliance
with policy E1 and E2 with regard to the impact on character.

8.1

Principle of variation
Section 73 of the 1990 Town and Country Planning Act has regard to the
variation of conditions and facilitates the submission of applications for
planning permission for the development of land without complying with
conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted.

8.2

On such an application the local planning authority shall consider only the
question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be
granted, and if they decide that planning permission should be granted subject
to conditions differing from those subject to which the previous permission was
granted, or that it should be granted unconditionally, they shall grant planning
permission accordingly, and if they decide that planning permission should be
granted subject to the same conditions as those subject to which the previous
permission was granted, they shall refuse the application.

8.3

Approved Plans
The condition (10) of 19/02002/FULLS the subject of this application relates to
approved plans and requires development to be undertaken in accordance
with those plans. The proposed variation would result in the replacement of
those plans relating to the conversion of the former restaurant (Plot 1) to
include the provision of a garage to the front of the property. External

Page 92

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

alterations to the existing building are limited to the insertion of French-style
door openings to serve the master bedroom and kitchen and the removal of a
timber stud wall forming the enclosed courtyard area. No change is proposed
to the development of Plot 2.
8.4

The proposed garage is single storey garage is located to the front of the site
between the converted building and the highway. The proposed materials are
comprised of a brickwork plinth with softwood weatherboard cladding and plain
clay roof tiles.

8.5

Representations have raised concern with regard to the location and design of
the proposed garages in relation to the former restaurant building. Specifically
its location forward of the building and the proposed materials. Similar
concerns have been raised by the Landscape Officer in relation to the
proposed garages obscuring views of the thatched building.

8.6

The site is located outside the settlement boundary within the countryside;
however it has no further landscape designations. The closest public right of
way is located over 100m to the north. As a result of the neighbouring
properties and mature planting no views of the site are available from the right
of way. The site is bordered to the south and west by mature woodland and as
a result public views of the site are limited to those from the adjacent highway.
Currently the site has some prominence as a result of the large gravel parking
area associated with the former restaurant use and the notably more open
frontage compared to neighbouring residential properties characterised by a
low brick wall and limited planting. By comparison the neighbouring residential
properties are characterised by mature boundary planting adjacent the
highway.

8.7

Whilst the proposed garage is situated forward of the converted property its
size is considered suitably subservient. Representations have raise concern
that the proposed materials, specifically the lack of a thatch roof, would be out
of character with the host building and neighbouring property. However it is not
unusual for outbuildings associated with thatched cottages to have other roof
materials and the proposed clay tiles and predominantly timber elevations are
not out of keeping in the rural area. In addition the overall scheme allows for
the removal of the large area of gravel parking associated with the previous
restaurant use and the addition of new landscaped areas better in keeping with
the neighbouring residential properties.

8.8

Views of the garage when approaching the site form the northwest or
southeast would be predominantly obscured by the adjacent boundary planting
and wider woodland. In addition a new hedgerow frontage is proposed to
replace the existing low wall. The Landscape Officer raised some initial
concern with regard to the proposed height of the hedgerow and the scheme
has subsequently been amended to provide for a maintained height between
1.5m and 1.8m. The enhanced front boundary planting would further limit the
impact of the proposed garage.

Page 93

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.9

The conversion works to the existing building remain modest with the
additional external works beyond the previous permission limited to the
addition of to the insertion of French doors to serve the master bedroom and
kitchen, along with the removal of a timber stud wall forming the enclosed
courtyard area. The volume and form of the existing building would remain
unchanged.

8.10

Overall the proposed development is considered to represent an improvement
in the landscape character of the site and, combined with the lack of any
changes to the well designed new development would not be more visually
intrusive in the landscape. As a result the proposals are considered to comply
with criterion b) of Policy COM12 and policies E1 and E2 of the TVBRLP. As a
result the proposed amendments to condition 10 to reflect the revised plans
are considered acceptable.

8.11

Other Conditions
The proposed changes to the other conditions are intended to allow the plots
to be brought forward independently of each other. This is acceptable in
principle but some of the conditions cannot be amended in the exact terms
proposed for the reasons highlighted below.

8.12

Condition 2 – Materials
The application proposes an amendment to condition 2 to require the
submission of material samples in the relation to Plot 2 only. Whilst the pallet
of materials proposed for the new garage is acceptable no samples are
provided. As a result the condition has been amended to continue to apply to
Plot 1 but only as it relates to the new garage.

8.13

Condition 4 – Parking
The application proposes an amendment to condition 4 to require the
submission of parking details the relation to Plot 2 only on the basis that the
parking area for Plot 1 is formed from the existing parking associated with the
former restaurant use. Whilst this is indeed the case it is important that the
condition continues to require the retention of the parking area. As a result it
has been amended to require provision of the parking as shown on the
approved plans but to allow the two plots to be occupied once parking for that
plot has been provided.

8.14

Condition 5 – New Access
This condition relates to the new access which is to serve Plot 2 only and as
such there is no objection to its amendment to relate to that plot only.

8.15

Condition 6 – Landscape
Condition 6 as originally worded requires the submission of landscape details
prior to development above damp proof course (DPC) level of the
development. The variation application has been supported by landscape
details in relation to Plot 1, which have been revised in accordance with the
Landscape Officers advice. As a result there is no issue with the variation of
condition 6 to relate to Plot 2 only. However an additional condition (11) is
applied to require the development of Plot 1 to be undertaken in accordance
with the submitted landscape details.

Page 94

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.16

Previously Applied Conditions
Other than those conditions the subject of the application all of the previously
applied conditions, requiring the approval of further details or controlling
ongoing use of the site, remain relevant and necessary and have been
reapplied.

8.17

Ecology & Biodiversity

8.18

Protected Species
Condition 3 re-applied to secure the enhancement features detailed in section
5 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. Subject to the required condition the
proposals are considered to comply with Policy E5 of the TVBRLP.

8.19

New Forest SPA
The proposed development will not result in a net increase in dwellings at the
site. The required contributions for the conversion application
(19/00741/FULLS) were made by direct payment prior to the issue of that
permission and therefore no further mitigation is required.

8.20

Nitrate Neutrality
The river Test and its major tributaries flow into the river Solent. The Solent
region is one of the most important for wildlife in the United Kingdom and is
protected as such. There are currently high levels of nitrogen and phosphorus
input into this water environment and there is evidence to suggest that this is
having a detrimental impact on the biodiversity of this area. Housing and other
certain types of development are currently contributing negatively towards this
issue and there is evidence that further development would exacerbate this
impact unless it can be shown that development can demonstrate nutrient
neutrality. In this case the proposed development would not result in a net
increase in dwellings and therefore, in accordance with the advice produced by
Natural England (June 2019) is considered to be nitrate neutral.

8.21

Other Matters
Representations have raised concern that the proposed garage could be
converted to a spate dwelling in the future and advocated for restrictions to be
applied on the location or principal of future development at the site. However
such works, beyond any permitted development, would require planning
permission in their own right and do not form part of the current application.
The potential for any future development is not material to the determination of
the current application.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The variation of the conditions is considered to have no significant adverse
impact on landscape character and will allow the two plots to be developed
independently. Subject to the imposition of a revised conditions, an additional
landscape condition, and the re-imposition of conditions reflecting those
previously applied the variation is considered to comply with the relevant
policies of the TVBRLP and is acceptable.

Page 95

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

10.0 RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three years
from the date (29th January 2020) of the original permission
19/02002/FULLS.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development of Plot 2 or the Plot 1 garage hereby permitted until
samples and details of the materials to be used in the construction
of all external surfaces of that element hereby permitted have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved details.
Reason: To ensure the development has a satisfactory external
appearance in the interest of visual amenities in accordance with
Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.
3. Development shall proceed in accordance with the measures set out
in the Mitigation and Enhancement section 5 of the Preliminary
Ecological Appraisal (Peach Ecology, March 2019) unless otherwise
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the
enhancements shall be permanently maintained and retained in
accordance with the approved details.
Reason: To enhance biodiversity in accordance with Policy E5 of
the Test Valley Revised Local Plan 2016, the NPPF and the Natural
Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.
4. No individual plot shall not be occupied until space associated with
that plot has been laid out and provided for the parking and
manoeuvring of vehicles to enable them to enter and leave the site in
a forward gear in accordance with the approved plan and this space
shall thereafter be reserved for such purposes at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
5. Prior to the commencement of development the new access to Plot 2
shall be constructed with the visibility splays of 2.4 by 120 metres
and maintained as such at all times. Within these visibility splays
notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking
and re-enacting that Order) no obstacles, including walls, fences and
vegetation, shall exceed the height of 1.0 metres above the level of
the existing carriageway at any time.
Reason: In the interest of highway safety in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy T1.
6. No development shall take place above DPC level of the
development of Plot 2 hereby permitted until full details of hard and
soft landscape works have been submitted and approved. Details
shall include-where appropriate: proposed finished levels or
contours; means of enclosure; car parking layouts; other vehicle
and pedestrian access and circulation areas; hard surfacing

Page 96

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

materials; minor artefacts and structures (e.g. furniture, play
equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, etc.);
proposed and existing functional services above and below ground
(e.g. drainage, power, communications cables, pipelines etc.
indicating lines, manholes, supports.); retained historic landscape
features and proposals for restoration, where relevant.
Soft landscape works shall include: planting plans; written
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated
with plant and grass establishment); schedules of plants, noting
species, plant sizes and proposed numbers/densities.
The landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the
implementation programme and in accordance with the management
plan.
Reason: To improve the appearance of the site and enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
7. The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the Hellis arboriculture
and landscape design Arboricultural Tree Report reference
19/09/157/NH dated December 2019.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2.
8. On first occupation of the replacement dwelling hereby permitted the
existing building known as Blue Hayes shall only be occupied as a
single residential dwelling in accordance with the approved plans
and for no other purpose.
Reason: In order ensure no net increase in residential dwellings in
the countryside in accordance with policy COM2 of the Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan 2016.
9. The development hereby approved shall be designed and built to
meet Regulation 36 2 (b) requirement of 110 litres/person/day water
efficiency set out in part G2 of Building Regulations 2015.
Reason: In the interests of improving water usage efficiency in
accordance with policy E7 of the Test Valley Borough Revised Local
Plan 2016.
10. The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted plans,
numbers:
242-D-01
242-D-02
242-D-04
242-D-05
242-D-06
242-D-09
242-D-10
242-D-11
242-D-12

Page 97

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

242-D-14
242-D-15
242-D-16 A
242-D-17 A
242-D-18 A
242-D-19 A
242-D-21
242-D-22
242-D-23 A
242-D-24
A20-265-P-002
A20-265-P-003
A20-265-P-001
A20-265-P-100
A20-265-P-101
A20-265-P-200
242-D-20
A20-265-P-102
A20-265-P-004 A
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
11. Landscape implementation, management and maintenance for a
minimum period of 5 years in relation to Plot 1 shall be undertaken in
accordance with the specifications on the approved Landscape Plan
ref A20-265-P-004 A. Any plants which die within the first 5 years
shall be replaced.
Reason: To ensure the provision of amenity afforded by proper
maintenance of existing and new landscape features as an
improvement of the appearance of the site and to enhance the
character of the development in the interest of visual amenity and
contribute to the character of the local area in accordance with Test
Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1 and E2.
Notes to applicant:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out and
completed strictly in accordance with the submitted plans,
specifications and written particulars for which permission is hereby
granted or which are subsequently submitted to, and approved in
writing by, the Local Planning Authority and in compliance with any
conditions imposed by the Local Planning Authority.
2. In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.

Page 98

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Track

Troy
House
Un
d

Longdown
Cottage

N
ew

la

nd

s

ef
D

Pump

K

g
in

le
sc

re

B

e
lu

H

ay

es

ar
W
d
Bd
y

67.1m

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

Not Set20/02195/VARS
Page 99

Scale: 1:1,250

Page 100

10

5

0

0

10

20

20

40

30

60

01LOCATION PLAN 1:2000

40

80

50m

100m

Date:

12.11.2019

Client:

Address:

242-D-00-REVA
Dwg No:

1:2000, 1:1000 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Project:

Location & Block Plan
Drawing:

Planning

Status:

02BLOCK PLAN 1:1000

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 101

0

Scale 1:200

I.C.

5

I.C.

1.8m Staggered Batten Fencing

I.C.

10

Tarmac Footpath

I.C.

I.C.

New Door

Proposed bin storage area

Proposed hedgerows

Existing hedgerow

New Door

New Door

20

Salisbury Road

I.C.

1.2m Chestnut Cleft Rail Fencing

I.C.

I.C.

New Door

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

I.C.

Tarmac Footpath

Tarmac Footpath

67.71

Details

ITE T RE

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Preliminary

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Date
Drawing Ref.
August 2020 A20-265-P-001

Proposed Site Plan

Drawing Title

Rev
-

T: 01962 880426

ROSE
architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

R

TRINITY

Date

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

Rev

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

New Door

1.2m Chestnut Cleft Rail Fencing

1.8m Staggered Batten Fencing

Fuel Tank

Extant Permission - 19/02002/FULLS

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 102

Page 103

0

5

01PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION

10m

Date:

Dwg No:

1:100 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Drawing:

Planning

Status:

PLOT 1

Client:

Address:

242-D-20

19.08.2020

Project:

Proposed Street Elevation

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

PLOT 2

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 104

0

5

01PROPOSED STREET ELEVATION

10m

Date:

Dwg No:

1:100 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Drawing:

Planning

Client:

Address:

242-D-20-REVA

11.12.2019

Project:

Proposed Street Elevation

PLOT 2

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

Extant Permission - 19/02002/FULLS

Status:

PLOT 1

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Rear (North) Elevation

Side (West) Elevation

4

3

3

2

1

Page 105
4.

3.

2.

1.

Existing flat roof over enclosed courtyard
area to be taken back and made good
at eaves level. Courtyard area to be left
external and open overhead.
Thatched roof at eaves level around
existing flat roof to be made good where
necessary.
New door openings but into wall with
'French-style' doors to be installed.
Timber stud walling forming enclosed
courtyard area to be removed.

Elevation Notes:

Details

ITE T RE

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Preliminary

Date
Drawing Ref.
August 2020 A20-265-P-200

Proposed Elevations

Drawing Title

Scale
1:50 @ A3

Rev
-

T: 01962 880426

ROSE
architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

R

TRINITY

Date

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

Rev

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

1483

1400

Master

Ground Floor Plan

1483

922

100 625 100

2620

2243

E/S

NOTE: Block
up loft hatch

Shower Tray

1200x200

Wardrobe

NOTE: Existing door opening
to be blocked internally with
door retained externally.

WC

780

New Door

Bed 3

E/S

Bed 2

2480

Utility

1000x200
Shower Tray

Cloaks

lig
ht

R
oo
f

Hall

New Door

780

New Door

880

Cupboard

100 329

Bed 4
Bath

Cpd

1400

NOTE: Smoke
detection at
bottom of
stairs

Living Room

New Door

Cpd

837
75
610

NOTE: Move
loft hatch here

100

Page 106
3378

ght

231 100 650

ofli
Ro

New Door

1.

3.

4.

5.

Snug

2.

6.

Kitchen

7.

8.

9.

10.

11.

12.

13.

New Stairs:
850mm Wide
203.8mm Rise
200mm Going

Details

ITE T RE

3

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Preliminary

Scale
1:50 @ A1

Date
July 2020

Drawing Ref.
A20-265-P-100

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Drawing Title

5

Rev
-

T: 01962 880426

ROSE

4

architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

R

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

2

TRINITY

Date

1

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

Rev

0

Scale 1:50

DISCLAIMER: This drawing is copyright and the property of
Trinity Rose Architecture ltd and information is not to be
disclosed or reproduced. All dimensions are millimetres, you
should not scale from the drawing unless for planning
purposes and use figured dimensions where shown. If you
are in doubt or the contents of the drawing are not suitable
please ask. Please use this drawing in conjunction with all
consultants information and site specifications.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

New Door

850 S/O

Escape Window

Page 107
5.

6.

7.

8.

First Floor Plan

4.

New Stairs:
850mm Wide
203.8mm Rise
200mm Going

9.

Bed 5 / Office

Escape Window

10.

11.

12.

13.

Details

ITE T RE

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Preliminary

Date
Drawing Ref.
August 2020 A20-265-P-101

Proposed First Floor Plan

Drawing Title

Scale
1:50 @ A3

Rev
-

T: 01962 880426

ROSE
architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

R

TRINITY

Date

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

Rev

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Eaves 2100

Page 108

Front (North-West) Elevation

Ridge 4800

Floor Plan

2600

225

2600

1075

1200

Side (North-East) Elevation

5650

6850

5600

Side (South-West) Elevation

ELEVATIONS
Walls - Face brickwork plinth (225mm high) with
softwood weatherboard cladding over.
Roof - Plain clay tiles.
Doors - Timber doors to match cladding.

Roof Plan

Lean-to roof
pitch 37°

Main roof
pitch 40°

Rear (South-East) Elevation

Details

ITE T RE

Preliminary

Date
July 2020

Drawing Ref.
A20-265-P-102

Proposed Garage Plans/
Elevations

5

Rev
-

T: 01962 880426

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Drawing Title

Scale
1:50 @ A1

4

ROSE

3

architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

R

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

2

TRINITY

Date

1

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

Rev

0

Scale 1:50

DISCLAIMER: This drawing is copyright and the property of
Trinity Rose Architecture ltd and information is not to be
disclosed or reproduced. All dimensions are millimetres, you
should not scale from the drawing unless for planning
purposes and use figured dimensions where shown. If you
are in doubt or the contents of the drawing are not suitable
please ask. Please use this drawing in conjunction with all
consultants information and site specifications.

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

i

Page 109

0

02PROPOSED NORTH ELEVATION

01PROPOSED WEST ELEVATION

b

a

5m

New french doors

e

d

d

Date:

09.08.2019

Client:

Address:

242-D-13
Dwg No:

1:100 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Project:

Plot 1 - Proposed Elevations
Drawing:

Thatched roof
White render
Black stained timber
Existing windows

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

Extant Permission - 19/02002/FULLS

g

New window

Planning

f

d

a

b

New french doors

Status:

b

a

d

Door & window
omitted and replaced
with french doors

a
b
c
d

f

Existing doors
Brown brick
Timber windows
Timber doors
Sliding glass doors

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

e
f
g
h
i

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 110

Bedroom
Landing
Storage
Staircase
Family Bathroom
Loft space

0

01PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

a
b
c
d
e
f

5m

e

Date:

09.08.2019

Client:

Address:

242-D-08
Dwg No:

1:100 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Project:

Plot 1 - Proposed First Floor Plan
Drawing:

Planning

Extant Permission - 19/02002/FULLS

f

d

b

Status:

Proposed rooflights

a

a

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 111

Entrance
WC
Store/cloak
Kitchen
Utility
Dining
Living
Bedroom
En-suite
Storage
Study
Family Bathroom

0

5m

01PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

a
b
c
d
e
f
g
h
i
j
k
l

g

f

e

d

a

j

b

Date:

Dwg No:

1:100 @ A3

Scale:

NOTE: This drawing is to be scaled for planning purposes only

Drawing:

Planning

Client:

Address:

242-D-07

09.08.2019

Project:

Plot 1 - Proposed Ground Floor Plan

Extant Permission - 19/02002/FULLS

b

c

Status:

h

i

i

h

i

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

The Blue Hayes, Salisbury Rd,
West Wellow, Romsey SO51 6GA

The Blue Hayes

k

h

The Dispensary, 5-6 The Square, Winchester, Hants SO23 9ES
01962 865344 obarchitecture.co.uk info@obarchitecture.co.uk

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

I.C.

67.75

67.75

I.C.

Tarmac Footpath

I.C.

Fuel Tank

0

Scale 1:200

5

ad

1.8m Staggered Batten Fencing

Salisbury Road

I.C.

FI
8 R
FI
FI / S 0.
FI
R
R p 14
F
F
8
8
I
I
6
/
R /
8 R
/2
0.
8/ R
8
/
S
Sp 0.1
T
Sp 0.1 / S 0. p6 15/
Sp 0.2
6 5/3
3
2T
6 4/2 6 7/2 p6 0/1
T
T
T
T

EP

CH
10 Y
/S 0.4
p1 0
0 /1T

he

Ov
er

es

10

bl

FI
FI
FI
FI
FI
8/ R
8/ R
8 R
8 R
/
0
8/ R
0
/
S
Sp 0.2
Sp 0.2 p6 .15/ Sp6 .25
Sp 0.2
6 0/2
/1
2T
6 5/3 6 0/1
T
T
T
T

FI
R
Sp 0.1
6 3/2
T

8/

1.8m Staggered Batten Fencing

TP

67.75

I.C.

I.C.

I.C.

1.2m Chestnut Cleft Rail Fencing

67.75

Proposed bin storage area

Proposed hedgerows

67.75

20

Proposed - Mixed Species Native Hedgerow:
Acer Campestre (20%)
Corylus Avellana (20%)
Ilex Aquifolium (20%)
Prunus Spinosa (20%)
Viburnum Lantana (20%)

NOTE: Existing and proposed hedgerows - to be retained and
managed (removal of bramble, ivy and perennial weeds)

I.C.

EP

Existing hedgerow

67.70

1.2m Chestnut Cleft Rail Fencing

O
1 AK
2
/S 0.4
p1 0
2 /1T

67.75

Ov
er

he

es

Ca

YE
13 W
/
Sp 0.4
8 5/1
T

bl

Ca

ad

67.75

67.75

67.75

I.C.

I.C.

TP

/1
T

B
C
12 H
/S 0.3
p8 0

Grass
Gravel
Existing Patio
Hard surfacing
Existing manhole covers
Proposed Hedgerow
Refuse bins
Proposed levels
Telephone pole/cable
Electric mains and pylon
1.8m staggered batten fence
1.2m chestnut cleft rail fence

-

BC
1 H
4
/S 0.4
p1 0
2 /1T

-

LEGEND

Tarmac Footpath

67.75

67.75

67.75

TP

Page 112
EP

Under existing trees/within tree root protection areas, except where minor
regrading is noted, only the top 100mm of existing soil shall be prepared, by
hand, to prevent damage to underlying roots.
In areas outside tree root protection areas, new hedge planting areas shall
be rotovated to 300mm depth
Organic fertilisers shall be incorporated as required in hedge and tree
planting areas (only - NOT meadow areas) to ensure there are sufficient
plant nutrients within the soil.
All hedgerows to be mulched with minimum 50mm settled depth, medium
grade ornamental bark mulch to suppress weeds.
Hedgerows to be planted within the first planting season (1st November to
31st March inclusive) following substantial completion of the major
construction and groundworks.

·

·

·

·

Trees, plants and grass to be maintained during establishment, and any
trees, plants or grassed areas that die, fail to establish, are removed or
become damaged or diseased within the first 5 years shall be replaced with
plants of the same size and species.
Trees to be checked annually for any health and safety issues. All tree works
should be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of British
Standards.
Carry out monthly maintenance during growing season (April-September), to
include watering, and weeding (through a combination of hand weeding
and non-residual herbicide), maintaining a weed-free environment to the
base of all new plants. Annually top up mulch to the specified depth.
Once established, boundary hedging to be maintained to a height of
1500-1800mm.

ESTABLISHMENT MAINTENANCE

MULCH
75mm depth of medium grade chipped bark mulch in a min. 1m width/diameter,
size 25-65mm, no fines, free of pests, disease, fungus and weeds to be supplied
and spread to all newly planted trees and shrubs.

WATERING
Water newly planted shrubs and bushes to field capacity at planting.

NATIVE HEDGEROW & INFILL SHRUB PLANTING
Before planting, remove any non-perishable containers and prune any badly
damaged roots. Excavate soil to sufficiently accommodate bare roots or rootball
and break up bottom of pit. Plant upright or well-balanced, returning excavated
soil to finished level at original soil mark. All new native shrubs to be provided with
a cane and proprietary guard.

-

-

-

-

-

PLANTING SPECIFICATION - GENERAL
The following other areas of the specification shall also be strictly adhered to:

TOPSOIL REQUIREMENTS
Existing topsoil to be stripped where necessary and stored on site in heaps not
exceeding 2m height and kept weed free. Any surplus soil to be removed from
the site to a licenced disposal facility. Any imported topsoil to be to BS3882,
medium texture, neutral pH value, reasonably stone free with no stones over
20mm in size. Topsoil depths to be 450mm for trees, shrubs and hedges & 150mm
for grass areas. Finished topsoil levels to be 25mm above adjacent paved
surfaces and 300mm wide hard surfaced mowing margin (gravel or paving to be
provided where lawn adjoins buildings.

HARDSTANDING AREAS
Existing hardstanding to be broken up and removed wherever possible without
affecting tree RPAs. Bramble and perennial weeds to be removed through hand
weeding or application of non-residual herbicide.

All trees and other plants included within the approved details shall be healthy,
well-formed

All works shall be undertaken to recognised good horticultural practice to
relevant British Standards. The quality of all landscape works shall be carried out
in accordance with British Standard 4428:1989 'Code of practice for General
Landscape Operations'.

IMPLEMENTATION
All plant stock to be of UK provenance. Plants to be supplied as set out in the
Planting Schedule, and implemented in the first planting season following
reasonable completion of the access.

PLANTING SPECIFICATION

ITE T RE

Clydesdale Group Ltd.

Preliminary

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Date
Drawing Ref.
August 2020 A20-265-P-004

Landscape Proposals

Drawing Title

Rev
A

T: 01962 880426

ROSE
architecture@trinity-rose.co.uk

The Blue Hayes
Salisbury Road
Shootash

Project

Client

Issue

R

TRINITY

12-10-20 Boundary hedging note altered.tails

www.trinity-rose.co.uk

A

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

ITEM 10

APPLICATION NO.
APPLICATION TYPE
REGISTERED
APPLICANT
SITE
PROPOSAL
AMENDMENTS
CASE OFFICER

20/02518/FULLS
FULL APPLICATION - SOUTH
23.10.2020
Mr Jamie Buttigieg
1 Warwick Close, Chandlers Ford, SO53 4PH,
VALLEY PARK
Two storey side extension and single storey rear
extension
23.11.2020 – amended block plan received
Katie Andrew

Background paper (Local Government Act 1972 Section 100D)

1.0
1.1

INTRODUCTION
The application is presented to Southern Area Planning Committee at the
request of a member.

2.0
2.1

SITE LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION
1 Warwick Close is a semi-detached, two storey dwelling located to the north of
School Lane within Valley Park Parish. The property features red brick, concrete
roof tiles and upvc fenestration. The property has a good sized rear garden and
an area of parking is sited to the front of the house. The rear garden is bounded
on three sides by a timber fence of approximately 1.8 metres high and an
outbuilding is sited at the back of the rear garden. Several mature trees align
School Road highway adjacent to the south east boundary of the site.

3.0
3.1

PROPOSAL
Two storey side extension and single storey rear extension to provide
kitchen/diner and annexe with bedroom and en-suite.

3.2

The dimensions of the two storey extension are:
Height to ridge: 6.7 metres
Height to eaves: 5.2 metres
Width: 3.3 metres
Depth: 6.1 metres

3.3

The dimensions of the single storey extension are:
Height to flat roof: 3.2 metres
Width: 9 metres
Depth: 5 metres

4.0
4.1

HISTORY
20/01350/FULLS Two storey side extension, and single storey rear extension,
to provide additional living space. Withdrawn 12.08.2019.

Page 113

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

4.2

19/01803/FULLS Two storey side extension, and single storey rear extension,
to provide additional living space. Withdrawn 12.08.2019.

4.3

19/01297/FULLS Two storey side extension and single storey rear extension to
provide kitchen/diner, lounge, annexe comprising kitchen, lounge, bedroom and
bathroom, and 2 additional bedrooms and en-suite bathroom. Withdrawn
11.06.2019.

4.4

TVS.5648 Construction of garage. Permission subject to conditions –
09.01.1989.

4.5

TVS.05648/2 Conservatory. Permission subject to conditions and notes
16.11.1989.

5.0
5.1

CONSULTATIONS
Highway Authority – no objection.
 The existing parking arrangement is to remain as per the current situation
and good pedestrian / vehicular indivisibility exists at the driveway
entrance.
 Need to ensure the development satisfies the parking standards.

5.2

Tree Officer
 No objection was raised for the previous application 20/01350/FULLS,
however no comment has been received on this application at the time of
writing this report. An update paper will be provided.

5.3

Ecology Officer – no objection.
 The application is supported by a preliminary bat roost assessment
(Arbtech, July 2020).
 No evidence of bats was found and no potential roost locations / access
points for bats to gain access to possible roost locations were identified.
 It was concluded that there was negligible potential for bats to be
present.
 In view of the survey findings The ecologist would advise that the
development is unlikely to result in a breach of the law protecting bats
and no concerns are raised.

5.4

Landscape Officer – no objection.
 The site has no landscape designations and there are no public rights of
way in close proximity to the site.
 The property sits on the edge of the close with its perimeter fence
running parallel with School Lane. On the highway boundary between the
property and the road there are a number of trees, none of which are of
significant quality, however they help to provide a green belt of screening
which significantly contributes towards the streetscape character.
 It is essential that these trees should be retained along the highway and
that any development in close proximity is careful not to impact upon the
trees or the root systems.

Page 114

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

6.0
6.1

REPRESENTATIONS Expired 18.11.2020
Valley Park Parish Council – objection.
Parking / highways
 The development allows for four bedrooms, requiring three parking
spaces to meet the parking standards.
 A construction business is operated from the premises and in the
evenings and weekends commercial vehicles / equipment are parked on
the driveway, restricting the space available for private vehicles.
 In view of these parking considerations and potential impact on adjoining
highways it is requested that a highways Officer visits the site out of
hours to clarify.
Scale
 Concern that the proposed building development would dominate the
original building in scale rather than being subsidiary to it.

7.0
7.1

POLICY
Government Guidance
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

7.2

Test Valley Borough Revised Local Plan (2016)(TVBRLP)
SD1: Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development
COM2: Settlement hierarchy
E1: High quality development in the Borough
E5: Biodiversity
LHW4: Amenity
T1: Managing movement
T2: Parking provision

8.0
8.1

PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS
The main planning considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Character and appearance of the area
 Biodiversity
 Neighbouring amenity
 Highways
 Parking provision

8.2

Principle of development
The site lies within the settlement boundary as defined on the Inset Maps of the
TVBRLP. In accordance with Policy COM2 of the TVBRLP development is
permitted provided the proposal is appropriate to other policies of the Revised
Local Plan. The proposal is assessed against relevant policies below.

Page 115

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.3

Character and appearance of the area
The properties within Warwick Close are predominantly two storey semidetached dwellings. The houses have similar design characteristics in that they
all red brick and have open gable ends. It is noted that other two storey
extensions have been built in Warwick Close, including: No 12 - granted planning permission on 08.06.1993 under TVS.07080
 No 15 - granted planning permission on 15.08.2000 under TVS.08998
 No 7 - granted planning permission on 05.04.2004 under TVS.09102/1

8.4

The application site is situated close to the entrance to Warwick Close cul de
sac, which abuts the application site to the east. Immediately the south of the
application site is School Lane highway. The boundary treatment along the
southern boundary of the application site is a 1.8 metre high timber fence.
Mature trees are present adjacent to the south boundary of the application site
aligning School Lane. These trees are important landscaping features because
they provide relief from built form and soften views of the properties within
Warwick Close.

8.5

Two storey side extension
The proposed two storey side extension would project out 3.3 metres on the
side (south east) elevation. The extension would be seen in context with the
application site and other existing residential development in Warwick Close.
The ridge height of the proposed two storey extension is stepped down 0.4
metres lower than the height of the ridge on the existing house. In addition, the
proposed extension is set back from the front elevation and the open gable end
would be retained. These design features indicate that the extension is
subordinate to the existing dwelling. The extension is to be constructed with
materials which match the existing which will ensure that the proposal would
integrate with the existing. Whilst the development will be visible from School
Lane, it is set back from the side (south east) boundary which, it is considered,
leaves adequate separation distance between built form and the highway to
minimise impact. In addition, the impact of the development would be reduced
by the presence of the existing trees which align the highway.

8.6

As set out within paragraph 8.3 above, other similar two storey side extensions
exist in Warwick Close. Notwithstanding what has been previously built in this
area, each application is considered on its own merits. These other extensions
contribute to how the character of the properties within Warwick Close have
altered compared to when these dwellings were originally built. Due to the scale
and design of these extensions, they have assimilated into the area well, as
would the proposed extension at the application site.

8.7

Single storey rear extension
The single storey rear extension is proposed to provide annex accommodation.
The property benefits from a large rear garden. Sufficient private amenity space
would remain at the site once the extension is built to meet the demands of the
occupants and, in addition, the proposal is not considered to constitute
overdevelopment of the plot – as it would retain sufficient space around it, and
that is consistent with the prevailing character of the area. The proposed
extension is single storey and will have a flat roof. The very top section of the

Page 116

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

flat roof will be visible from School Lane however the existing boundary
treatment would mostly screen views of it from the road. Only the top
(approximately) 1.4 metres of the flat roof extension will be visible above the
existing fence line. The proposed rear extension will be set back within the plot
and there would be some separation distance between the extension and
School Lane. The mature trees aligning School Lane will soften any glimpsed
views of the extension.
8.8

For the reasons discussed above, it is not considered that the development
would give rise to any detrimental impact to the character and appearance of
the area. The proposal is accordance with Policy E1.

8.9

Trees
The application is supported by arboricultural information (CBA Arboricultural
Development Statement, reference CBA11368 v1 dated June 2020) and the
tree protection plan (CBA11368.02 TPP). One Leyland cypress tree (T1) within
the rear garden is proposed to be removed to facilitate the development but this
has been categorised as a C category tree with low visual amenity value. The
remaining trees (T2-T8) are a mix of category B and C quality Ash and Field
Maple that provide some amenity to the locality. In this respect, the tree
information provided has taken account of the impact from construction works
and a methodology for protecting the trees has been provided. A condition is
recommended that the arboricultural method statement is adhered to. Subject to
this condition, the proposal is considered to be in accordance with Policy E2.

8.10

Biodiversity
Bats receive protection under UK law via the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
(as amended) and under EU law by the Habitats Directive, which is transposed
into UK law by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010
(commonly referred to as the Habitats Regulations). Developments that affect
bats will need a European Protected Species (EPS) licence from Natural
England before any work that affects bats could commence.

8.11

The application is supported by a phase 1 bat survey report (Arbtech, July
2020). The report concludes the professional bat survey work that has been
carried out at this site, to the appropriate methodologies and standards. This
report concludes that due to the good condition of the building, no potential
access points were located within the loft space and no evidence of bat
presence was found. No suitable roosting features were located internally or
externally on the property. Whilst there is good habitat in the vicinity of the site,
no roosting features are present on the building and therefore the risk of harm or
disturbance to bats is found to be highly unlikely. The submitted report
recommends that no further survey work is required and the Ecologist has
raised no objection to the scheme. Therefore, the proposal does not give rise to
conflict with Policy E5.

Page 117

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

8.12

Neighbouring amenity
The proposed two storey extension is located on the side (south east) elevation
and projects out away from 2 Warwick Close (the other half of this semidetached pair). Properties on the other side of the cul-de-sac (20 and 21
Warwick Close) are located some 30 metres away. By virtue of its location, the
two storey extension would not give rise to any adverse impacts in terms of
shadow, loss of light and overlooking to any of these properties.

8.13

The impact of the single storey flat roof extension is limited to 2 Warwick Close.
The submitted floor plan and block plan show that there would be two metre
separation distance between the rear extension and the boundary treatment
shared with the neighbour at 2 Warwick Close. This boundary treatment is a
timber fence of approximately 1.8 metres in height. As the single storey
extension is 3.2 metres in height, the top section of 1.4 metres would be visible
over the fence line however the majority of the proposed structure would be
screened. Due to the height of the roof and the fact that the extension has been
set 2 metres off the common boundary, it is not considered that the rear
extension would create additional, adverse impact in terms of overshadowing or
loss of light to the adjoining property. There are no windows proposed on the
north elevation of the proposed extension and so there is no concern with
regards to any undue overlooking into 2 Warwick Close. For these reasons, the
impact on immediate neighbours is not considered to be significant and the
proposal is in accordance with Policy LHW4.

8.14

Parking provision
The number of bedrooms at the dwelling would increase to four as a result of
the development and as such there would be an increased demand for parking
at the site. In accordance with the Council’s parking standards, the property
would require three off street parking spaces. The submitted site plan (drawing
reference 02) shows that four parking spaces can be provided on the existing
driveway which is an over-provision compared to the parking standards.
Sufficient off road parking can be facilitated on the existing driveway and the
proposal is in compliance with the parking standards set out within Policy T2
and annex G.

8.15

Highways impacts
The property is served by an unclassified road which also provides access for
the other dwellings within Warwick Close. The application site sits immediately
to the north west of the junction with School Lane. Warwick Close and School
Lane are both unclassified roads and parking is unrestricted. The existing
access point onto Warwick Close from the property will be retained and no
works are required to the existing dropped kerb access as part of the
application. No access gates are proposed. The driveway does provide space
for sufficient car parking (in accordance with the parking standards in the
TVBRLP) for the size of the proposed dwelling.

8.16

It is noted that parked vehicles on the drive would be unable to manoeuvre off
the drive in a forward gear (assuming they drove forwards onto the driveway).

Page 118

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

However, this is not uncommon for residential cul-de-sacs and similar to other
driveways arrangements within Warwick Close and given the low speeds
involved in such manoeuvres and adequate visibility from the drive of the
property, this is not considered to cause any adverse impact on highway safety.
A HCC Highways Officer has reviewed the proposal and has raised no
objection, and no highway specific conditions are considered necessary in this
instance.
8.17

While the proposal is likely to result in a modest increase in traffic to and from
the site and parking within it, the application is considered to have no significant
adverse impact on the safety of vehicles or pedestrians in accordance with
Policy T1.

9.0
9.1

CONCLUSION
The proposal is in accordance with the relevant policies of the TVBRLP (2016)
and is therefore acceptable.

10.0

RECOMMENDATION
PERMISSION subject to:
1.
The development hereby permitted shall be begun within three
years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the provision of Section 91 of the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2.
The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out except in
complete accordance with the details shown on the submitted
plans, numbers
Site location plan 01
Block plan 02
Existing floor plans 03
Existing elevations 04A
Sections 05
Proposed floor plans 06
Sections 07
Proposed elevations 08
Details 09
Details 10
Details 11
Details 12
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
3.
The external materials to be used in the construction of all external
surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall match in type,
colour and texture those used in the existing building.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new
development with the existing in accordance with Test Valley
Borough Revised Local Plan (2016) Policy E1.

Page 119

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

4.

The extension hereby approved shall not be occupied at any time
other than for purposes ancillary to the residential use of the
dwelling known as 1 Warwick Close, Chandlers Ford, as shown on
the approved plans.
Reason: To avoid the establishment of a separate unit of
accommodation in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan (2016) Policy COM2.
5.
The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in full
accordance with the provisions set out within the CBA
Arboricultural Development Statement, reference CBA11368 v1
dated June 2020 and the tree protection plan (CBA11368.02 TPP),
and all measures put in place at the site shall be retained for the full
duration of construction activity associated with this permission.
Reason: To ensure the enhancement of the development by the
retention of existing trees and natural features during the
construction phase in accordance with Test Valley Borough Revised
Local Plan policy E2.
Notes to applicant:
1.
In reaching this decision Test Valley Borough Council (TVBC) has
had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework and takes a
positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused
on solutions. TVBC work with applicants and their agents in a
positive and proactive manner offering a pre-application advice
service and updating applicants/agents of issues that may arise in
dealing with the application and where possible suggesting
solutions.
2.
Bats and their roosts receive strict legal protection under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. All work
must stop immediately if bats, or evidence of bat presence (e.g.
droppings, bat carcasses or insect remains), are encountered at any
point during this development. Should this occur, further advice
should be sought from Natural England and/or a professional
ecologist.

Page 120

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

f
De

Pa

th

( um

1 .2
2m

)

RH

Titlark Copse
10

12

14

Issues
SE

K

O
CL

R
W
W
A

5

IC

19

1

0
21 2
b Sta

57

El Su

1

SALCOMBE

44

CLOS E

19

39

50

51

34

27

23
29

LA
NE

22

k
ac
Tr

19

27

32

N

Siteplan

REPRODUCED FROM ORDNANCE SURVEY MAPPING
WITH THE PERMISSION OF THE CONTROLLER OF
HER MAJESTY’S STATIONERY OFFICER © CROWN COPYRIGHT.
UNAUTHORISED REPRODUCTION INFRINGES CROWN COPYRIGHT
AND MAY LEAD TO PROSECUTION OR CIVIL PROCEEDINGS.
TEST VALLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL LICENCE No. 100024295 2013

Not Set
Page 121

20/02518/FULLS
Scale: 1:1,250

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

North

SCHOOL LANE

WARWICK CLOSE
Mr J Buttigieg

MARTECH

SITE PLAN
PAPER SIZE A4 - SCALE 1:200

1 : 200

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

BUILDING DESIGN Ltd
& CAD Draughting Services

September 2020

Terry Marston

1819-105

02

Page
0/ 122

Project Designer

Tele/Fax: 01489 894702
Mobile:
07443 016959
Email:

martech@talktalk.net

Page 123

A3

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:50

SHEET

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:100

A3

SHEET

1819-105

As Shown

EXISTING
ELEVATIONS

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION
(Scale 1 :100)

EXISTING REAR ELEVATION

(Scale 1 :100)

All new works to be carried out in accordance with
Building Regs 2010 and all current codes of practice
(Drawings subject to revision until fully approved by building control)

04

A

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

August 2019

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

Mr J Buttigieg

Project Designer

Terry Marston

Email:

martech@talktalk.net

Tele/Fax: 01489 894702
Mobile:
07443 016959

& CAD Draughting Services

BUILDING DESIGN Ltd

MARTECH

EXISTING FRONT ELEVATION
(Scale 1 :100)

EXISTING SIDE ELEVATION

(Scale 1 :100)

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

CONTRACTORS & SUBCONTRACTORS

Page 124

A3

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:50

SHEET

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:100

A3

SHEET

All new works to be carried out in accordance with
Building Regs 2010 and all current codes of practice
(Drawings subject to revision until fully approved by building control)

RENDER

PROPOSED
ELEVATIONS

1819-105

As Shown

08

September 2020

0/

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

Mr J Buttigieg
1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

(Scale 1 :100)

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

SERVICE CABLE ENTRY

METER BOXES

Project Designer

Terry Marston

Email:

martech@talktalk.net

Tele/Fax: 01489 894702
Mobile:
07443 016959

& CAD Draughting Services

BUILDING DESIGN Ltd

MARTECH

PROPOSED FRONT ELEVATION
(Scale 1 :100)

THE PARTY WALL

(Scale 1 :100)

PROPOSED REAR ELEVATION

(Scale 1 :100)

CONTROLLED SERVICES

PROPOSED SIDE ELEVATION

ELECTRICAL SAFETY

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

Page 125

BEDROOM

LOUNGE

KITCHEN

EN-SUITE

A3

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:50

SHEET

PAPER SIZE A3 - SCALE 1:100

A3

SHEET

1819-105

As Shown

06

0/

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

September 2020

1 Warwick Close
Chandlers Ford
Southampton
Hants SO53 4PH

Mr J Buttigieg

Project Designer

Terry Marston

Email:

martech@talktalk.net

Tele/Fax: 01489 894702
Mobile:
07443 016959

& CAD Draughting Services

BUILDING DESIGN Ltd

MARTECH

PROPOSED FIRST FLOOR PLAN

BATHROOM

(Scale 1 :100)

BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 3

PROPOSED GROUND FLOOR PLAN

PROPOSED
FLOOR PLANS

BEDROOM 1

EN-SUITE

(Scale 1 :100)

RECEPTION

UTILITY

WC

All new works to be carried out in accordance with
Building Regs 2010 and all current codes of practice
(Drawings subject to revision until fully approved by building control)

ENTRANCE

B
B

B
B

KITCHEN/DINER

Test Valley Borough Council - Southern Area Planning Committee - 8 December 2020

